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About 
Our Report
“As a leading financial services provider, one of the key determinants 
of our continuing success is our accountability and commitment to-
wards our multiple stakeholders. At uab, our emphasis is on forging 
partnerships of trust and strengthening our relationships by creating 
and delivering value. Our Annual Report is a credible medium to not 
just disseminate information critical to our business and growth, but to 
communicate with our stakeholders with integrity and transparency. It 
is our sincere effort to present the growth story of uab and its people.”
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Reporting Scope and Boundaries 
This Annual Report covers our financial and non-fi-
nancial performance during the period 1 October 
2018 to 30 September 2019. Through this report, it is 
our good effort to keep our stakeholders abreast of 
key developments; programmes and initiatives; mar-
ket challenges and business solutions; our achieve-
ments; mid to long-term direction; and the overall 
health of operations in 2018/2019.

The report also presents rich insights and forward- 

looking statements on financial position and perfor- 

mance in the year ahead. Our report is kept simple 

yet informative to be relevant for all our stakeholders. 

Our financial statements are independently audited  

and provide in-depth and transparent disclosure  

of our financial performance.

In preparing our report, we were guided by the require- 

ments of local and international statutory and  

reporting frameworks, including those of Central  

Bank of Myanmar.

This report is available online at https://www.uab.
com.mm/content/uab-annual-report-2019

Materiality Determination
All our Annual Reports present a balanced and accessible assessment of our strategy, performance,  
governance and prospects. The various issues and developments included in the 2019 edition were 
determined by a range of considerations, such as quantitative and qualitative criteria; issues likely to 
impact our ability to achieve strategic objectives and remain sustainable; matters covered in reports 
presented to our Board of Directors; the risks identified by our risk management team; and the interests 
of our key stakeholders. We also consider factors that affect the economic and social environment 
where we conduct our business.
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Message from the
Chairman
Dear stakeholders, 

It is an honour and a privilege to deliver my statement as 
Chairman of uab bank, witnessing the countless milestones 
and achievement it has carved in 2019.

Congratulations Team!





Message from the Chairman
The operating enviroment for banking is becoming 
increasingly more complex due to the interplay  
between global socio-political changes, demand 
shifts,  regulations,  governance,  human  capital,   
technology and our stakeholders’ expectations  
as well as their trust in financial and monetary  
systems.

Delivering Strong Performance 
uab, despite all the extraneous factors, remained 
true to its “Rebrand, Refresh & Revenue Growth’’ 
strategies and delivered positive performance 
with focus and resilience.

Profit after tax increased to MMK 14,630 million 
as of 30 September 2019, doubled that of MMK 
7,407 million in the previous year. This is on the 
back of a 12.5% growth in Gross Loans, with pru-
dent control of cost of funds, operating costs as 
well as asset quality.

Bringing Digital Banking to 
Consumers & Businesses
As digitalisation increasingly plays a mission crit-
ical role in driving business and economy, uab has 
deployed a mix of strategies to stay ahead in the 
game, which includes investment in technology 
and channel improvements – branches, ATMs, 
Call Centre and Digital Banking Platforms.

We are committed towards delivering simple, fast 
and seamless banking experiences to customers 
and businesses. uab has in place a robust digital 
roadmap that is tailored to empower customers 
and gear businesses for the future with strategic 
digital initiatives that deliver innovative and ver-
satile financial products and services.

Workforce of the Future 
At the core of all business and performance lies 
the unswerving commitment of our valuable hu-
man resources. At uab, we see people as enablers 
of solutions, as change agents and as partners in 
growth.

We therefore believe in instilling a culture of 
high-performance and responsibility towards 
meeting organisational goals. During the year, 
we lined up different learning points for the man-
agement and employees through various external 
and internal seminars, workshops, trainings and 
sharing sessions. 

We also invested time and resources to ensure 
that our workplace is conducive to performance 
and inclusive to meet the needs of all employees 
at different stages of their careers and lives. In-
troducing Flexi-Working Hours and abolishing 
wrapped leave system is part of our greater effort 
to provide flexibility and supportive work environ-
ment for our employees to better manage their 
work-life effectively.

Building A Sustainable Future 
As uab continues to grow and chart significant 
milestones in its business and operations, we rec-
ognise the significant role we play as a responsi-
ble corporate citizen and the positive long-term 
impacts we can make towards building a sustain-
able future. 
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With this in mind, uab continues to invest and im-
merse in our long-term sustainability in line with 
our purpose and mission. This year saw us widen-
ing the scope to invest in the future of Myanmar 
through major sponsorships to Myanmar’s young 
badminton talent, Thet Htar Thuzar and the con-
tingent to the 46th Southeast Asian and Japa-
nese Youth Program (SSEAYP). 

We are committed and will strive to improve our 
economic, environmental, social and governance 
performance in the years ahead. 

Embracing Values and Principles of
Good Governance
The Board continues to enhance the Bank’s cor-
porate governance practices which has shaped 
the way we operate. We uphold our fiduciary du-
ties as the guardian of public funds and custom-
ers’ investments, through sustainable boardroom 
scrutiny, decision-making and directives, which 
has ensured the trust from customers and other 
stakeholders.

Identifying and managing risks is central to the 
Bank’s business and operations. We are also 
committed to adopting a culture of excellence not 

just in serving our customers but also in ensuring 
operational excellence and a strong compliance 
culture.

Our corporate governance efforts have been rec-
ognised by the Myanmar Centre for Responsible 
Business (MCRB), awarding uab as #1 among all 
banks for good governance and business trans-
parency.

Way Forward 
The recalibrated structure and strong foundation 
built over the last 2 years placed us on a stronger 
footing for the next mid-term strategy, uab 2025. 
It will be about growth and growing our business 
differently, building uab as a “Brand” to bank on.

We will remain focused in Leading Change and 
Humanising Banking, and will continue to devel-
op and implement solutions that make interacting 
with us easier, faster and more convenient.

Remarks and Recognitions
To all my fellow directors on the various boards 
within the Bank, thank you for your support, com-
mitment and cooperation. Last but not least, on 
behalf of the Board, I wish to thank the uab Man- 
agement led by Christopher Loh, MD & CEO, 
Kyawt Kay Khaing, Deputy CEO and their team  
for their leadership and strategic direction throu- 
ghout the year.

I also thank all uabians, as well as our stakeholders  
- business partners, customers, vendors and reg-
ulators for their confidence in us and our commit-
ment to continuously deliver value. 

I trust 2020 will be another defining year for uab, 
and look forward to your continued support in the 
year ahead as we chart another journey to Rise 
Above the exciting business landscape.

Ne Aung
Chairman
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uab bank is a leading bank in Myanmar. Named “Myanmar’s 
Best Bank”  by Euromoney, we are committed to deliver complete 
solutions to customers through differentiated segment offerings 
and an ecosystem that supports simple, fast and seamless 
customer experiences, underpinned by a cohesive and inspired   
workforce and relationship built with stakeholders.

Established in 2010, we are now serving our customers from a  
growing network of over 78 branches in 47 townships across  
Myanmar.

Who We Are
Overview of uab





Overview of uab

Who We Are (Group)*

No. of 
Branches

78

Employees

2,000

Total Income

MMK 49 
billion

Total 
Assets Over 

MMK 1 
trillion

Profit After Tax

MMK 14.6 
billion

ROE

19.0%
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at a Glance

*uab bank Group consists of uab bank Limited and uab securities Limited



We  lead changes in financial services. We are an institution  
of strength built on sound principles and good governance

We deliver banking with a heart, we care for our people and the   
communities we are in

We connect people and build relationships to foster a stronger  
community spirit 

We create opportunities and  a better future for our staff and  
our customers 

We are the change that will empower the communities around  
us, and together enrich the lives of those we touch

Our Purpose is to lead the way towards a better 
Myanmar, humanising banking, connecting people, 

creating opportunities and changing lives.
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Overview of uab

What We Do

uab provides a wide range of  
financial services through our  
differentiated   business     seg- 
ment and subsidiary, uab  
securities.

Retail & SME Banking
Retail & SME Banking provides 
various customer banking solu-
tions, such as: - 
• Financing facilities - mort-

gage, auto finance, educa-
tion loan, personal financ-
ing, credit cards and JICA 
2-Step Loan

• Deposits - current account, 
savings and fixed deposits

• Services - ATMs , GIRO 
payment, payroll, mobile 
and internet banking 

Retail Banking has gained so 
much traction in 2019 with the 
rigorous effort in promoting 
the cashless and contactless 
banking vide various innovative 
products and platforms.
Meanwhile, uab is the only PFI 
that exceeded the target allo-
cated for JICA 2-Step Loan for 
the Phase 1 that ended in Feb-
ruary 2019.

Corporate Banking
Corporate Banking offers a wide 

range of business solutions to the 

corporate customers. Amongst 

all, term loan, working capital, 

overdraft facilities and current 

accounts. Corporate Banking re-

mains as our vital portfolio, while 

we grow other segments to pro-

vide a more balanced portfolio 

for the Bank.

Treasury & Financial
Institutions
Treasury is made up of a few 
key business units offering va-
rieties of Forex buying/selling, 
swaps and hedging to custom-
ers. It also involves in the inter-
bank lending/borrowing, Repo 
and Government bonds invest-
ment. Through Funding Centre, 
it acts as “a bank within the 
bank” to manage the liquidity 
and optimise the deployment 
of funds to ensure efficient use 
of capital and funding. Mean-
while, FI serves as a vital unit 

to support other businesses 
like Treasury, Trade and Corpo-
rate Banking. It establishes and 
maintains a good relationship 
with other banks and agencies. 
It also takes care of MFIs/NBFI 
and NGO/INGOs.

Trade Finance
Trade Finance provides trade 
facilities such as Letter of Credit 
and Bank Guarantees, and re-
mittances vide Western Union, 
Ria Money etc. In 2019, we 
managed to launch a few key 
initiatives. Amongst others, the 
“Seafarers’ Package” drew very 
good feedback from the com-
munity. We are in the midst of 
growing our Trade Finance to 
a full suite Transaction Banking 
that will offer a comprehensive 
solution, including online plat-
form for supply chain financ-
ing to support the end-to-end 
working capital needs of clients 
as well as cash management 
activities with complete pay-
ment and collections services.
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uab securities is the subsdiary 
of uab. uab securities is one of 
the pioneer investment banking 
houses to be granted a licence 
by Securities and Exchange 
Commission of Myanmar.

uab securities offers a complete 
range of investment banking 
products and solutions to retail, 
mid-market, corporate and in-
stitutional clients including the 
following:

Securities Trading
Securities Trading provides 
access to shares trading on 
Yangon Stock Exchange. uab 
securities is the official trad-
ing partner of Yangon Stock 
Exchange.

Securities Trading also pro- 
vides over-the-counter trad-
ing of Myanmar Government 

Treasury Bonds and shares of 
unlisted public companies in 
Myanmar.

Investment Banking
Investment Banking provides a 
wide range of advisory services 
which includes the following:
• Mergers and acquisition 

(“M&A”)
• Capital raising: Initial public 

offering (“IPO”), placement 
and rights issue

• Business valuation
• Corporate and debt re-

structuring
• Debt financing solutions   
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2019
Rebrand. Refresh. Revenue Growth.

Rebrand
• Renamed to uab bank Limited
• New Bank Logo
• New Head Office uab Tower @ Times City
• Multiple Awards & Accolades

Refresh
• Refreshed Purpose & Mission Statement
• Refreshed Corporate Website, Face Book
• New Mobile Banking & Internet Banking
• Enhanced Employee Experience & Benefits
• Refreshed Branch Designs
• Refreshed Customer Experience
• Refreshed Corporate Merchandises

Revenue Growth
• Record Profit MMK 14.6 BIL

2018
Rebuild. Restructure. Reduce Cost.
Transformation took-off

Changes Across The Board
• Governance
• Business & Branch Operating Model
• Cost Optimisation
• Performance Measurement
• First Annual Report
• Be The Change Myanmar
• Record Profit MMK 7.4 BIL

2020
RISE ABOVE.
Rebrand. Refresh. Revenue Growth. 

Rebrand & Refresh
• Continuous rebranding and refreshing to bring 

the best of uab to every citizen of Myanmar

Revenue Growth
• Committed to achieve better results with 

more focused business strategies and 
innovative products & services

RISE ABOVE
• A commitment by uabians to ditch the old 

mindset, embrace a new mindset that is dar-
ing, innovative and seeking to better oneself 
and together grow uab into the best bank and 

Brand.E

Overview of uab

Why uab ?
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W
e are com

m
itted to create sustainable value

up to 2017
Safe. Sound. Trustworthy.
• United Amara Bank Limited founded in 

2010
• Established as a good medium-sized 

bank with solid foundation



For Our 
Stakeholders

Shareholders

Customers

Employees

Regulators

Business Partners

Communities

We Deploy Our
Capital Optimally

Brand

Customer Relationship

Capital/Funding

Employees

Branches & Infrastructure

Digital Platforms

Technology

Natural Resources
Our Strategy

& Mission Our Core 

Business

Our 

Governance   

Structure 

Our Business 

Differentiation 
Continuous 

Upskilling 

& Training

Our

Performance

Measurement 

01

02

03

04
05

06

 To Create 
Sustainable

 Value

We are committed to create sustainable value

W
e are com

m
itted to create sustainable value
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Overview of uab 

uab Best Bank 
In Myanmar
2019 – an incredible year for uab

We were named “Myanmar’s Best Bank” by 
Euromoney and Domestic Retail Bank of The 
Year by Asian Banking & Finance.

uab was also recognised for its excellence in 
many areas, from the best Corporate Gover-
nance to the Best Office Interior Design and the 
Best Banking CEO for the Year 2019.

It shows how far uab has transformed and pro-
gressed to be one of the best bank and brand in 
Myanmar.



Myanmar’s Best Bank 2019 

Euromoney 

Domestic Retail Bank of The Year 2019  
Asian Banking & Finance

#1 in Corporate Governance Disclosure
#1 for Disclosure amongst banks in Myanmar
Pwint Thit Sa Report 2019 

Myanmar Centre for Responsible Business

Best Office Interior Design & Special  
Recognition for Bank Facility 
Property Guru Myanmar Property Awards 2019 

Best Banking CEO Myanmar 2019 
Global Banking & Finance Review

Best Banking CEO & Most Innovative CEO of 
The Year 2019 
Business Worldwide

Banking CEO of The Year Myanmar 2019
International Business Magazine
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Key Highlights of 2019

Business Highlights (Group) 
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Record PAT
MMK 14.6 BIL

New Head Office
uab Tower @ Times City

Awards & Accolodes
Multiple banking and  
leadership awards  
including Myanmar’s Best 
Bank 2019 (Euromoney)

Digitalisation & 
Financial Inclusion
Launching of various dig-
ital platforms, e.g. Mobile 
Banking App, refreshed  
Internet Banking, first bank 
in Myanmar with EMV 
enabled at ATM, wireless 
Head Office…and many 
more

Corporate Social 
Responsibility
Sponsorship for Myanmar’s 

young talents, e.g. badminton 

player Htet Thar Thuzar, hand-

picked top students from  

University of Yangon for the 

46th SSEAYP

uab 2025
Formulated the next mid term strategy, 

uab 2025, that will guide and shape 

uab’s direction forward

Business Highlights



Deposits (MMK’b)

1,008.4
     10.9%

Profit After Tax
 (MMK’m)

14,630
    97.5%

Key Highlights of 2019

Financial Highlights (Group) 
Stellar Year for uab
Profits soared twofold with solid balance sheet growth

Return on Average 
Equity

19.0%
6.7%

Cost to Income
 Ratio

50.5%
  19.1%

Loan (MMK’b)

746.1
  12.5%

www.uab.com.mm  uab annual report 2019 | 20



21 | uab annual report 2019 www.uab.com.mm 

Key Highlights of 2019

Financial Highlights (Bank only) 

Total Income (MMK’ Mil)

Cost to Income Ratio

Return on Equity

Net Profit After Tax (MMK’Mil)

Customers Loan to Deposits Ratio

Return on Assets

2015

2015

2015

2015

2015

2015

2016

2016

2016

2016

2016

2016

2017

2017

2017

2017

2017

2017

2018
(MAR)

2018
(MAR)

2018
(MAR)

2018
(MAR)

2018
(MAR)

2018
(MAR)

2018
(SEP)

2018
(SEP)

2018
(SEP)

2018
(SEP)

2018
(SEP)

2018
(SEP)

2019

2019

2019

2019

2019

2019

14,350

82.6%

4.5%

9.5%

0.8%
1.9%

11.8%

0.4%
0.7%

0.0%
0.1%

0.7%

1.2%

18.5%

72.2%

97.2%
90.9%

70.6%

51.5%
49.7%

58.5%
67.9% 66.9%

71.5% 72.7%

1,872

4,243

378
960

6,801

13,635

20,381

18,180

27,200

34,734

46,954

35%

-19.1%

+6.7% +0.5%

+1.2%

+100%



* Change of finanical year end mandated by CBM

Note: The prudential compliance ratios are (NPL < 5%), (CAR > 8%), (Liquidity > 20%) and

(Reserve Ratio > 5%)
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(Bank Only) 2015 2016 2017 2018 2018* 2019

Financial Summary Apr-Mar Apr-Mar Apr-Mar Apr-Mar Oct-Sep Oct-Sep

Selected Income Statement Items 
(MMK Million)

  

Total Income 14,350 20,381 18,180 27,200 34,734 46,954

Total Expense 11,854 14,724 17,676 24,722 24,506 24,167

Operating Profit 2,496 5,657 504 2,478 9,070 18,124

Net Profit After Tax 1,872 4,243 378 960  6,801 13,635

Selected Balance Sheet Items 
(MMK Million)

   

Net Customer Loans 252,903 348,037 530,834 616,342 651,064 734,133

Customer Deposits 508,439 595,464 781,835 920,993 910,747 1,009,486

Total Assets 570,197 661,876 853,974 1,012,279 1,047,209 1,188,286

Shareholders' Equity 44,700 44,983 49,355 50,301 65,526 81,698

Key Financial Indicators (%)

Cost to Income Ratio (CIR) 82,6% 72.2% 97.2% 90.9% 70.6% 51.5%

Non-performing Loan Ratio (NPL) 0.66% 1.05% 2.05% 4.36% 4.83% 4.93%

Return on Average Equity (ROAE) 4.5% 9.5% 0.8% 1.9% 11.8% 18.5%

Return on Average Assets (ROAA) 0.4% 0.7% 0.0% 0.1% 0.7% 1.2%

Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR)

Tier 1 CAR 14.0% 10.4% 6.4% 5.7% 7.4% 8.5%

Total CAR 14.5% 11.0% 8.2% 6.1% 7.9% 9.0%

Liquidity Ratio 43.8% 37.8% 28.5% 25.8% 22.3% 24.2%

Reserve Ratio 41.2% 5.8% 5.3% 5.6% 5.6% 6.3%



2019 emerged as a defining year for uab bank – 
we were named Myanmar’s Best Bank by Euromoney, 
ranked 1st in Corporate Governance Disclosure and 
Transparency amongst Myanmar banks by MCRB 
and relocated to a world class and award winning 
new head office – uab Tower @ Times City!

CEO’s 
Overview





CEO’s Overview
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2019 emerged as a defining year for uab bank 

– we were named Myanmar’s Best Bank by Eu-

romoney. This very prestigious award by Eu-

romoney on its 50th year anniversary is very 

significant as it is an award given to one sin-

gle bank in each country. uab bank’s ascension 

and recognition as Myanmar’s Best Bank bears 

testimony to the success of our transformation 

journey, and the commitment and contribution 

of every single uabians.

Our focus on corporate governance reforms 

has also earned us the recognition as the 

most transparent bank in Myanmar and was 

ranked 1st in corporate governance disclosure 

by Myanmar Centre for Responsible Business 

in the Pwint Thit Sa (TiME) Report. This again 

demonstrated the commitment from the Chair-

man, Board and Management in adhering to a 

higher corporate governance standards and in 

practicing greater disclosure to the public.

We’ve made significant progress on our 2019 

strategic focus of “Rebrand, Refresh & Revenue 

Growth” with record profit once again for the 

full year ended 30th September 2019 as well as 

the relocation of our head office from the old 

Pwint Thit San building at Shwe Gone Daing 

Road to uab Tower @ Times City. uab Tower @ 

Times City provides a world-class facility that 

rivals the best across Asia, with state of the art 

technology deployment including facial recog-

nition, wireless connectivity, large LED screen, 

intelligent controls, innovative open workspace, 

Myanmar’s 
Best Bank



a social space incorporating a cafe in the sky, 

entertainment zones including a pool table and 

Sony Playstation 4 to cater for staff recreation-

al activities. 

Our historic move to uab Tower @ Times City 

saw over 300 uabians marching in solidari-

ty from the old head office to uab Tower in an 

event titled “Rise Above” and encapsulates our 

strategic imperative for 2020, building on the 

strategic themes of “Rebrand, Refresh & Rev-

enue Growth” in 2019. While we have made 

significant progress on our transformation jour-

ney, this is just the beginning. We will continue 

to build on these successes and deliver on our 

promise to build uab bank into a well governed 

and sustainable financial institution in Myanmar.

The Year in Review     

Global growth 2019 recorded its weakest pace 

since the global financial crisis a decade ago, 

reflecting common influences across countries 

and country-specific factors.

The year continued to see the prolonged hot-

cold US-China trade war, creating uncertainty 

to the markets and higher volatility in both eq-

uities and currencies. China’s economic slow-

down, worrying health of the EU economy, un-

settled Brexit, geopolitical tensions and social 

unrest have rounded out the difficult picture.

Meanwhile, in Myanmar, financial and econom-

ic liberalisation continue to be the main focus. 

A few landmark decisions were made in 2019 

which shaped the banking and financial institu-

tions forward.

In January 2019, CBM issued Regulation No. 1 

of 2019, allowing foreign banks and financial in-

stitutions to hold equity of up to 35% in local 

banks, starting January 2020. This change is 

expected to enhance competition, improve ser-

vice quality and induce positive changes to the 

industry.
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CEO’s Overview
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Ministry of Planning and Finance (MoPF) has 

also announced that foreign companies would 

be allowed to offer life and non-life insurance to 

the country’s largely untapped insurance mar-

ket, and this provides a good opportunity for 

banks to collaborate and expand their business 

reach with the insurance providers.

Similarly, the retail banking segment will open 

its doors to foreign participation in 2021. Under 

the new round of licensing, foreign banks will be 

able to apply for a subsidiary bank licence that 

permits wholesale domestic banks activities 

and, from January 2021 onward, onshore retail 

banking.

CBM has also relaxed its policy of capping in-

terest rates at 13% – which meant lenders are 

now permitted to extend loans to clients at a 

maximum lending rate of 16% for unsecured 

collateral, instead of not being able to charge 

more for higher-risk customers and therefore 

often avoided providing credit and imposed 

strict collateral requirements that have been the 

key hindrances to private sector credit growth.

Following its kick-off in 2018, Myanmar Credit 

Bureau (MCB) has started collecting the cred-

it data from the banks and financial institutions 

and target to be in operational in early 2020. 

This will further help to boost lending, especially 

for small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) 

to gain access to the banks, which is instrumen-

tal to national growth.

Solid Financial Performance
uab bank delivered another record group profit 

after tax (PAT) of MMK 14,630 million for the 

financial year ending 30th September 2019, al-

most doubling the PAT of MMK 7,407 million the 

year earlier. The foundation laid in the early part 

of the transformation bears fruit as we see re-

sults from the cost optimisation and more ef-

fective balance sheet management.

Total operating income jumped 34.3% to MMK 

48,739 million while total operating expenses 

are marginally down by 2.5% to MMK 24,625 

million. This was on the back of a 12.5% growth 

in gross loans resulting in a 13.5% increase in 

total assets to MMK 1,198,126 million. The slower 

loan growth was intentional as part of our strat-

egy to diversify our portfolio and focus more on 



retail individuals and SMEs. 

Cost to income ratio was down significantly to 

50.5% from 69.6% a year earlier. 

Strong Governance, Risk Management and 
Compliance 
Our commitment to building a strong financial 

institution premised on sound principles has 

been at the core of our transformation right from 

the beginning. We continue to make progress 

in enhancing our corporate governance, devel-

oping talents in risk management and compli-

ance, and making enhancements in the past 

year. This effort and focus has been recognised 

strongly by the Myanmar Centre for Responsi-

ble Business in the Pwint Thit Sa (TiME) Report. 

uab bank was ranked 1st amongst the Myanmar 

banks for corporate governance disclosure and 

transparency, and 5th overall across all compa-

nies in Myanmar. 

Beyond the recognition, we recognise the im-

portance of building the right risk culture with 

the right tone from the top. The Board and Man-

agement has reinforced that with an updated 

Code of Ethics, enforcing the annual refresh on 

ethics and compliance training and communi-

cating constantly to all uabians on our whistle 

blowing policy. A periodical risk bulletin was 

also initiated to update all uabians and to share 

case studies to remind our staff to be watchful 

against improper practices.

Disclosure and transparency efforts are on-

going through our corporate website as well 

as social media platforms like facebook and 

Linkedin, where we strive to be leading change 

in Myanmar banking sector with full disclosure 

and transparency. We believe that as custodian 

of public depositors money, we have a duty to 

fully disclose our financial results and position, 

so that the public can have greater trust in the 

banking system and institutions.

We are also proud to be among the first banks 

to comply with a number of the CBM Directives 

issued during the year focusing on the account-

www.uab.com.mm  uab annual report 2019 | 28



CEO’s Overview

29 | uab annual report 2019 www.uab.com.mm 

ability of the Board Members and Management.

Redefining our Purpose & Mission
Further to the rebranding efforts which saw the 

change of our logo last year, we have also offi-

cially renamed and registered with DICA as “uab 

bank Limited” in June 2019. The change of name 

give birth to a new modern financial institution 

that seeks to be innovative, young, fun, bold and 

a brand that all Myanmar people would recog-

nise beyond banking.

Our new Purpose “to lead the way towards a 

better Myanmar, humanising banking, connect-

ing people, creating opportunities and changing 

lives” was embraced by all uabians as the be-

ginning of a new journey for the bank, and also 

themselves. Leading change must start from 

within an individual and humanising banking 

is from the heart. We believe that this journey 

would be one that is transformative for the bank 

and all uabians.

Underpinning our redefined purpose is our core 

values. 

• A desire to Connect
• A passion to Create
• The courage to lead Change

The new core values were introduced in the sec-

ond half of the year, with the management team 

being inducted and subsequently rolled out to 

all uabians through a combination of movie 

town halls, briefings and through the line. Cul-

ture and values building will no doubt take time, 

and we believe that with all uabians having the 

same shared values, we would be charting the 

journey of making uab bank the leading bank in 

Myanmar.  

Rebrand, Refresh & Revenue Growth
2019 was an exciting, eventful and packed 

year with various initiatives under the 3 strate-

gic themes being executed simultaneously. We 

have made significantly progress and achieve-

ments in some, and there is a lot more we need 

to continue to further develop.

Rebrand – we have successfully rebranded our 

logo, name and firmly entrenched ourselves in 



the history book with the move to our new head 

office at uab Tower @ Times City – a world-

class and award winning office. uab Tower @ 

Times City was awarded Best Office Interior 

Design and Special Recognition for Bank Fa-

cility by Property Guru’s Myanmar Property 

Awards. As we moved into 2020, we will see the 

continuation of the rebranding with our branch-

es and ATMs being progressively refurbished to 

the new brand identity. Beyond the refurbish-

ment, there would be new branch model and 

formats being introduced to integrate lifestyle 

and banking, bring greater convenience and ex-

perience to our customers.

Refresh – we have made some progress in re-

freshing the experience for our employees as 

well as our customers. In the digital front, we 

continue to make enhancements to our uab 

mobile banking application. Beyond making 

transactions free on uab mobile app, we have 

enabled US dollars transfer on uab mobile, 

partnered MPU to introduce interbank funds 

transfer (IBFT) enabling our customers to make 

transfer using the ATM to Yoma Bank and Shwe 

Bank, and were the first in Myanmar to intro-

duce UnionPay Contactless Payment service. 

For uabians, we continue to invest in trainings 

for senior leaders and all uabians. These include 

trainings for our branch managers, service & 

operation managers, frontline officers, relation-

ship managers and credit staff. Members of our 

Board of Directors were also sent for the Direc-

tor Certification Programme (DCP) by Myanmar 

Institute of Directors (MIoD). Additionally, the 

key leadership team have also been sent to at-

tend various trainings, seminars and talks such 

as Internal Audit Master Program, AWS Banking 
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Leadership Workshop and Sustainable Finance 

Workshop that provide the much-needed ex-

posure to the financial industry. More initiatives 

are in the pipeline to further develop our peo-

ple and also the improve the experience for our 

customers in the coming year.

Revenue Growth – 2019 saw another record 

profit for uab bank with the group net profit after 

tax soaring 2-fold to MMK 14,630 million. Cost 

to income ratio – a key measure of the bank’s 

efficiency reduced significantly to 50.5% from 

69.6% a year ago. Loan growth however came 

in slower at 12.5% due in part to our strategy to 

rebalance the portfolio towards retail individu-

als and SMEs. The coming year will continue to 

see our diversification strategy being executed 

and the opening of more branches in strategic 

locations to propel our growth forward. New 

products and services will also be introduced 

coupled with new business models to enhance 

the brand.

Year 2020 – Rise Above 
The awards and accolades we have earned in 

2019 are hard fought, with all uabians champi-

oning for the same outcome – that is to make 

uab bank into a strong leading bank and brand 

in Myanmar. As we entered into 2020, we need 

to up the game and be willing to shed the old 

mindset that is inhibiting us for taking on new 

challenges, embracing new ideas and a greater 

sense of urgency to charge forward. 

This call for all uabians to “Rise Above” signify 

the shedding of the old mindset and self, and 

rises above just like in the ancient Greek folk-

lore where the phoenix rises from the ashes and 

emerges stronger and better. 



Only by doing so, can we witness a lasting trans-

formation that will benefit the self, the bank and 

the community we are in.

Acknowledgements
The past year was fraught with many challeng-

es and I am grateful for the guidance and sup-

port shown by our Chairman and members of 

the Board, enabling us to take uab bank further 

amidst a challenging and fast-evolving external 

environment. Thank You.

I would also like to thank all our stakeholders 

– customers, regulators, business partners and 

the communities in which we operate – for the 

loyalty and placing your trust in us. We will con-

tinue to uphold that trust and continue to build 

uab bank into a strong financial institution that 

is built on sound principles.

Most importantly, thank you all uabians – espe-

cially the members of the leadership team – for 

your support and commitment in delivering our 

promises. It has been my pleasure to see every-

one taking on the challenges with utmost enthu-

siasm and dedication. 

2020 will no doubt be another challenging year, 

however I believe that with the foundation we 

have laid and the call to rise above, uabians 

will be able to emerge victorious once again. I 

look forward to another exciting year in leading 

change and humanising banking with all uabians. 

Christopher Loh
Chief Executive Officer

www.uab.com.mm  uab annual report 2019 | 32



Board of Directors
Leadership





Leadership

Profile of the Board of Directors

35 | uab annual report 2019 www.uab.com.mm 

Age : 53 
Date of Appointment : 14 June 2010 

Membership of Board Committees
• Board Advisory & Strategy Committee

(Chairman)

Qualification
• Bachelor of Science in Chemistry, University 

of Yangon

• Certified member of MIoD - completed Direc-

tor Certification Program (DCP)

Relevant Experience
U Ne Aung is the Founder and Non-Executive  

Chairman of uab bank and has been involved 

in all phases of uab bank’s development since 

its founding in 2010, emphasizing on creating 

a culture of excellence at the Bank. His vision is 

to create a “World Class Myanmar Bank”. uab 
bank has won numerous accolades nationally 

and internationally which includes, Myanmar’s 

Best Bank by Euromoney.

U Ne Aung is a seasoned business leader with 

a strong track record in leading and chairing 

a range of organisations. The breadth of U Ne 

Aung’s knowledge and operational experience 

in various industries, building teams and culture, 

and growing business is hugely beneficial to 

uab bank.

Humanising Banking is very close to U Ne Aung’s 

heart. Under his guidance, uab bank is empow-

ering millions of people, particularly at the bot-

tom of the pyramid in Myanmar through holistic 

initiatives.

U Ne Aung believes that the true measure of the 

performance is the value creation and the Bank’s  

vision for equitable prosperity extends beyond 

financial services.

Ne Aung
Chairman/ Non-Independent Director



Age : 52
Date of Appointment : 14 June 2010

Membership of Board Committees
• Nil 

Qualification
• Bachelor of Science in Botany, University of 

Yangon

• MBA (Banking & Finance), Management De-

velopment Institute of Singapore (MDIS)

• Master’s Degree in Development Studies, 

Yangon Institute of Economics

• MBA, Yangon Institute of Economics

• Awarded 3rd for Applied Business Projects 

Award 2018–2019, Bangor University, UK

• Certified member of MIoD - completed  

Director Certification Program (DCP)

Relevant Experience
Daw Khin Moe Nyunt is the Board member and 

Co-Founder of uab bank.  She is an active philan-

thropist with a history of supporting education, 

as well as children’s care and the culture, among 

other things. She initiated a program to identify 

outstanding students from impoverished back-

grounds and collect funds to send them abroad 

for further studies.

She then turned her attention to Yangon’s Monas-

tic Education Centre, which provides room, board, 

education and healthcare to orphaned children, 

many from conflict areas in Myanmar. Under 

her guidance, the Foundation has consistently 

provided support to the Centre, including constr- 

ucting a five-storey building to provide accommo-

dation for more than 200 children and outfitting 

it with beds, storage, and other facilities based 

on international standards for children’s homes.

Furthermore, Daw Khin Moe Nyunt is an active 

member of the Myanmar Women Entrepreneurs’ 

Association (MWEA) and the Myanmar Women’s 

Affair Federation (MWAF), where she supports 

poverty alleviation and microfinance programs. In 

2006, she also participated in the poverty allevia- 

tion workshop for women held in Cambodia.

Khin Moe Nyunt
Non-Independent Director
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Age : 54
Date of Appointment : 14 June 2010

Membership of Board Committees
• Board Risk Committee (Chairman)

• Board Advisory & Strategy Committee

      (Member)

• Board Credit Committee (Member)

• Board Audit Committee (Member)

• Board Nomination & Remuneration Committee 

(Member)

Qualification
• Bachelor of Commerce, Yangon Institute of 

Economics

• Postgraduate Diploma in Management and 

Administration, Yangon Institute of Econom-

ics

• Postgraduate Diploma in Economics, Yan-

gon Institute of Economics

• Master of Public Administration, Yangon In-

stitute of Economics

• Certified member of MIoD 

• Completed Director Certification Program, 

IOD Thailand.

Relevant Experience
U Than Win Swe is the former CEO of the Bank 

since the beginning of uab bank in Jun 2010 un-

til August 2016. After that, he was appointed as 

a board member of uab bank. 

Under his leadership, the Bank won several 

awards in financial services such as the Best 

Trade Finance Bank Myanmar 2015 by Interna-

tional Finance Awards, Fastest Growing Private 

Bank Myanmar 2014 by Global Banking and Fi-

nance Awards and 50 years ADB TFP Award by 

Asian Development Bank – Trade Finance Pro-

gram, etc.

U Than Win Swe has around 24 years of expe-

rience in financial services, trading, real estate, 

construction, energy, hospitality and telecom-

munications. 

He brings with him unparallel knowledge in 

many industries and also in banking.

Leadership
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Than Win Swe
Non-Independent Director



Age : 71
Date of Appointment : 29 July 2016

Membership of Board Committees
• Board Audit Committee (Chairman)

• Board Risk Committee (Member)

• Board Nomination & Remuneration Committee 

(Chairman)

Qualification
• Bachelor of Commerce, Yangon Institute of 

Economics

• ASEAN Chartered Professional Accountant

• Certified Public Accountant (MICPA)

• Certified member of MIoD - completed Di-

rector Certification Program (DCP)

Relevant Experience
U Sein Win is the Executive Committee Member 

of the Myanmar Accountancy Council and the 

Myanmar Institute of Certified Public Accountants. 

U Sein Win was appointed as Senior Independent 

Non-Executive Director  of uab bank in March 

2019 and has been providing the necessary in-

dependence of character and judgement to the 

Board.

Sein Win
Senior Independent Director

He has over 48 years senior management expe-

rience in the finance and audit industry. He was 

formerly the Deputy Assistant Director at the Min-

istry of Finance’s Budget Department and Deputy 

Chief Accountant at the Ministry of Mines. 

In 1997, U Sein Win set up his own audit & con-

sulting firm called Sein Win & Associates. He is a 

very well-respected figure in the Accounting and 

Auditing field for his high degree of integrity, com-

mitment and professionalism. 
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Age : 48
Date of Appointment : 29 December 2017

Membership of Board Committees
• Board Credit Committee (Member) 

• Board Risk Committee (Member)

• Board Audit Committee (Member)

• Board Advisory & Strategy Committee (Mem-

ber)

• Board Nomination & Remuneration Committee 

(Member)

Qualification
• Bachelor of Science in Industrial Chemistry, 

Yangon University

• Master of Business Administration from Yangon 

Institute of Economics

• Certified member of MIoD - completed Director 

Certification Program (DCP)

Relevant Experience
Daw Hnin Hnin Aung was appointed as a Mem-

ber of the Board in December 2017 and current-

ly serving as Non-Executive Director of the uab 

bank. 

With over 20 years of industrial and financial 

know-how, she brings a wide range of experi-

ences across a number of industries. 

Daw Hnin Hnin Aung is currently Executive Di-

rector and serving as a board member in sever-

al companies especially in export, construction 

and power sector.

 

An accomplished businesswoman, Daw Hnin  

Hnin Aung is working in the area of business  

strategy, marketing  and International relation-

ship. 

She is among Myanmar’s most experienced 

career woman and has served on several roles 

of business development, procurement and 

marketing functions throughout her career life.

Leadership
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Hnin Hnin Aung
Non-Independent Director



Age : 46
Date of Appointment : 29 December 2017

Membership of Board Committees
• Board Credit Committee (Chairman)

• Board Advisory & Strategy Committee  

(Member)

• Board Risk Committee (Member)

Qualification
• B.Sc. (Physics), University of Yangon

• Master of Business Administration, Yangon 

Institute of Economics

• Certified member of MIoD - completed Di-

rector Certification Program (DCP)

Relevant Experience
U Thant Zin is Non-Executive Director on the 

Board of uab bank since December 2017. Prior 

to this, U Thant Zin was the Chief Operating Of-

ficer of uab bank from 2011 to 2017. 

Under his supervision, uab bank was recognised 

as Myanmar Domestic Technology & Opera-

tions Bank of the Year 2016 by Asian Banking 

and Finance Awards and other financial ser-

vices awards from the reputable international 

organisations.

U Thant Zin is presently a board member in sev-

eral companies dealing with trading, construc-

tion and properties. He has a strong presence 

and good rapport with corporate leaders from 

various industries.

He brings to the Bank both his industrial and 

banking experience over 22 years and has been 

instrumental in guiding the risk-return portfolio 

of the Bank over the last few years.

Thant Zin
Non-Independent Director
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Age : 44
Date of Appointment : 29 December 2017

Membership of Board Committees
• Board Advisory & Strategy Committee

       (Member)

• Board Risk Committee (Member)

Qualification
• BA (Hons) in Engineering and Business, 

Nanyang Technological University, Singapore

• Alumnus of INSEAD Senior Leadership Pro-

gramme

• Certified member of MIoD 

Relevant Experience
Mr. Christopher Loh was appointed as Managing 

Director and Chief Executive Officer of uab bank 

in September 2017. 

Prior to joining uab bank, he held several senior ex- 

ceutive positions including the Group Chief Strat-

egy Officer, Chief Executive of International Busi-

ness and Deputy Group Chief Risk Officer at RHB 

Banking Group. 

He was also a partner with a global manage- 

ment consulting firm where he worked with regio- 

nal and global financial institutions across Asia- 

Pacific, United States and the United Kingdom to 

transform their business and risk capabilities.

After his stint with a leading UK banking group 

in London, he returned to Asia to help build and 

lead a very successful risk management practice 

where he was the managing director before his 

departure. He has also spent several years with a 

leading insurer in Singapore, and had established 

and run a technology and media start up.

Guided by his strong visionary in Leading Change, 

Humanising Banking, he has driven uab bank to  

be one of the top banks in Myanmar. uab bank is 

named Myanmar’s Best Bank 2019 by Euromoney  

and Domestic Retail Bank of The Year 2019 by  

Asian Banking & Finance. Further, he has also  

rebranded the Bank entirely, of which the most 

significant being, setting up uab bank’s Head Of-

fice at Times’ City, one of the most prestigious ad-

dress in the heart of Yangon.

He has since been recognised and named as 

Myanmar’s CEO of The Year by many international  

platforms, e.g. Global Banking & Finance, Inter 

national Business Magazine and Business World-

wide.

Leadership
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Christopher Loh
MD & Chief Executive Officer
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Qualification 

• Business Administration (Finance), Universi-

ty of Portsmouth, United Kingdom

• Master in Banking and Finance, Yangon Uni-

versity 

• Certified member of MIoD - completed Di-

rector Certification Program (DCP) 

Relevant Experience 

• Kay held several key positions since incep-

tion of the Bank, namely Deputy Chief Op-

erating Officer (COO) and subsequently its 

Chief Business Officer (CBO), before being 

appointed as the Deputy CEO in 2017.

• She is also currently the CEO of uab secu-

rities, a subsidiary of uab bank, focusing on 

the investment banking businesses.

• Kay is proficient both in English and Myan-

mar languages with strong ability to work 

through complex problems using excellent 

judgment and decision-making skills.

• Further, she is also highly proficient in ne-

gotiation skills, making it easy to conclude 

agreements and persuade various stake-

holders.

• Kay is presently a board member of the 

Credit Bureau in Myanmar and Co-Chair of 

the Myanmar Economic Forum.

Qualification 

• Bachelor of Commerce, Yangon University 

of Economics, Myanmar

• Master Degree in Public Administration 

(MPA), Yangon University of Economics, 

Myanmar

• Certified Public Accountant (CPA) and a 

member of Myanmar Accountancy Council 

and MICPA

• Certificate of Completion PwC’s Chief Fi-

nancial Officer, PWC Academy

Relevant Experience
• Htun Htun joined uab bank in 2013.

• He has over 20 years of demonstrated his-

tory in the Government and reputable inter-

national companies in and out of Myanmar.

• Htun Htun has in depth knowledge and ex-

perience in accounting, auditing, cost man-

agement and financial reporting across all 

industries.

• He has since introduced many good prac-

tices to the team and has been instrumental 

in adding valuable insights to the Manage-

ment’s key decisions.

Kyawt Kay Khaing
Deputy CEO, uab bank 

CEO, uab securities 

Htun Htun Oo
Director, Finance
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Qualification 

• Bachelor of Commerce, University of Mel-

bourne, Australia 

• Master Degree (with distinction) in Business 

Administration, University of Stirling, United 

Kingdom. 

• Associate with the Asian Institute of Char-

tered Bankers

Relevant Experience 
• George joined uab bank in 2013 as Director, 

Wholesale and Retail Banking. He was subse-

quently assigned as Director, Strategy in 2015 

and Director, Risk & Compliance in 2017.

• He has over 35 years of experience working in 

multiple countries in Asia, Africa and Europe 

covering banking operations, strategy, credit, 

retail and corporate business.

• George began his banking career in South-

ern Bank, Malaysia and was there for 14 years 

wherein he built his operational foundation 

in Credit, Branch Management and Trade Fi-

nance.

• Thereafter, he was with the ICB Banking Group 

for a period of 15 years, coordinating the opera 

tions of banks in 14 countries. During his career 

with ICB, he sat in the Board of Directors of 12 

banks globally.

Qualification 

• Bachelor of Electrical Engineering, Govern-

ment Technical Institute, Myanmar.

• Internal Audit Master Program by Myanmar 

Institute of Directors (MIOD)

Relevant Experience 
• Than Sein joined uab bank in 2012.

• He has over 25 years of demonstrated histo-

ry in reputable local and international infor-

mation and technology industry in and out 

of Myanmar.

• During his 15 years stint in Malaysia, Than 

Sein led several major IT Projects, namely 

implementation of Loan Origination as well 

as various complex System, Storage, Secu-

rity and Network solutions for a number of 

reputable banks.

• He is currently the Chairman of Technical 

Committee at MPU.

George Koshy
Director, Risk & Compliance 

Director, Human Resources (Acting) 

Than Sein
Director, Technology 
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Qualification 
• Bachelor of Law, Tribhuvan University, Nepal

• MBA of Finance, Pokhara University, Nepal

Relevant Experience 
• Mahesh joined uab bank in 2012.

• He has over 23 years of banking experience 

with a demonstrated history in reputable in-

ternational banks in various business bank-

ing areas of Operations - Treasury, Inter-

national Relations and International Trade 

Finance.

• Mahesh started his career of Trade Finance 

in Nepal. Bringing good experience with him, 

he has then successfully led the team to set-

up Trade Finance Unit in ABA Bank, Cambo-

dia and in uab bank, Myanmar.

• Before being designated to head the Trea-

sury & FI portfolio in 2018, he was the Head 

of Trade Finance Unit for 6 Years, where uab 

bank was awarded various accolades, in-

cluding the Best Trade Finance by Interna-

tional Finance Awards in 2015.

Qualification 
• Bachelor of Administration, Dagon University,  

Myanmar

• Master of Public Administration, Yangon 

University of Economics, Myanmar

Relevant Experience 
• Nay Win Maung is amongst the pioneers of 

uab bank, joining in 2010.

• He has over 23 years of demonstrated his-

tory in reputable local Myanmar banks, with 

high expertise in Operations and Compli-

ance.

• Nay Win Maung has led many key Opera-

tions Projects in uab bank, including setting 

up new branches, restructuring and improv-

ing the Branch Operations from time to time, 

and continuously enhance the strong com-

pliance at the branches.

Mahesh Bhandari
Director, Treasury &
Financial Institutions  

Nay Win Maung 
Director, Operations
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Qualification 
• Master Degree in Statistics with Gold Med-

al, MG University of Kerala India 

• Certified Associate of Indian Institute of 

Banking.

Relevant Experience 
• Mathew joined uab bank in 2013.

• He has over 25 years of demonstrated his-

tory in various reputable banks in and out of 

India.

• Prior to joining uab bank, Mathew was the 

Head of Credit, Trade Finance and Oper-

ations at a Malaysian based bank, having 

operations in various African countries from 

2010 to 2013.

• From 1993 to 2010, he worked in a reputable 

Indian bank as a branch manager and senior 

officer taking care of various operations and 

credit management related roles.

• He has vast experience in credit admin-

istration, risk management & compliance, 

banking operations, training & development, 

trade finance, audit and business process 

re-engineering.

• Qualification 
• Bachelor of English, Yangon East University, 

Myanmar

• Master in Business Administration, Yangon 

University of Economics, Myanmar.

• Certificate of Documentary Credit Special-

ist (CDCS), London Institute of Banking & Fi-

nance

Relevant Experience 
• Thandar joined uab bank in 2014 as the 

Deputy Head of Trade Finance.

• She was one of the main contributors to the 

rapid growth of the Trade Finance business 

at uab bank and has since been appoint-

ed to head a bigger portfolio, i.e. Corporate 

Banking.

•  Thandar has over 15 years of good track 

record in reputable local and international 

companies in Myanmar, specifically in com-

mercial trading and international trade fi-

nance - having been on both sides i.e. as a 

customer (previously) and as a banker (cur-

rently).

• She is a uab home grown talent who has 

rose to the leadership in just 4 years, and 

a testimony of the Bank’s success story of 

internal succession

Mathew Koottaplackil
Director, Credit Management

Thandar Htike
Deputy Director, 

Corporate Banking 
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The Board of Directors (the “Board”) is zealous in 

cultivating and fostering a corporate governance 

culture that amplifies uab’s core throughout its val-

ue chain. These core values are ingrained within 

the Bank to inculcate positive corporate culture 

that would spur uab to deliver and achieve its stra-

tegic objectives. 

The Bank, as guardian of public trust, firmly be-

lieves good corporate culture defines both the be-

haviour within uab and also the way we communi-

cate with our external stakeholders.  

The past two years have brought a slew of changes 

to the corporate governance landscape in Myan-

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD 
The year 2019 witnessed the launch of the Bank’s 

full-fledged transformation, anchoring on the 

theme Rebrand, Refresh and Revenue Growth ,  

which is built on the earlier theme of Rebuild, Re-

structure and Reduce Cost adopted in Year 2018.

The new strategic plan is closely tied to our Bank’s 

brand-new     purpose    that         promises    #  Leading       

Change, #Humanising Banking which essentially  

commits to create sustainable value to all the  

stakeholders.

The Management’s performance is actively mon-

itored as part of the Board’s  oversight and  the 

Board provides direction and advice to ensure 

mar leading to changes in the legal and regulatory 

promulgation governing our Bank and our industry. 

The Board is dedicated in ensuring the recom-

mended best practices and the required compli-

ance benchmarks are met and sustained to pro-

tect the interests of uab and all its stakeholders. 

The Bank’s unremitting effort was recognised by 

the Myanmar Centre for Responsible Business, 

through its Pwint Thit Sar Report 2019: where uab 

is named: -

#1 in Corporate Governance Disclosure

#1 in Transparency and Disclosure amongst 

banks in Myanmar

Management does not deviates from its  given man-

dates. The Board has in place a Corporate Gover-

nance  Framework which covers the essentials of a 

Board and provides clear outline on the roles and re-

sponsibilities for each member of the Board. 

The Coporate Governance Framework was devel-

oped with great care and perseverance to guide 

and ensure each member is held accountable for 

their actions and inactions in serving the Bank.

In order to improve the Board’s effectiveness, all 

non-executive Directors attended the Director 

Certification Program conducted by Myanmar In-

stitute of Directors in 2019. 

OUR APPROACH TO CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A. BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS

Governance

Corporate Governance Overview 
Statement 
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OUR GOVERNANCE MODEL 
uab operates within a clearly defined governance 

model as approved by the Board. This model elu-

cidates on the clear governance practices and 

direction in relation to the decision-making pro-

cess across the Bank. This delegation of authority 

Governance

Corporate Governance Overview 
Statement 

Risk Governance and Oversight

Risk Appetite

Risk Management Process

Risk Documentation

Risk 
Identification

Risk 
Measurement

Risk 
Control

Risk 
Monitoring

Risk Analytics
and Reporting

Risk Culture

is clearly defined within the Terms of Reference 

(“ToR”) of the respective Board Committees. The 

ToRs are reviewed periodically by the Board to 

ensure effective and efficient decision-making 

process within the Bank. The Board Committees 

also act as oversight committees; evaluating and 

recommending matters under their purview for 

the Board’s consideration and approval.

The Board receives updates from the respective 

chairperson/representatives of the Board Com-

mittees on matters that require specific attention 

that have been deliberated and considered at the 

meetings of Board Committees.

Risk Infrastructure



Each Committee will have its Terms of Reference which are well defined and each Committee reports to 

the Board on significant issues and concerns discussed, and where applicable, recommendations made 

during the meetings. The composition and terms of reference of each Committee is reviewed annually.

In supplementing the Board’s effort to govern the Bank, the following Board Committees have been es-

tablished:

Board
of

Directors

Board Advisory & 
Strategy Committee (BASC)

Board Nomination 
& Remuneration 
Committee (BNRC)

Board Risk Committee (BRC)

BASC is responsible to provide the objectives and pol-
icies to guide the Senior Management, oversee the im-
plementation of the Bank’s strategies and business plan, 
and review the performance and conduct of the Bank, 
including major strategic projects/initiatives and ensure 
corrective actions are taken to address any lapses.

BNRC has oversight and is  
responsible for the following:
• Composition of Board & 

Board Committees
• Annual Evaluation exercise 

comprising:

BRC is responsible to provide the oversight and gov-
ernance of risks for the Bank. It oversees Senior Man-
agement’s activities in managing risk and ensures that 
the risk management process of each business and 
functional unit is put in place and functioning. The BRC 
also ensures the management of the Banks risk is in 
accordance with a risk-return performance manage- 
                     ment framework.

•        Board Effectiveness Assessment
•       Fit and Proper Assessment of the Directors

             and Senior Management.
•        Reviewing remuneration packages based on the

Bank’s existing remuneration guidelines and 
framework for
•    Directors
•    Members of the Board Committees
•    Senior Officers (SOs)

• Governance matters in relation to the Board and Di-
rectors

• Setting of KPIs for MD/CEO
•       Directors’ Development Plan
•      Macro structure and leadership changes

Board Audit 
Committee (BAC)

BAC is responsible to pro- 
vide independent oversight 
over the management of fi-
nancial reporting & inter-
nal control systems, ensure 
checks and balances within 
the Bank and review the fi-
nancial condition as well as 
the performance of the Bank.

Board Credit Committee (BCC)

BCC is responsible to affirm, veto or include additional 
conditions on all types of credit and all types of unde-
writing applications for amounts above the defined  
thresholds of the Management Credit Committee  
(“MCC”) which reside at the management level
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COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD 

We understand and acknowledge the importance 

of having a balanced, diverse, experienced and 

cohesive Board. The nucleus of the Board is in its 

composition and a Board that encapsulates diver-

sity would be able to better face the challenges 

head-on and view the opportunity as well as busi-

ness risks in a collective manner. 

“Independent non-executive Directors means 

those directors, not having any material relation-

ship with the Company, either directly or as a 

shareholder or an officer of an organisation that 

has a relationship with the Company.”

Annually, the Board reviews each Director’s inde-

pendence and in its review for the current year, the 

Board concluded that the independent non-exec-

utive director continued to demonstrate conduct 

and behavior that are essential indicators of inde-

pendence.

Overall Board effectiveness is considered in this 

process of review. Further, a self-assessment is 

Board Members Roles

Ne Aung Non-Executive Chairman

Khin Moe Nyunt Non-Executive Director

Than Win Swe Non-Executive Director

Hnin Hnin Aung Non-Executive Director

Thant Zin Non-Executive Director

Sein Win Senior Independent Non-Executive Director

Christopher Loh MD & Chief Executive Officer

made on the performance of the Board and its 

members.

As a group, the Directors have vast and varied ex-

perience in banking, finance, business and man-

agement, and the skills and expertise relevant to 

the business of the Bank. The Directors also recog-

nise the importance of training and development 

to keep abreast of prudential requirements and 

best practices. Details of the experience of the 

Board members are stated in the Profile of Board’s 

section as well as the Bank’s corporate website.

The Board accepts that it has a responsibility to 

the stakeholders that it maintains an appropriate 

mix of skills and experience (without gender bias) 

within its membership. Consequently, the Board 

gives careful consideration for the appointment it 

may recommend to Shareholders in accordance 

with the Constitution.  A screening process for Di-

rectors are made by the Board and they are re-

quired to meet the “Fit and Proper” criteria pre-

scribed by the Central Bank of Myanmar.



From time to time, the Directors attend various 

training sessions related to their duties including 

Governance and Risk Management practices, up-

dates on laws and legislations, anti-money laun-

dering requirements and compliance requirements 

as well as the macro updates of the industries . The 

Bank’s new and existing directors receive training 

on topics that are relevant to the business of the 

Bank and which meet the objective of equipping 

Directors with the relevant knowledge and skills to 

perform their role effectively.

Directors have unfettered access to Senior Man-

agement, the external auditor and information for 

the purpose of carrying out their duties. Prior to 

a meeting, Directors are provided with compre-

hensive and timely financial, risk management 

and operational reports for their deliberation and 

to enable them to make informed decisions. Se-

nior executives are present at meetings to provide 

additional information or clarification as required. 

Where relevant, professional advisers may be in-

vited to brief the Board or Board Committees.

Common membership in the Board Committees 

facilitates the sharing of information between rel-

evant Board Committees and better coordination 

of the work among the Board Committees.

The Board is supported by the Secretariat team 

whose responsibilities include ensuring that Board 

procedures are adhered to, advising the Board on 

corporate governance matters, help the Board to 

monitor the execution of its decisions and facili-

tate communication between the Board and Se-

nior Management. 

Whether individually or as a group, Directors may 

seek independent professional advice in the course 

of discharging their duties at the Bank’s expense.

We continued to invest time and effort to improve 

the composition of the Board by progressing the 

Board towards a majority of Independent Non-Ex-

ecutive Directors (INEDs). In March 2019, the Board 

appointed Sein Win as the Senior INED. Sein Win’s 

appointment showed commitment of the Board to 

comply with the local and international good prac-

tice for the Board to consist of a Senior INED.  As 

Senior INED, he acts as a sounding board for the 

Chairman and is available to the shareholders if 

there are any major issues.

Besides the facet of Board independence, we will 

continue our journey to enhance the gender diver-

sity and ensures factors such as mix of skills, cal-

ibre, competency, character and experience are 

taken into consideration in nominating candidates 

for Board appointments.

The Board is well pleased with the current estab-

lished composition as it is an important driver of 

our effectiveness.  The current composition allows 

a breadth of perspective to be shared by its mem-

bers and is viewed as optimal for uab’s operations.
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CHAIRMAN
Ne Aung is the Non-Executive Chairman of the 

Board of Directors.

The running of the Board is the responsibility of 

the Chairman while the running of the Bank’s busi-

ness is the executive responsibility of the CEO.  

There should be a clear division of responsibi- 

lities between the two positions which will ensure 

a balance of power and authority, such that no  

one individual has unfettered powers of decision.

The Chairman of the Board is elected by the mem-

bers of the Board of Directors and he ensures 

leadership to the Board of Directors. Board meet-

ings will be presided by the Chairman and in his 

absence, the meeting may be presided by a Direc-

tors elected by the members present.

Minutes of Board meetings presided by the Chair-

Governance

Corporate Governance Overview 
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man (or Director, in his absence), will be evidence 

of the proceedings of meetings or passing of res-

olutions. (Sect 157, Myanmar Companies Law)

MANAGING DIRECTOR & CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
OFFICER
Christopher Loh as MD & CEO, leads the manage- 

ment team and is responsible for the overall strat-

egy, execution of the strategies, management and 

operation of the Bank.

Assisted by Senior Management, the MD & CEO 

bears executive responsibility for the Bank’s day-

to-day operations and business, including seeking 

business opportunities and ensuring the contin-

ued relevance, adequacy and effectiveness of the 

Bank’s system of internal controls and risk man-

agement. 

The Board of Directors reviews regularly the per-

formance of the MD & CEO and Senior Manage-

ment and their succession planning.



DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE 
The Board and its Committees meet regularly to carry out their respective duties and responsibilities 

during the year under review.

The table below illustrates 2019’s meeting attendance record for all Board members of uab bank.

Board Member Designation Meeting Attendance

BOD BASC BAC BRC BCC BNRC

Ne Aung Non-Independent
Non-Executive Chairman 4/4 12/12 NA NA NA NA

Khin Moe Nyunt Non-Independent
Non-Executive Director 4/4 NA NA NA NA NA

Sein Win Senior Independent
Non-Executive Director 4/4 NA 4/4 4/4 NA 1/1

Than Win Swe Non-Independent
Non-Executive Director 4/4 12/12 4/4 4/4 20/21 1/1

Hnin Hnin Aung Non-Independent
Non-Executive Director 4/4 12/12 4/4 4/4 17/21 1/1

Thant Zin Non-Independent
Non-Executive Director 4/4 12/12 NA 4/4 19/21 NA

Christopher Loh MD & Chief Executive
Officer 4/4 12/12 NA 4/4 NA NA
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Board and Board Committee meetings are sched-

uled in advance and all Directors are notified in 

advance. When circumstances warrant, ad-hoc 

meetings are held. Reports and papers are cir-

culated in advance to help Directors prepare for 

meetings.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Board has in place a Board Audit Committee 

(“BAC”) that supports the Board with matters per-

taining to financial reporting, external audit, inter-

nal control and internal audit process and review 

of related party transactions as well as conflict of 

interest situations. The BAC is chaired by U Sein 

Win, the Bank’s Senior Independent Non-Executive 

Director.

All members of the BAC are financially literate 

and possess necessary financial background, 

knowledge and experience to review financial and 

non-financial reporting and matters put forth for 

deliberation before the Committee. 

Sein Win is the Executive Committee Member of 

the Myanmar Accountancy Council and the Myan-

mar Institute of Certified Public Accountants. 

Further, he has over 46 years senior management 

experience in the finance and audit industry. He 

was formerly with the Ministry of Finance’s Budget 

Department and Ministry of Mines.

The BAC oversees the Internal Audit (“IA”) function 

which operates under a charter mandated by the 

All Directors must notify the Bank in a timely man-

ner of any change in interests or other appoint-

ments. Where a Director has an interest in a mat-

ter being discussed, he/she is required to recluse 

himself/herself from the discussion and abstain 

from voting on the matter.

B.EFFECTIVE AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT

BAC that gives unrestricted access to review all 

activities across the Bank. 

The BAC reviews and approves the Bank’s Internal 

Audit’s annual audit plan, its staffing requirements 

and audit activities. The Committee is involved in 

deciding the remit of the internal audit function in-

cluding its objectives, strategies, roles and respon-

sibilities, scope and remuneration.

DIRECTORS’ INDEPENDENCE AND CONFLICT OF 
INTEREST
Directors are meticulous in handling situations 

where there are potentially conflicts of interest 

and are required to declare their interest in ad-

vance where a conflict should arise.

All directors must notify the Bank in a timely man-

ner of any change in interests or other appoint-

ments. Where a director has an interest in a matter 

being discussed, he/she is required to recluse him-

self/herself from the discussion and abstain from 

voting on the matter

Related Party Transactions, if any, are stated in the 

Notes to Accounts of the Financial Statements.

Governance
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FINANCIAL REPORTING
In presenting the annual accounts, the Board is 

committed to present a balanced, clear and un-

derstandable assessment of the financial position 

and prospect of the Bank. The Board is assisted by 

the BAC to oversee the Bank’s financial reporting 

by scrutinising the information to be disclosed

to ensure accuracy, adequacy and completeness. 

The Statement by Directors in respect of prepara-

tion of the annual audited financial statements of 

the Bank is set out in the Annual Report.

REMUNERATION
The Bank’s total compensation comprises two 

main components:

•  Fixed pay which includes base salary and fixed 

allowances 

•  Variable pay which rewards employees based on 

the performance of the Bank, business functions 

and an employee’s individual performance. 

The Bank also provides staff loan facilities to its 

employees in the form of personal, vehicle and 

housing loans. Eligible staff are also entitled to a 

credit card with a prescribed credit limit.

We take a holistic view of various factors to de-

termine and to ensure that an employee’s to-

tal compensation is fair. This is done with the 

objective to reward contributions, motivate and 

retain talents.

Performance-based variable pay is linked to the 

performance of the Bank, business functions 

and the employee’s individual achievement 

of performance targets. The performance of 

each employee is evaluated based on a mix of  

performance objectives, competencies and be-

haviours that uphold the uab Values. Variable pay 

of each employee is dependent and differenti-

ated by the employee’s performance at the end 

of every year.

The Board of Directors and Senior Management 

conducts regular reviews of the remuneration 

policy to ensure that compensation practices 

and programmes are consistent with regulatory 

requirements and are responsive to market de-

velopments.

www.uab.com.mm  uab annual report 2019 | 60



61 | uab annual report 2019 www.uab.com.mm 

INTERNAL CONTROLS
The Bank maintains an effective and well-estab-

lished system of internal controls and risk manage-

ment processes to ensure customers’ interests and 

the Bank’s assets are safeguarded. To meet this 

requirement, procedures and policies are in place 

to protect assets against unauthorised use or dis-

posal; for maintaining proper accounting records; 

and for ensuring the reliability and usefulness of 

financial information.

Internal Audit (IA) is responsible for evaluating and 

managing the adequacy and effectiveness of in-

ternal controls, and their level of compliance with 

applicable rules and regulations. The results of the 

evaluation is presented to the Management Audit 

Committee (MAC) and independently reported to 

the BAC. The BAC regularly reviews actions tak-

en on lapses and deficiencies identified in reports 

prepared by the IA and management’s responses 

to these recommendations to ensure lapses are 

dealt adequately and promptly. MAC, on the other 

hand ensures that the recommendations of IA and 

BAC are effectively implemented. 

Based on the internal controls and risk manage-

ment processes established and maintained by 

the Bank, the work performed by IA, and the re-

views performed by Senior Management and the 

relevant Board Committees, the Board, with the 

concurrence of the BAC, is of the opinion that the 

Bank’s systems of risk management and internal 

controls, including financial, operational, compli-

ance and information technology controls, was 

adequate and effective as at 30 September 2019.

The Board notes that no system of risk manage-

ment and internal controls can provide absolute 

assurance against material error, loss or fraud. The 

Bank’s system of risk management and internal 

controls provides reasonable but not absolute as-

surance that the Bank will not be affected by any 

adverse event which may be reasonably foreseen. 

INTERNAL AUDIT
The Bank has a well-established internal audit 

function which reports functionally to the BAC and 

administratively to the CEO. The primary role of 

the IA is to provide independent assessment of the 

adequacy and effectiveness of the Bank’s system 

of internal controls, risk management and gover-

nance processes. It operates within the Internal 

Audit Framework and is guided by The Internal Au-

dit Function in Banks issued by the Basel Commit-

tee on Banking Supervision.

IA reviews and audits the Bank’s businesses and 

operations; and the operations of its subsidiaries 

according to a risk-based audit plan. Audit projects 

are prioritised and scoped based on IA’s assess-

ment of the Bank’s risks and controls over the var-

ious risk types. The internal audit plan is reviewed 

annually and tabled to the BAC for approval.
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The results of each audit are reported to the BAC 

and Management; and their resolution action 

plans and progress are closely monitored. Signif-

icant findings, together with the status of rectifi-

cation, are then discussed at the BAC Meetings 

and the minutes are formally tabled to the Board 

of Directors. In addition, the Head of Internal Audit 

also reports significant findings and other control 

concerns to the Chief Executive Officer, as well as 

the Management Audit Committee monthly and as 

and when required.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL 
FRAMEWORK
As a financial institution, the Board recognises the 

importance of a sound system of risk management 

and internal control to ensure good corporate gov-

ernance and to safeguard shareholders’ invest-

ments, depositors’ monies as well as the Bank’s 

assets. uab’s risk management and internal con-

trol framework is designed not only to cover finan-

cial controls but also non-financial controls.

The Board Risk Committee (“BRC”) provides over-

sight and governance of risks for the Group to en-

sure that the Bank’s risk management processes 

are functional and effective. The BRC also over-

sees Senior Management’s activities in managing 

risk; ensuring that the risk management process in 

each of the business and support functions is in 

accordance with a risk-return performance man-

agement framework.

Furthermore, the BRC supports and leads the Se-

nior Management in driving the appropriate Risk 

Culture and Risk Ownership within the Bank.
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COMMUNICATION WITH STAKEHOLDERS 
The Board endeavours to continue maintaining an 

open and timely communication with all stakehold-

ers. The Board currently conducts its engagement 

with stakeholders through various mechanisms 

such as the publication of Financial Reports, Cor-

porate Governance Reports, Sustainability Re-

ports, minutes of AGM, media releases and com-

munication via electronic means such as uab’s 

corporate website and facebook page.

C.  INTEGRITY IN CORPORATE REPORTING AND COMUNICATION   
 WITH STAKEHOLDERS

Valuing the importance of transparency, we en-

sure that important and material information are 

communicated to stakeholders in a timely manner, 

through the Bank’s website, www.uab.com.mm. 

The corporate website is regularly updated with 

relevant information for the ease of all stakehold-

ers. Information disclosed in the website include:
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AGM materials such as Notice of
Meeting and Minutes of AGM

Corporate
Governance
information

Latest Bank’s
announcements

Historical reports such as 
Annual Report and

media releases

Key financial data

Information on
latest

products

Information on 
all Directors  and 
Senior Manage-

ment





STATEMENT ON RISK 
MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL 
CONTROL
The Statement outlines the key features of the risk management and internal control system of uab 
during the year under review.

BOARD RESPONSIBILITY
The Board of Directors (‘the Board”) is responsible 

for the overall governance, management and stra-

tegic direction of the Bank. It has ultimate responsi-

a. Approving the annual financial statements and 
requiring an annual independent audit g. Playing a lead role in establishing the Bank’s 

corporate culture and values

b. Approving the selection and performance of 
the CEO and other Senior Officers h.

Overseeing the development of and approving 
the Bank’s business objectives and strategies 
and monitoring their implementation

c.
Overseeing the development of, and approving 
the Bank’s policy on transactions with related 
parties

i.
Requiring the Bank to maintain a robust fi-
nance function responsible for accounting and 
financial data

d.
Overseeing the compliance of the Bank with 
the Financial Institutions Law, Regulations and 
Directives issued

j.

Keeping up with material changes in the 
Bank’s business and external environment 
as well as acting on necessary changes in a 
timely manner to protect the long-term inter-
ests of the Bank

e.

Overseeing the integrity, independence and 
effectiveness of the Bank’s policies and pro-
cedures for reporting fraud and other illegal 
activities

k.

Overseeing the Bank’s policies on salaries 
and benefits, including monitoring and review-
ing executive compensation and assessing 
whether it is aligned with the Bank’s risk cul-
ture and risk appetite

f.

Establishing, along with Bank’s officers, the 
Bank’s risk appetite, taking into account the 
competitive and regulatory landscape in the 
banking industry and the Bank’s long-term 
interests, risk exposure and ability to manage 
risk effectively

l.

Overseeing implementation of the Bank’s gov-
ernance framework and periodically review-
ing that it remains appropriate in the light of 
material changes to the Bank’s size, complex-
ity, geographical footprint, business strategy, 
markets and regulatory requirements

bility for the Bank’s business strategy and financial 

soundness, key personnel decisions, organisation-

al structure, governance framework and practic-
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es, risk management and compliance obligations.

The key roles and responsibilities of the Board  

include: The Board regularly receives and re-

views reports on internal control; and is of the 

view that the system of internal controls that 

has been instituted throughout the Bank is 

sound and adequate to safeguard the share-

holders’ investments and the Bank’s assets.

The Bank has instituted an on-going process for 

identifying, evaluating and managing the signifi-

cant risks faced by the Bank. This process includes 

updating the system when there are changes to the 

business environment or regulatory guidelines. The 

process has been in place during the year under 

review and up to the date of approval of this state-

ment; and is regularly reviewed by the Board. The 

role of Management is to implement the Board’s 

policies, procedures and guidelines on risks and 

controls, to identify and evaluate the risks faced, 

and to design, operate and monitor a suitable sys-

tem of internal controls to manage these risks.

MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITY 
The Management is overall responsible for imple-

menting the Bank’s policies and processes to iden-

tify, evaluate, measure, monitor and report on risks 

as well as the effectiveness of the internal control

systems, taking appropriate and timely remedial  

actions as required.

Its roles include: -

• Identifying and evaluating the risks relevant  

 to the Bank’s business and achievement of its 

 business objectives and strategies;

• Formulating relevant policies and procedures to  

 manage risks and the conduct of business;

• Designing and implementing the risk manage- 

 ment framework and internal control system,  

 and monitoring its effectiveness; Impleme- 

 nting policies approved by the Board;

• Implementing remedial actions to address com- 

 pliance deficiencies as directed by the Board; 

     and

• Reporting in a timely manner to the Board on any 

 changes to the risks and the remedial actions 

 taken.

Accordingly, the Management has provided assur- 

ance to the Board that the Bank’s risk manage- 

ment and internal control system is operating adeq- 

uately and effectively with the necessary processes 

in place.

RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK
uab has in place a risk management framework 

approved by the Board for identifying, measuring, 

monitoring and reporting of significant risks faced 

by the Bank in the achievement of the Bank’s busi-

ness objectives and strategies.

The Bank’s risk management framework ensures 

that there is an effective on-going process to iden-

tify, evaluate and manage risk across the Bank and 

is represented in the following diagram:
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RISK GOVERNANCE AND OVERSIGHT 
The Board, through its Board Risk Committee (BRC) 

provides oversight on the risk management activi-

ties for the Bank to ensure that the Bank’s risk man-

agement processes are functioning effectively.

The BRC also assists the Board to review the Bank’s  

overall risk management philosophy, frameworks, 

policies and models, methodologies and guide-

lines, risk tolerance and other risk related matters 

of the Bank. Approval of risk policies by the Board is 

obtained where necessitated by regulatory 

uab bank Risk Governance

Board of Directors
The Board of Directors provide overall risk oversight including defining risk appetite and

governing structure 

Board Risk
Committee

Board Audit
Committee

Board Advisory & 
Strategy

Committee

Board Credit 
Committee

Board Nomination
& Remuneration

Committee

Senior Management
Responsible for the implementation of policies and procedures to manage risks

Management Committee

Asset Liability 
Committee

Credit Committee
Disciplinary
Committee

Product
Committee

Management
Audit Committee

Lines of Defence

1st Line 2nd Line 3rd Line

Risk Takers and Owners
Manage day-to-day risk inher-

ent in the business

Risk Oversight & Control
Ensure risk framework, policies 
and appetite are within estab-

lished limits

Audit
Provide independent assur-

ance on risk management and 
controls

requirements. Amongst the other committees set- 

up in the Bank to manage specific areas of risk are 

the Asset and Liability Committee, Management 

Credit Committee and Board Credit Committee 

with their scope of responsibility as defined in their 

respective terms of references.

Risk Appetite
Risk appetite for the Bank is defined as the amount 

and the type of risks that the Bank is willing to accept 

in pursuit of its strategic and business objectives. 

Governance
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Risk tolerance on the other hand, is the acceptable 

level of variation relative to the achievement of the 

Bank’s strategic and business objectives. It is mea-

sured in the same units as the related objectives. 

It translates risk appetite into operational met-

rics, and it can be defined at any level of the Bank.

The defined risk appetite and risk tolerance are 

periodically reviewed by the Management and 

the Board in line with the Bank’s business strate-

gies and operating environment. Such review in-

cludes identifying and setting new risk appetite 

metrics for the business entity or removal of risk 

appetite metrics that are no longer applicable 

as well as updates on the risk appetite thresh-

olds to be in line with the Bank’s business strat-

egy and risk posture. The main business and op-

erations inherent risks that were considered in 

the risk appetite review include regulatory com-

pliance risk, credit risk, market and liquidity risk.

Risk Management Processes
The risk management processes within the Bank  

seek to identify, evaluate, measure, monitor and  

control risk so that risk exposures are adequately 

managed and the expected returns adequately  

compensate the risks.

•    Identification: The identification and analysis of 

  the existing and potential risks is a continuing 

 process, in order to facilitate and ensure that the 

 risks can be managed and controlled within 

 the risk appetite of the Bank, where necessary.

•  Measurement: Risks are measured, assessed  

    and aggregated using comprehensive qualita- 

    tive and quantitative risk measurement metho- 

    dologies, and the process also serves as an im- 

       portant tool as it provides an assessment of ca-  

     pital adequacy and solvency. 

•  Controlling and Monitoring: Controls, triggers  

 and limits are used to manage risk exposures 

 and to facilitate early identification of potential 

 problem on a timely basis.

• Analytics and Reporting: Risk analysis repo- 

 rts  prepared at the respective entities and con- 

  solidated level as well as business level are  

   regularly escalated to the Senior Management 

  and relevant Boards Committees to ensure  

    that the risks identified remain within the esta- 

   blished appetite and to support an informed 

     decision making processes.

Risk Documentation and Infrastructure
The Bank recognises that effective implementat- 

ion of the risk management system and process 

must be supported by a robust set of document- 

ation and infrastructure. Towards this end, the Bank  

has established frameworks, policies and other  

relevant control documents to ensure clearly  

defined practices and processes are implemen- 

ted consistently across the Bank.

In terms of risk infrastructure, the Bank has organ- 

ised its resources and talents into specific functions,

and invested in technology, including data mana- 

gement, to support the Bank’s risk management 

activities.

Risk Culture
Risk management is integral to all aspects of 

the Bank’s activities and is the responsibility of 

all employees across the Bank. In line with reg-

ulatory requirements and industry best prac-

tices, the Bank subscribes to the principle that 

“Risk and Compliance is Everyone’s Responsi-

bility” and hence, risk management is a core re
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sponsibility of the respective businesses and  

operating units.

Guided by the said principle, the Bank has launched 

a Risk Culture Awareness programme which com-

prises training and periodical bulletins to all staff to 

promote a healthy risk culture. A strong risk culture

minimises the Bank’s exposure to financial and 

non-financial risks including reputational impact,  

over time.

Major risks arising from the Bank’s day-to-day  

activities in the financial services industry 

comprise credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk and 

operational risk.

KEY INTERNAL CONTROL PROCESSES
To ensure that a sound system of controls is in place, 

the Board has established primary processes in re-

viewing the adequacy and integrity of the system 

of internal controls. The primary processes include:

• Regular and comprehensive management repo- 

 rts are made available to the Board Advisory  

 and Strategy Committee on a monthly basis,  

 covering financial performance and key business 

 indicators, which allow for effective monitoring 

 of significant variances between actual perfor- 

 mance against budgets and plans;

• Clearly defined delegation of responsibilities  

 to committees of the Board and to Management 

 including organisation structures and appropr- 

 iate authority levels; 

• A risk management framework, code of ethics, 

 human resource policies and performance rew- 

 ard system to support business objectives, risk 

 management and the system of internal control; 

• Defined policies and procedures to control app- 

 lications and the environment of computer infor- 

 mation systems;

• Regular updates of internal policies and proce- 

 dures, to adapt to changing risk profiles and 

 address operational deficiencies; 

• Regular reviews of the Bank’s activities by the 

 Bank’s Internal Audit, to assess the effective- 

 ness of the control environment and to highlight  

 significant control gaps impacting the Bank; 

• Documentation and periodic assessment of  

 controls and processes by all businesses and 

     support units for managing key risks; and 

• Regular Senior Management meetings to review, 

 identify, discuss and resolve strategic, operati- 

 onal, financial and key management issues.

The key processes established by the Board that  

provide effective governance and oversight of  

internal control systems include:

• Organisation Structure

• Policies and Procedures

• Authority Limits

• Information Technology Security 

• Budgeting Process

• Human Capital Management

• Codes of Ethics and Conducts

• Anti-Money Laundering Policy

• Fraud Risk Management Policy 

• Business Continuity Management 

• Performance Review
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• Whistleblowing Policy

• Incident Management Reporting

• Board and Management Committees

• Compliance 

INTERNAL AUDIT 
Internal Audit (“IA”) reports functionally to the BAC  

and is independent of the operations and activit- 

ies it audits. The main responsibility of IA is to provi- 

de an independent appraisal on the adequacy and 

effectiveness of the Bank’s risk management, inte- 

rnal control and governance processes implem- 

ented by the Management.

The internal audit covers all key activities of  

the Bank, including that of its branches, business 

and functional units.

IA adopts a risk-based approach in determining  

the auditable units and frequency of audits in line 

with the Bank’s key risks, strategies and areas of 

focus, which are identified based on IA’s risk asse- 

ssment methodology.

The areas to be audited are documented in the 

internal audit plan that is developed based on 

a risk-based approach and is approved by the 

BAC annually. Audit reports which include de-

tailed audit findings, IA’s comments and recom-

mendations, and Management’s response are 

tabled to MAC and BAC on a quarterly basis.

The established MAC is tasked to ensure that is-

sues raised by IA, external auditor and regulators 

are addressed within an appropriate and agreed 

timeline. Confirmation to this effect must be pro-

vided by Management to IA for verification before 

the issues concerned can be closed at the MAC.

ASSESSMENT OF RISK MANAGEMENT AND
INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM

The Board, through the BAC and BRC confirms that  

it has reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of  

the Bank’s risk management and internal control 

system. 

Based on the updates from its Board Committees  

and the assurance received from the Management,  

the Board is of the view that the Bank’s risk mana- 

gement and internal control system is operating  

adequately and effectively for the financial year  

under review and up to the date of approval of 

 this Statement.
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RISK MANAGEMENT OVERVIEW
Effective risk management is integral to the 

Bank’s business success. The Bank’s approach to 

risk management is to ensure that risks are man-

aged within the levels established by the Bank’s 

various senior management committees and ap-

proved by the Board and/or its committees. The 

risk management targets are also aligned with 

the Bank’s overall Strategy and Business Plan to 

ensure a coherent convergence by all parts of the 

Bank to its ultimate objectives.

RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK 

The Risk Management Framework governs the 

management of risks in the Bank, as follows:

Risk Governance and Oversight

Risk Appetite

Risk Management Process

Risk Documentation

Risk 
Identification

Risk 
Measurement

Risk 
Control

Risk 
Monitoring

Risk Analytics
and Reporting

Risk Infreastruture

Risk Culture

The Risk Management Framework is represented in the following diagram:

• It provides a holistic overview of the risk and 

control environment of the Bank, with risk  

management aimed towards loss minimi- 

sation and protection against losses which 

may occur through, principally, the failure of  

effective checks and controls in the Bank.

• It sets out the strategic progression of risk  

management of the Bank towards becoming  

a  value creation  enterprise. This is realised  

through building up capabilities and infra- 

structure in risk management sophistica- 

tion, and enhanced risk quantification  

to optimise risk-adjusted returns.

Governance
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Board Responsibility
The Board of Directors (‘the Board”) is cognisant 

of its overall responsibility in the establishment of 

a sound risk management and internal control sys-

tem as well as reviewing its adequacy and effective 

ness.

The Board has established the following mecha- 

nism to ensure that the risks are managed within  

the tolerance level set to achieve the Bank’s busi- 

ness objectives:

• Set the overall risks appetite and ensure that  

     mechanisms are in place to effectively mitigate       

     risk. 

• Ensure that appropriate policies, procedures  

RISK GOVERNANCE AND ORGANISATION

    and controls are in place to manage such risks.  

• Ensure that arrangements are in place for the 

  effective reporting on all issues related to the  

 functioning of the risk management framework.  

 To assist in the managing of risk, the Bank has  

     established a governance structure that ensures  

effective oversights of risks and internal controls.  

The 5 Committees are as follow:

• Board Advisory & Strategy Committee

• Board Risk Committee

• Board Credit Committee

• Board Audit Committee

• Board Nomination & Remuneration Committee

Senior Management Responsibility
The Management is responsible for implementing  

the Board’s policies and procedures to manage  

risks in accordance to the risk appetite set. Their 

roles include: -

• Identify and evaluate risks relevant to the Bank’s  

 business, and the achievement of its business 

 objectives.

• Formulate and implement policies and proced- 

 ures to manage these risks, as approved by the 

 Board.

• Design, implement and monitor the effective  

Governance
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BOARD

BOARD
COMMITTEES

MANAGEMENT

MANAGEMENT
COMMITTEES

AD-HOC WORKING
COMMITTEES

BUSINESS & FUNCTIONAL UNITS

Oversight by Board and 
Board Committees 

Management and Operations of the 
Bank by Senior Leadership Teams, 
complemented by various 
committees

Working Committees with specific 
focus and task

Independent risk
management, com-
pliance and audit 
functions

4

1

2

3
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THIRD LINESECOND LINE

Risk Oversight & Control

FIRST LINE
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 implementation of risk management and inter- 

     nal control system.

• Report in a timely manner to the Board any chan- 

 ges to the risks and the corrective actions taken. 

The Bank has also established Senior Manage-

ment Committees to assist in making business de-

cisions with due consideration to risks and returns. 

The main senior management committees are: 

• Management Committee

• Asset Liability Committee

• Credit Committee

• Disciplinary Committee

• Product Committee

• Management Audit Committee

Each sub-committee of the Bank both at Board 

and Management levels has its Terms of Reference.

RISK CULTURE 

Proactive risk ownership is important for effective  

management of risk. This promotes a risk awaren- 

ess culture throughout the Bank. 

The Bank adopts a three (3) Lines of Defence stru- 

cture and its culture ensures that risk awar- 

eness and account-ability is also the responsibility  

of every employee in the Bank.

The three Lines of Defence is described as follows: -

The day-to-day business activ-

ities are run by the respective 

business and support functions 

and they have the primary resp 

onsibility for managing risk by 

implementing and executing 

effective controls. These con-

trols include compliance to risk 

policies, limits and appetite and 

establishing adequate supervi-

sory and managerial controls. 

In the day-to-day activities, re-

porting of control breakdowns, 

inadequacy of processes and 

unexpected risk events are also 

compulsory.

The risk and control oversight 

functions and the Risk, Compli-

ance and Financial Control Offi-

cers provide the Second Line of 

Defence. Risk frameworks, poli-

cies, appetite and limits are es-

tablished within which the busi-

ness functions must operate. The 

risk and control oversight func-

tions are also responsible for the 

independent review and mon-

itoring of the Bank’s risk profile 

and highlighting any significant 

vulnerabilities and risk issues to 

the respective management and 

board committees. 

Independent assurance to the 

Board Audit Committee, the 

main Board and CEO, on the 

effectiveness of the risk man-

agement and control structure, 

policies, frameworks, systems 

and processes is provided by 

the Bank’s internal and external 

auditors who conduct risk based 

audits. Independent 3rd party 

specialists are also employed 

to provide specialized opinions 

and views on specific areas. 

AuditRisk Takers & Owners
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RISK APPETITE 

The Bank has established risk appetite indicators 

to define the amount of risk that the Bank is able 

and willing to take in pursuit of its business objec-

tives. The objective of establishing risk appetite in-

dicators is not to limit risk-taking but to ensure that 

the Bank’s risk profile remains within well-defined 

and tolerable boundaries which are aligned to the 

Bank’s business strategy. 

The risk appetite defines suitable thresholds and 

limits across key areas including but not limited 

to credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk and oper-

ational risk. Our risk-taking approach focuses on 

businesses which we understand and are well 

equipped to manage the risk involved. Through this 

approach, we aim to minimize earnings volatility 

and concentration risk and ensure that our capital  

and funding base remain intact. This allows us to 

be a stable partner with our customers through 

changing economic conditions and cycles.

The Bank’s risk appetite framework is updated and 

approved annually by the Board. Senior manage-

ment monitors and reports the risk limits to the 

Board Risk Committee.

Basel Framework 
The Bank observes the Central Bank of Myanmar 

framework for Capital Adequacy and this is based 

on Basel 1. 

The Bank continues to adopt a prudent and proac-

tive approach in navigating the evolving regulatory 

landscape, with emphasis on sound risk manage-

ment principles in delivering sustainable returns.

Governance
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SIGNIFICANT RISKS
Credit Risk 

The risk of loss arising from customers’ or counter-

parties’ failure to fulfil their financial and contract- 

ual obligations in accordance to the agreed terms.  

It stems primarily from the Bank’s lending/finan- 

cing, trade finance and its funding, investment and  

trading activities from both on- and off- balance  

sheet transactions.

Credit risk is the single largest risk that the Bank 

faces in its core business as a commercial bank,  

arising primarily from loans and other lending rel- 

ated commitments to Retail, SME and Corporate  

borrowers. Treasury operations and investments  

also expose the Bank to counterparty and issuer  

credit risks.

Credit Risk Management Approach 
Credit risk management is conducted in a holistic 

manner. Credit underwriting standards are artic-

ulated in an approved credit policy which is de-

veloped for the assurance of asset quality that is 

in line with the Bank’s risk appetite. Industry best 

practices are instilled in the continual updating of 

the Bank’s credit policy including independent as-

sessment of credit proposals and adoption of multi-

tiered delegated lending authorities spanning 

from individuals to credit approving committees.

The Credit Management Department is responsible 

for the reporting, analysis and management of all 

elements of credit risk. It develops bank-wide credit 

policies and guidelines, and focuses on facilitating 

business development within a prudent, consistent 

and efficient credit risk management framework. 

Management Credit Committee (“MCC”) is re-



sponsible for ensuring adherence to the Board ap-

proved credit risk appetite as well as the effec-

tiveness of credit risk management. MCC is the 

senior management committee empowered to 

approve or reject all counterparty credit and lend-

ing/financing up to the defined threshold limits. 

The Board Credit Committee’s (“BCC”) main func-

tions are (i) affirming, vetoing or imposing more 

stringent conditions on credits of the Bank which 

are duly approved by the MCC (ii) overseeing 

the management of impaired and high risk ac-

counts, and (iii) approving credit transactions to 

connected parties up to the defined threshold 

limits. BCC also endorses policy loans/financ-

ing and loans/financing required by CBM to be 

referred to the respective Boards for approval.

Regular risk reporting is made to the senior man-

agement, board committees and the Board. 

These reports include various credit risk aspects 

such as portfolio quality, credit migration, ex-

pected losses, and concentration risk exposures 

by business portfolio. Such reporting allows se-

nior management to identify adverse credit 

trends, take prompt corrective actions, and en-

sure appropriate risk-adjusted decision-making.

The Bank also ensures that internal process-

es and credit underwriting standards are ad-

hered to before credit proposals are approved.

• Credit Approval Process with the following 

 characteristics:

 - the credit origination and approval functions  

  are clearly segregated. 

 - credit approval authority is delegated to offic-

  ers based on their experience, seniority and  

  track record

 - credit approval is based on the borrower’s  

  credit rating based on a credit rating system 

 - credit policies and credit guidelines that are  

  periodically reviewed to ensure their continued 

  relevance to the Bank’s business strategy and  

  business environment.

• Credit Concentration Risk arising from a single  

 party large exposure or from multiple exposures  

 that are closely related. This is managed by set- 

 ting exposure limits on obligors, portfolios, bor- 

 rowers, industries and geographical areas. 

• Credit Monitoring and Remedial with the Bank  

 regularly monitoring credit exposures, portfolio 

 performance and emerging risks that may impact 

 its credit risk profile. The Board and Senior Man- 

 agement are updated on credit trends through  

 internal risk reports.

• Delinquency Monitoring is closely monitored sin- 

 ce the delinquency of borrowing accounts is a  

 key indicator of credit quality.  An account is con- 

 sidered as delinquent when payment is not re-

 ceived on due date. Any delinquent accounts, 

 including a revolving credit facility (such as an 

 overdraft) with limit excesses, is closely monit- 

 ored and managed through a disciplined pro- 

 cess by officers from business units and risk ma- 

 nagement function. Where appropriate, such 

 accounts are also subject to more frequent cre- 

 dit reviews.

• Classification of Loans are made in compliance 

 to the guidelines from the Central Bank of Mya- 
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 nmar. Performing loans are classified against  

 their Credit ratings and categorised under  

 “Standard”, “Watch” and “Substandard” whilst  

 non-performing loans are categorised as  ‘Dou- 

 btful’ or ‘Loss’ in accordance with the Bank’s  

 Policy. Any account which is delinquent (or in  

 excess for a revolving credit facility such as 

 an overdraft) for more than 90 days will be  

 categorised automatically as ‘Non-Performing’. 

 In addition, the Bank’s Policy requires that any 

 account that exhibits weaknesses which is likely 

 to jeopardise repayment on existing terms may 

 be categorized as ‘Non-Performing’ in an appro- 

 priate category.

• Impairment provisions are based on Central  

 Bank of Myanmar regulations and these are lar- 

 gely on loans that are unsecured. In addition, a 

 General Provision of 2% on all loans is required. 

• Write-Off of a Loan is made when the prospect 

  of a recovery is considered poor or when all fea-

 sible avenues of recovery have been exhausted.

The Notes to Accounts sets out various tables 

that indicate the position of the Bank in the above  

matters.

Market Risk 
Market Risk is the risk of losses arising from adverse 

movements in market indicators, such as interest 

rates, credit spreads, currency exchange rates and 

certain exposures in the Banking Book. Our Bank’s 

market risk is managed by the Treasury  Depart-

ment and it focuses on two main components na- 

mely Interest Rate risk and Foreign Exchange risk. 

Market Risk Management Approach  
The Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO) perfo- 

rms a critical role in the oversight and management  

of the market risk. Presently the Central Bank of  

Myanmar allows banks to quote both Deposit and 

Loan interest rates within a narrow band. The prim- 

ary objective of Interest Rate risk management is  

to protect and enhance capital or economic net 

worth through adequate, stable and reliable grow- 

th in net interest earnings under a broad range of  

possible economic conditions.

Foreign Exchange risk is managed through the 

Foreign Exchange Open Position which measures  

the mismatch in the assets and liabilities of vari- 

ous currencies. A Net Open Position limit is set by 

the Central Bank of Myanmar. 

Liquidity Risk
The risk of the Bank being unable to main-

tain sufficient liquid assets to meet its finan-

cial commitments and obligations when they fall 

due and transact at a reasonable cost. Liquidity 

risk also arises from the inability to manage un-

planned decreases or changes in funding sources.

Liquidity Risk Management Approach 

The Bank maintains sufficient liquidity to fund its 

day-to-day operations, meet deposit withdraw-

als and loan/financing disbursements, partici-

pate in new investments, and repay borrowings 

and is well-above its regulatory requirement. 

Liquidity risk is managed in accordance with a 

framework of policies, controls and limits. In addi-

tion to these controls and policies, the Bank also 

actively manages and monitors daily Central Bank 

of Myanmar liquidity requirements.  These policies, 

controls and limits enable the Bank to monitor 

and manage liquidity risk to ensure that sufficient 

sources of funds are available over a range of mar-



ket conditions. These include minimizing excessive 

funding concentrations by diversifying the sources 

and terms of funding as well as maintaining a port-

folio of high quality and marketable liquid assets.

The Bank takes a conservative stance in its liqui- 

dity management by continuing to gather core de- 

posits, ensuring that liquidity limits are strictly  

adhered to and that there are adequate liquid 

assets to meet cash shortfalls. 

The distribution of deposits is managed actively 

to ensure a balance between cost effectiveness,  

continued accessibility to funds, and diversification  

of funding sources. Important factors in ensuring 

liquidity are competitive pricing, proactive manag- 

ement of the Bank’s core deposits and the main- 

tenance of customer confidence.

In the Notes of Accounts, the Bank presents the 

maturity mismatch analysis of the Bank’s various  

time bands relating to the cash inflows and out- 

flows based on contractual maturity arising from  

the Bank’s activities. The Bank also for its internal 

reporting applies internal models which makes 

behavioral adjustments on significant balance sh- 

eet items which differ from the Bank’s contractual 

profile in order to simulate a more likely maturity 

mismatch position.

Operational Risk
Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from in-

adequate or failed internal processes, people sys-

tems and/or external events which also includes IT, 

Legal and non-compliance risk. Potential loss may 

be in the form of financial loss or other damages,  

for example, loss of reputation and public confide- 

nce that will impact the Bank’s credibility and abi- 

lity to transact, maintain liquidity and obtain new  

business. 

Operational Risk Management Approach 
The Bank’s objective is to manage operational  

risk at appropriate levels relative to the markets 

in which the businesses operate. 

Operational Risk is managed through established  

operational risk management processes with an 

objective of ensuring these risks are identified, as-

sessed, measured, evaluated, treated, monitored  

and reported with an appropriate governance 

oversight. 

The strategy for managing operational risk in the 

Bank is anchored on the three lines of defence con-

cept with the 1st Line of Defence being business 

units, departments and retail branches who own  

and manage risk as part of their day-to-day activity, 

2nd Line of Defence being independent risk func- 

tions and 3rd Line of Defence being Internal  

Audit and External Audit who provide independ- 

ent assurance

Several risk mitigation policies and program- 

mes are in place to maintain a sound operating  

environment. This includes identifying the source 

of risk which may include People, Policy, Proce- 

sses, Procedure or Platform & Systems.

A Product Committee has been established to ens- 

ure that risks associated with new/variation prod- 

ucts and services are identified, analysed and  

addressed prior to product launch and is subject  

to periodic reviews.

A Management Audit Committee has been estab-

lished to ensure that all findings of the 3rd Line of 

Defence namely Internal Auditors, External Auditors 
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and Central Bank Inspectors are rectified by the 

1st Line of Defence particularly at root cause level.

Regulatory Non-Compliance Risk 

Losses arising from regulatory sanctions, financial 

loss or reputational damage which a financial in-

stitution may suffer as a result of failure to comply 

with all laws, rules, standards and codes of conduct.

Regulatory Non-Compliance Risk 
This risk is identified, monitored and managed  

through a structured framework of policies, proce- 

dures and guidelines maintained by the Bank. The  

framework also manages the risk of breaches and 

sanctions relating to Anti-Money Laundering and  

Countering the Financing of Terrorism. The Bank’s 

Compliance unit oversees the compliance risk of 

the Bank.

The Bank actively manages fraud and bribery 

risks. A whistle-blowing programme is in place 

and all employees are guided by a Code of Eth-

ics. An Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy is in 

place with the relevant provisions. A quarterly  

Risk Newsletter has been instituted to heighten 

risk awareness amongst employees. Job rotation 

and block leave are imposed to provide better  

internal control against internal fraud.

OTHER RISKS

People Risk
People risks are risks to the organisation and its 

performance that can be attributed to the work-

force. They include behavioural actions, deliber-

ative (human fraud) and non-deliberative (human 

error), organisation structure, capabilities, deploy-

ment, mobility, attraction, retention, talent and 

succession management and issues pertaining to 

employee relations.

The Bank views the employees as a core asset. 

Therefore, it has put in place various initiatives to 

ensure that all employees are compliant, devel-

oped and aligned with the objectives of the Bank. 

Amongst all: -

• Code of Ethics

•  Employee Handbook

• Continuous Professional Development

• Annual Performance Review

• Talent & Succession Planning

Technological Risk 
The business risk associated with the use, owner-

ship, operation, involvement, influence and adop-

tion of Information Technology (IT) within an en-

terprise.

In order to mitigate cyber security threats, security 

tools are in place to strengthen end-point secu-

rity, and to detect of suspicious network traffics. 

Regular vulnerability assessment and penetration 

testing were also performed as part of the threat 

hunting to assess the IT environment for areas of 

weaknesses.

Legal Risk 
Legal risks are risks arising out of lawsuits or 

claims involving the Bank, developments in laws 

and regulations or non-compliance with applica-

ble laws, rules and professional standards. Legal 

Risk is monitored by the Legal Department of the 

Bank and where necessary, external lawyers are 

appointed.

Reputational Risk 
Reputational risk is the risk arising from negative 



perception on the part of customers, counterpar-

ties, shareholders, investors, debt-holders, market 

analysts, other relevant parties or regulators that 

can adversely affect a bank’s ability to maintain 

existing, or establish new, business relationship 

and continued access to sources of funding (e.g. 

through the interbank or securitisation markets). 

The Bank recognises the impact of reputational 

risk and the Coporate Branding Department moni-

tors all activities in the social, print and other forms 

of media and communications. 

Environmental and Social Risk
There is an increasing expectation from the stake-

holders, locally and globally, for organisations to 

shift their focus from short-term gains to long-

term value creation.

Sustainable Finance allows us to design our lend-

ing and investment portfolio, with Environmental 

and Social Risk (ESR) considerations, helping the 

Bank operate with resilience and deliver positive 

impact

The Bank is mindful of the importance of sustain-

ability, and thus took various initiatives, for exam-

ple collaboration with World Wide Fund for Nature 

– Myanmar to lead and promote Environmental, 

Social and Governance (ESG) integration in the 

Myanmar’s Financial System.

A separate sustainability statement in the Annu-

al Report addresses the Bank’s response towards 

the broader environment and other social risks.
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A year of change and a new focus
2019 was a year of change and an exciting period of navigating our talent towards a new uab.

In the course of the year, our employees experienced several changes with uab adopting:

· A new name

· A new bank logo

· A new Purpose and Mission Statement

· A new and revitalised Code of Ethics

· A new and award-winning Head Office space

With the changes, 2019 was an exciting year focusing on preparing our diverse work force towards the 

right mind set, skills and tools towards our new values:

A desire to          connect. 
The passion to      create. 
The courage to lead     change.



Our People Profile 

Male
907

Female
941

Total
1,848

Senior 
Management

Executive

Middle 
Management

 30
1.6%

 981
53.1%

 362
19.6%

18-30 year Old
856
46%

51-60 year Old
72
4%

31-40 year Old
656
35%

41-50 year Old
253
14%

Non Executive

 475
25.7%

Above 60 year Old
11
1%

As an equal opportunity employer, the Bank 

supports gender diversity and equal gender 

participation in the workplace.

Our Employee Engagements
Several engagement sessions were held 

with employees in order to provide clari-

ty on the new changes and direction of the 

Bank. These sessions allowed the leadership 

and employees to connect with each other. 

Amongst all, the employee engagement ses-

sions with Senior Management included:

• Ten (10) tea sessions throughout the year 

between Head Office staff and CEO

• Two (2) Movie Sessions & Townhall with a 

total of 900 uabians

• Drivers Town Hall in September 2019 at-

tended by 108 uab drivers

• Marching to uab Tower @ Times City in  

October 2019 by 323 uabians to signify the 

move to the new Head Office

• Friday Talk in November 2019 at uab Tower 

@ Times City attended by 150 uabians

• Managers Conference in  November 2019 at  

Heritage Bagan Hotel attended by 145 

Branch and Head Office leaders
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Our People Development
Over the period from Octo-

ber 2018 to September 2019, 

training and development con-

tinued to play a crucial part in 

equipping our work force. The 

Bank continued its emphasis 

on blended learning though our 

principle of 70-20-10 i.e.

• 70% - Learning & Devel-

opment through job related 

experience

• 20% - Learning & Devel-

opment through interaction 

with others

• 10% - Learning & Develop-

ment through formal and 

structured training courses

A large part of learning was 

through on-the-job experienc-

es and training. In the leader-

ship development of our peo-

ple, mentoring and coaching 

has been encouraged and 

expected trait amongst the 

leaders at uab. Further, a large 

part of our employee engage-

ment activity was also spent 

on interacting with and devel-

oping our people. Our three-

fold values of Connect· Create· 

Change· embody this concept 

of development.

Formal learning through class 

room, seminars and workshops 

were conducted as follows:

• 835 employees attended 

formal classroom training

• 150 senior and middle man-

agement attended formal 

development conference

• 1,800 formal training and 

development man-days re-

corded 

Looking forward into the new 

year, the move into our new 

work space at uab Tower @ 

Times City also brought with it 

a large area of training facili-

ties with capacity of taking up 

to 250 people at any one time. 

This enhanced ability bodes 

well to extend our capacity for 

formal class room training in 

the new financial year.

Our Productivity Increase
With the changes put in place 

and the good performance 

of the Bank, we are pleased 

to note the improvements in 

productivity with Profit Before 

Tax per employee increasing 

to MMK 10.4 mil for the period 

the ending 30 September 2019 

compared to MMK 4.7 mil for 

the previous 12 months.

These productive gains are en-

couraging and the early signs 

moving into the new financial 

year is that the increase is ex-

pected to further improve.

Our Rewards and Remunera-
tion
The Bank’s total compensation 

comprises two main compo-

nents:

• Fixed pay which includes 

base salary and fixed al-

lowances

• Variable pay which re-

wards employees based 

on the performance of the 

Bank, business functions 

Human Capital Report

Human Capital Report



and an employee’s individ-

ual performance.

The Bank also provides staff 

loan facilities to its employees 

in the form of personal, vehi-

cle and housing loans. Eligi-

ble staff are also entitled to a 

credit card with a prescribed 

credit limit.

We take a holistic view of var-

ious factors to determine and 

to ensure that an employee’s 

total compensation is fair. This 

is done with the objectives to 

reward contributions, motivate 

and retain talents.

Performance-based variable pay 

is linked to the performance of 

the Bank, business functions 

and the employee’s individual 

achievement of performance 

targets. 

The performance of each em-

ployee is evaluated based on a 

mix of performance objectives, 

competencies and behaviours 

that uphold the uab bank Val-

ues. Variable pay of each em-

ployee is dependent and dif-

ferentiated by the employee’s 

performance at the end of ev-

ery year.

Given the productivity increas-

es over 2019, we are pleased 

to note that uabians were able 

to share in a larger bonus pot 

over the year.

Our Focus for 2020
With the foundation that we 

have laid over the last year, 

we look to unlock the potential 

that we see in the diverse tal-

ent that we presently have and 

hope to on-board.

Our efforts will be centered on 

bringing in the right talent into 

the organisation, reinforcing 

our line of sight towards our 

Purpose and ensuring com-

mitment, creativity, operational 

excellence and customer cen-

tricity as we continue to march

towards : “The courage to  
lead change”.
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As a leading financial institution in Myanmar, we are focused 
on, “Leading the way towards a better Myanmar, humanising 
banking, connecting people, creating opportunities and chang-
ing lives”.

We define the term “Sustainability” as economic development 
that meets the needs of the present without compromising the 
ability of future generations to meet their own needs.

“We firmly believe that as an industry that plays an instrumen-
tal role in economic growth and global trade, banks could be 
a powerful force for change, to create a huge positive impact 
not just economically, but also socially and environmentally.”
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BOARD STATEMENT ON SUSTAINABILITY

The Board is committed to responsi-
ble banking and understands that re-
sponsible approach to business is a 
decisive factor determining the long-
term success of the Bank. Economic, 
environmental and social issues, in-
cluding climate change and human 
rights, matter in the communities and 
markets where we do business. We 
are integrating such considerations 
into our activities in order to under-
stand and assess risks in our business 
transactions, to pursue business op-
portunities by developing products 
and services, to appropriately man-
age our operations and supply chain 
and to meet the expectations of our 

diverse stakeholders. We are com-
mitted to meeting the regional, na-
tional and international environmen-
tal and social standards applicable 
to our business operations and ser-
vices, and to living up to the expecta-
tions and principles set out under the 
UN Global Compact, United Nations 
Guiding Principles on Business and 
Human Rights, the UNEP Statement 
of Commitment by Financial Institu-
tions on Sustainable Development, 
the Equator Principles and other ap-
plicable standards as they arise. Fur-
thermore, we aim to contribute to the 
realisation of the UN Sustainable De-
velopment Goals.



In promoting sustainable de-

velopment, we look to being a 

change agent and incorporat-

ing environmental and social 

considerations into our business 

so that we can impact people’s 

lives meaningfully. We believe 

in giving back to all stakehold-

ers which includes our employ-

ees, customers, shareholders, 

business partners, contractors, 

government and the community 

where we do business.

To ensure, we prioritise the is-

sues that have the most impact 

on the economy, society and the 

environment, and that most in-

fluence the decision-making of 

our stakeholders, we conducted 

a first formal stakeholder en-

gagement throughout 2019 and 

materiality analysis in Septem-

ber 2019.
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• Identification of the material 

issues to stakeholders and 

the Bank helps to formulate 

the strategy

• A robust process to identify 

the priority issues allows us 

to make an efficient resource 

allocation

• As materiality requires in-

ternal and external engage-

ment, materiality offers the 

opportunity for the Bank to 

gather stakeholder opinions 

and provide a solid founda-

tion for an on-going conver-

sation, strengthen the two 

way communication, build 

credibility and reputation

• Through materiality assess-

ment, we gain a better un-

derstanding of how to bet-

ter position our reporting to 

deliver meaningful insight on 

issues that matter both to us 

and stakeholders

• During the process, we iden-

tify other topics that are 

equally important because 

they safeguard the Bank’s 

credibility and hence con-

tribute to Bank’s long-term 

business success, albeit in-

directly

MATERIALITY  
CRITERIA
An issue is material to uab if it 

meets two conditions.

• It impacts our business in 

terms of growth, cost, risk or 

trust

• It is important to our stake-

holders such as customers, 

employees, Governments, in-

vestors, NGOs and business 

partners

In determining if an issue is ma-

terial, we also consider wheth-

er it is aligned with our Purpose 

and Mission, brand portfolio and 

geographical footprint and the 

degree to which we can affect 

change.

APPROACH WE 
USED FOR MATERI-
ALITY ASSESSMENT

The importance of continuous 

dialogue with stakeholders in-

creases for any organisation 

aiming to be responsible and 

sustainable. We value open di-

alogue with stakeholders even 

if expectations and interest of 

our stakeholders sometimes 

are in conflict. We try to resolve 

the differences fairly and win 

the acceptance of our actions. 

We engaged with stakeholder 

throughout 2019.

       

RELEVANCE OF 
ASSESSMENT

We engaged various stakeholders to understand specific Sus-

tainabiltiy issues relevant to them. 

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Customers

Shareholders

EmployeesRegulators

Business Partners

Community
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The materiality analysis is 

based on a continuous process 

that include consideration, if 

not compliance to, internation-

al CSR Standards. Following 

factors were considered while 

identifying material issues:

• Their importance to key 

stakeholders

• Alignment to our Mission

• Their CSR materiality (en-

vironmental, economic and 

social impact of issues)

• Their legal risks, if any

• Their impact on Bank’s rep-

utation

• Their possible impact on 

business performance

The issues identified were 

placed on a matrix (see below), 

their position relative to the 

degree of stakeholder interest 

and potential business impact. 

These results represent the 

material issues facing our busi-

ness. It shall be noted that all 

issues on the matrix regardless 

of where they fall are relevant 

to the Bank.

For clarity, we grouped issues 

as Governance, Environment, 

Society, or People.

        GOVERNANCE
Diversity: Includes efforts to 

improve diversity of Board, 

Management Committee and 

employees .

Risk Management and Risk 
Culture: This includes uab’s 
overall approach to assessing 

and managing risk across the 

business and individual busi-

ness units, products, services 

and transactions. 

Technology Risk and Informa-

 Important
Topics

Highly Material
Issues

Technology Risk
Information Security

Anti Financial Crime

Risk Management

Risk Cluture

Diversity

Employee Development &Training

Employee Commitment
Talent Management

Impact Investment

Climate Change

ES Risk

Social
Investment

Customer Satisfaction

Job Creation and Enterprise 
Development

Financial Inclusion

Human Rights

High

HighLow

Low

SIGNIFICANCE TO uab’s BUSINESS SUCCESS

IM
P

O
R

TA
N

C
E 

TO
 S

TA
KE

 H
O

LD
ER

S

MATERIALITY MATRIX
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tion Security: This means keep-

ing the information with us safe 

from external unwarranted in-

trusions.

Anti Financial Crime: This   

means Bank’s measures on an-

ti-money laundering and count-

er financing of terrorism.

         SOCIETY
Financial Inclusion: This in-

cludes development and in-

creased access to financial 

products and services, for un-

banked and underbanked seg-

ments.

Human Rights: This includes 

Bank’s approach to human 

rights issues.

Social Investment: This in-

cludes building stronger and in-

clusive communities.

Customer Satisfaction: This 

includes Bank’s approach to-

wards grievances redressal, 

measurement of customer sat-

isfaction.

SME Financing and Job Cre-
ation: This includes provision-

ing of financing to Small and 

Medium Enterprises and its 

consequent impact on job cre-

ation for the local economies.
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        ENVIRONMENT
Impact Investment: This in-

cludes investment into sectors 

and industries that contribute/

assist in Sustainable Develop-

ment Goals.

Climate Change: This includes 

financing of clean and renew-

able energy projects.

ES Risks: This includes integra-

tion of Environmental, Social 

and Governance factors into 

lending activity including cre-

ation of exclusion list.

       PEOPLE
Employee Commitment and 
Talent Management: This in-

cludes ability of the Bank to at-

tract and retain top talent and 

increase employee satisfaction 

in doing so.

Employee Training: This in-

cludes communication and 

training to employees on ESG 

issues.

MANAGEMENT AP-
PROACH TO SUS-
TAINABILITY

The Bank has identified four im-

pact areas based on materiali-

ty assessment by looking at the 

convergence between our core 

business as a financial service 

provider, and the needs of peo-

ple and business in Myanmar. 

The impact areas are:

• Financial Inclusion

• Job Creation and Enterprise 

Development

• Employee Development and 

Training

• Customer Satisfaction

We understand that our long-

term success is dependent 

upon stability and well-being 

of Myanmar. Our approach to 

sustainability is founded on a 

broad understanding of our 

duties as a financial services 

provider and our responsibil-

ities towards society and the 

environment, as well as our 

role as employer. Our values of 

Connect, Create and Change 

also overlap with Sustainable 

Development Goals and on this 

basis, we have identified three 

(3) main longer term approach-

es or themes towards sustain-

ability namely:

• Responsible Banking

• Responsible Financing

• Responsible Corporate Cit-

izenship

It is our corporate responsibility 

to build and grow a sustainable 

environment in which everyone 



prospers. It is in this environ-

ment of inclusiveness and con-

nection with our stakeholders 

that we are best able to grow 

our own business and work to-

wards our vision to be a lead-

ing bank in Myanmar.

Responsible  
Banking

Under this theme, we expound 

and evaluate on the four im-

pact areas identified in our ma-

teriality assessment as below:

FINANCIAL INCLUSION
In Financial Year 2018-2019, 

Bank provided 39 people with 

new housing loan so that they 

have their place to live. We un-

derstand that accessible and 

convenient digital channels are 

essential to broaden and deep-

en financial inclusion across 

Myanmar. To this effect, we re-

cently launched mobile bank-

ing and internet banking. Even 

more, we are currently involved 

in a development of a product 

which will help customer to 

open and operate an account 

from his/her fingertips.

JOB CREATION AND ENTER-
PRISE DEVELOPMENT

We work with 844 SMEs to 

develop their enterprises, pro-

viding them access to finance 

(investment of more than MMK 

74 bil) and ability to tap into the 

new markets.

Further, we are continuously 

developing financial products, 

which matches their require-

ments, including solutions to 

deal with cash flow and work-

ing capital challenges.

CUSTOMER SATISFACTION
Our success depends upon the 

trust of all our stakeholders. We 

seek to conduct our business 

in a fair and responsible way, 

Humanising Banking by offer-

ing our customers a fair deal 

in terms of pricing and quali-

ty of service for our products. 

The emphasis on sustainable 

growth and giving back to the 

stakeholders will continue to be 

important consideration mov-

ing forward as well.

The importance of being trans-

Percentage of SME Loan to Total Loan Portfolio

10%

90%

SME Loan

Others

parent in reporting financial 

and non-financial issues is piv-

otal in earning trust. We are 

committed to issue GRI In-

dex-Core Option and SASB In-

dex in 2020 as a part of proac-

tive approach for non-financial 

disclosure in Myanmar.

EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT 
AND TRAINING
People are at the core of uab 

bank and continued invest-

ment in our employees is a key 

priority. We are committed to 

creating a sustainable envi-

ronment for them to express 

and develop their full potential 

professionally and personal-

ly. Our objective is to offer our 

employees working conditions 

that allows them to fulfill their 

individual aspirations by rising 

to the challenges.

Offering motivating working 

conditions: We understand that 

employees need a goal that 
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gives meaning to their actions. 

To this, our employees support-

ed by Management and their 

HR Partner, have the opportu-

nities to develop professionally 

throughout their career with the 

Bank. Through constant job ro-

tations, our employees can also 

expect to perfect and expand 

their financial services knowl-

edge. We encourage contin-

uous learning and develop-

ment to ensure our people are 

equipped to meet the demands 

of rapidly changing, increasing-

ly digital and increasing regula-

tory requirements. Bank provid-

ed to training to 985 employees 

totaling 9,106 manhours of 

training, which was directed 

towards increasing employee 

professional competency.

As part of the uab Tower @ 

Times City development, a 

Training School has been es-

tablished on Level 23 of the 

Tower with a capacity to con-

duct training up to 250 people 

simultaneously.

We understand the importance 

of diverse workforce in success 

of the Bank. Every employee in 

the Bank has equal opportunity 

to grow irrespective of origin, 

gender, age, disability, sexu-

al orientation, gender identity, 

or affiliation with political, re-

ligious, union, organisation or 

minority group. This is our vision 

of diversity, which is an asset 

to our Bank and preserving and 

promoting it is another part of 

being a responsible employer. 

In Financial Year 2018-2019, 

435 staffs were promoted, of 

which 273 staffs were female. 

We also provided employment 

opportunities to 232 people 

and internship opportunities 

to 8 people in the last financial 

year.

With regards to human rights, 

we respect and promote hu-

man rights as described in the 

United Nations Declaration 

of Human Rights. Further, we 

respect and promote labour 

standards as described in the 

International Labour Organi-

sation Declaration on Funda-

mental Principles and Rights at 

Work and related conventions.

Responsible  
Financing

We are committed to responsi-

ble financing and non-financial 

factors are also taken into con-

sideration. At uab, in the con-

duct of credit approvals and 

financing, all Credit Commit-

tees that conduct a review of 

the uab’s customers and trans-

actions are required to ensure 

sustainability of projects as 

a process of approval and re-

view. These are specific areas 

of concern:

ENVIRONMENT
Our customers are expected 

to know and take into account 

the potential impact of their 

activities on the environment 

and seek to avoid or, when 

avoidance is not possible, mi-

nimise these impacts. In larger 

companies that seek financ-

ing from the Bank for specific 

projects, they are expected to 

have appropriate policies and 

programs for these projects to 

prevent and mitigate adverse 

impact to the environment.

An exclusion list has been es-

tablished which defines sec-

tors or types of customers 

that do not fit into uab bank’s 

profile. We will not facilitate fi-

nancing to entities engaged in 

the activities listed below.

• Production, trading and 

maintenance of weapons 

and munitions of any kind.

• Trade in or unauthorized 

catching of wildlife or wild-

life products

• Production or trade in any 



product or activity deemed 

illegal under Myanmar laws 

or regulations or interna-

tional conventions and 

agreements, or subject to 

international bans, such 

as pharmaceuticals, pes-

ticides/herbicides, ozone 

depleting substances.

• Hunting marine mammals 

and shark finning

• Using of dynamite and poi-

son in fishery practices

• Activities involving harm-

ful or exploitative forms 

of forced labor or harmful 

child labour

• Activities involving people 

smuggling of any kind 

HUMAN RIGHTS
All customers are expected to 

respect and promote human 

rights as described in the Unit-

ed Nations Declaration of Hu-

man Rights in their business 

decisions and are expected to 

use their influence with their 

suppliers to do the same. For 

unavoidable adverse impacts, 

they are expected to provide 

for and cooperate in remedi-

ation through legitimate pro-

cesses.

LABOUR STANDARDS
All Customers are expected to 

respect and promote labour 

standards as described in the 

International Labour Organi-

zation Declaration on Funda-

mental Principles and Rights at 

Work and related conventions. 

They are expected to do so in 

their own operations, and to 

use their influence with their 

suppliers to do the same. For 

unavoidable adverse impacts, 

they are expected to provide 

for and cooperate in remedi-

ation through legitimate pro-

cesses.

Responsible  Corpo-
rate Citizenship

We define corporate citizen-

ship as an approach to busi-

ness through which we work to 

make a positive impact on so-

ciety, the environment and the 

economy. 

We believe that corporate citi-

zenship is about integrity, busi-

ness ethics and responsible 

governance. It all starts with 

a commitment to conducting 

ourselves with integrity, in ev-

ery action, every transaction 

and every part of our busi-

ness, being transparent and 

accountable, and contributing 

to the well-being of our stake-

holders.

We are committed to making 

economic contributions to our 

community through paying our 

fair share in taxes together 

with the compulsory deduction 

of taxes from our employees. 

We contributed MMK 4.3billion 

to tax coffers of Myanmar as 

Commercial Tax for Financial 

Year 2018-2019.

In order to enlarge our influ-

ence on sustainability, we seek 

to ensure that our supply chain, 

including vendors and contrac-

tors conduct their businesses in 

a similarly responsible fashion. 

Similarly, we recognise that 

there are situations where the 

way our customers conduct 

their operations may generate 

significant environmental and 

social impact and, in such cas-

es, we try to leverage our influ-

ence on them to mitigate and 

manage risk. 

Further, we have taken a pro-

active step to manage ESG risk 

in lending activity by signing a 

Memorandum of Understand-

ing with WWF to develop and 

implement Environmental, So-

cial and Governance Policy.
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OUR POSITION AND 
RESPONSE ON OTH-
ER AREAS OF CON-
CERN

Governance

The nature of our business relies 
on the stakeholders’ trust and 
any violation of that undermines 
public confidence in us, which 
has a direct impact on the busi-
ness. Therefore, we place ut-
most importance on ethics and 
integrity. An essential part of 
our corporate and sustainability 
governance approach is the es-
tablishment of policies that in-
stitutionalise certain values we 
hold true.

uab is committed to applying 
high standards of honesty and 
integrity consistently across 
our operations and our busi-
ness dealings. We operate ac-
cording to our corporate values 
and are committed to prevent-
ing corruption and bribery in all 
its forms and do not tolerate it 
in our business or in those with 

whom we do business.

We highlight below some of the 
key governance policies, pro-
cedures and guidelines of the 
Bank.

Our Code of Ethics and An-
ti-Bribery and Corruption Policy 
has been adopted to reinforce 
Bank’s stance. Policy and Code 
cover all stakeholders including 
but not limited to, employees, 
interns, members of the Board 
of Directors and all vendors 
and contractors. Together with 

this a Gift Guideline has been 
issued to employees to restrict 
the receipt of any gift for their 
services in the Bank. While ac-
cepting or giving gifts we follow 
5 principles and they are:

• It is for a proper purpose
• Permitted by law
• Permitted by our policies
• Permitted by recipients’ pol-

icies and
• Reasonable in value and ap-

propriate in circumstances

To note, uab is accorded

Whistle
blowing 
Policy

Anti-Bribery 
and 
Corruption 
Policy

Anti-Money
Laundering
Policy

Corporate
Governance
Framework
& Policy

Gift
Guidelines

Code of
Ethics



#1 amongst all banks in term of 
Corporate Governance in the 
Pwint Thit Sa Report 2019 by 
Myanmar Centre for Responsi-

ble Business.

Financial  
Performance

The Bank maintained a strong 
track record from last year’s 
performance, ensuring a strong 

foundation and continued abil-
ity to care for our employees, 
stakeholders’ interests, suppli-
ers and business partners, and 
the communities that we serve.

Digitalisation &  
Investment in Tech-
nology

At uab, digital represents not just 
a key driver for enterprise-wide 

business transformation to build 
our future competitiveness and 
growth, but also plays an en-
abling role in delivering added 
value to our stakeholders and 
uphold our principle of Human-
ising Banking as well as finan-
cial inclusion. 

Digitalisation and Investment in 
Technology adds to our effort to 
make our community financially 
inclusive.

uab Mobile

A superior and secure mobile 
banking experience, with 
continuous enhancement like 
Biometric Log-In, Mobile Top-
Up, Bill Payment and many 
more.

uab Visa Prepaid Card

Simple and convenient to 
use even if you do not have 
a Bank account, i.e. a cash 
less wallet in hand, anytime, 
anywhere.
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uab-UPI Contactless

#1 bank in Myanmar that 
provides UPI Quick Pass 
acceptance services, en-
couraging digital econo-
my.

Cashless Campus

Offering almost a complete 
cashless solution to the 
“campus community”, i.e.  
students,       teachers,      parents, 
vendors and the entire eco- 
system.

Financial Inclusion

Facilitate and provide access 
to suitable, affordable, and 
quality financial services by 
improving access to banking.

uab is the only private PFI 
that exceeded the target 
for JICA SME 2-Step Loan 
Program (funding to SMEs 
at lower interest rates) in 

2018/2019. We will contin-
ue to provide support to this 
Program to fuel the growth 
of SME in Myanmar.

uab ran various platforms 
and campaigns to encour-
age banking, e.g. ATM with-
drawal fee waiver @ more 
rural areas in Upper & Lower 
Myanmar etc.



Savings Culture

uab believe in savings cul-
ture where resources are set 
aside for a sustainable future 
for our children and build-
ing a better Myanmar. We 
launched many savings prod-
ucts with attractive rates 
to encourage the culture.

Online Home Loan Ap-
plication and Home Loan 
Calculator
 
Loan eligibility calculator 
and initial application at 
your fingertips.

Service Excellence

uab, a trusted partner in 
helping customers and 
businesses with complete 
solutions and excellent 
services. Customer-cen-
tricity is an ongoing jour-
ney and, we aim to con-
tinuously strengthen our 
culture to deliver better 
value and services.
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Procurement

We monitor and manage 
our own operations as well 
as our suppliers to better 
manage the impact we 
have directly and indirect-
ly through our value chain. 
We support local suppliers 
by sourcing locally.

Resource Optimisation

As a bank with extensive reach, we embrace our role as a responsible consumer and corporate citizen, 
committed to manage our environmental footprint through resource and operational efficiencies. 

uab Tower @ Times City
• Cloud-based storage vs the 

conventional way of pa-
per-based storage.

• Electronic submission for 
approvals at Head Office 
including credit proposals, 

budgets and leave applica-
tions.

• Centralised printing and 
e-fax to minimize wastage.

• Softphones, wifi, wireless 
connections to projectors 
etc to reduce carbon foot-

print.
• Controlled temperature for 

air-conditioning to lessen 
global warming.

• Good practice of switching 
off lights and eco-friendly 
toilet flush.



uab bank’s branches

Continuous reengineering at 
the branches, resulting in close 
to 50 forms being merged and 
thus, reducing redundancy and 
cost.

Business Ventures

• Strategic cooperation with 
GRG Banking Equipment, to 
develop digital banking and 
re-engineering of our pro-
cesses to go green

Be The Change Myanmar

The program which is in its 3rd 
year of running, driving uab’s 
community engagement and 

development initiatives, focus-
ing on the underserved and un-
derprivileged members of the 

community with particular focus 
on children, youth and women.
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Main sponsorship for Thet 
Htar Thuzar, the female 
badminton champion of 
Myanmar in her prepara-
tion for the Tokyo Olympics 
2020 

“A model of grit and perse-
verance to the young peo-
ple of Myanmar”

Main sponsorship for 
Myanmar Contingent to 
the 46th Southeast Asian 
and Japanese Youth Pro-
gram (SSEAYP) 

“Youth power, the driving 
force for tomorrow’s lead-
ers of Myanmar”

Donations in cash, beds, 
computers, mosquitoes net, 
lunch, dinner and Spend A 
Day with the less fortunate 
@ Kyee Myin Daing Blind 
House and Ka Wae Chan 
Blind House 

“We light up your life”
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Gifts for several hundred of 
disadvantaged children 

“This country will not be a 
good place for any of us to 
live in unless we make it a 
good place for all of us to 
live in”
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Board of Directors

•  Ne Aung
   Non-Executive Chairman

•  Khin Moe Nyunt
   Non-Executive Director

•  Sein Win
   Non-Executive Director

•  Than Win Swe
   Non-Executive Director 

•  Thant Zin
   Non-Executive Director

•  Hnin Hnin Aung
   Non-Executive Director

•  Christopher Loh
   Managing Director
   & CEO 

Board Advisory & Strategy
Committee

• Ne Aung (Chairman) 
• Than Win Swe
• Thant Zin
• Hnin Hnin Aung
• Christopher Loh

Board Audit Committee

• Sein Win (Chairman)
• Than Win Swe
• Hnin Hnin Aung

Board Nomination & 
Remuneration Committee

• Sein Win (Chairman)
• Than Win Swe
• Hnin Hnin Aung

Board Credit Committee

• Thant Zin (Chairman)
• Than Win Swe
• Hnin Hnin Aung
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The Board of Directors have pleasure in presenting their report together with the audited financial state-
ments of the Group and of the Bank for the financial year ended 30 September 2019.

Principal Activities
The Bank is principally engaged in commercial banking, investment banking and its related financial 
services.

The subsidiary is principally engaged in the businesses of securities trading and investment banking in-
cluding merger and acquisition advisory, equity capital raising through initial public offering (“IPO”) and 
corporate advisory services.

There were no significant changes in the nature of the principal activities during the financial year.

Results

Group
(MMK’mil)

Bank
(MMK’mil)

Profit Before Tax 19,451 18,124

Taxation (4,821) (4,489)

Profit After Tax for the Period (Attributable to Equity  
Holders)*

14,058 13,635

Retained Earnings (Brought Forward) (4,125) (4,307)

Adjustments;

-   Transferred to Statutory Reserve (25%)  (3,409) (3,409)

-   Transferred to General Loan Loss Reserve - -

-    Prior Year Dividend Paid Out - -

-    Prior Year Adjustments 78 87

Retained Earnings (Carried Forward) 6,602 6,006

There were no material transfers to or from reserves, allowances or provisions during the financial year 
other than those as disclosed in the statement of changes in equity to the financial statements.

In the opinion of the Board of Directors, the results of the operations of the Group and of the Bank during 
the current financial year were not substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material 
and unusual nature.

Issuance of Shares
During the financial year, the Bank has no issuance of paid-up capital in addition.

*Excluding Non-controlling Interest



Share Option Scheme
As at the date of this report, there was no share option of the Group and of the Bank outstanding and 
available for issue under the Share Option Scheme.

Directors
The Directors who served since the date of the last report are:
• Ne Aung (Non-Executive Chairman)
• Khin Moe Nyunt (Non-Executive Director)
• Than Win Swe (Non-Executive Director)
• Sein Win (Non-Executive Senior Independent Director)
• Thant Zin (Non-Executive Director)
• Hnin Hnin Aung (Non-Executive Director)
• Christopher Loh (MD & Chief Executive Officer)

Directors’ Interest
According to the register of directors’ shareholdings, Directors in office had no interest at the end of 
financial year in shares of the Group and of the Bank, except as follows:

Directors’ Interest No. of Share Share Each
(MMK)

Share Value 
(MMK mil)

Ne Aung 97,200 500,000 48,600

Khin Moe Nyunt 10,800 500,000   5,400

Total 108,000 54,000

Business Outlook
At uab bank Ltd, the key priorities for 2020 include revenue growth across all segments specifically 
through our greater reach to the Retail and SME segments, focus on attaining cheaper and more diver-
sified funding sources, growing our loan portfolio within our risk appetite, while proactively managing 
our asset quality. The Group and the Bank is also prepared and ready for the adoption of IFRS in 2019-
20 and will continue to keep its capital and liquidity positions strong.

Barring any unforeseen circumstances, the Group and the Bank are optimistic and confident of achiev-
ing its financial targets, on the back of the expected economic growth of Myanmar.

Other Statutory Information 
(a) Before the statements of financial position and income statements of the Group and of the Bank 
      were made out, the Directors took reasonable steps: 

• to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and 
making allowances for doubtful debts and satisfied themselves that all known  bad debts had  
been written-off and that adequate allowances had been made for doubtful debts; and to  
ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to realise their values as shown in the ac-
counting records in the ordinary course of business had been written down to an amount which 
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they might be expected so to realise.

(b)  At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render: 
• the amount of the allowances for doubtful debts in the financial statements of the Group and of 

the Bank inadequate to any substantial extent; and
• the values attributed to current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of the Bank 

misleading.

(c) At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances which have arisen which   
     would render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Group and  
     of the Bank misleading or inappropriate.

(d) At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with  
       in this report or the financial statements of the Group and of the Bank which would render any amount  
     stated in the financial statements misleading.

(e) As at the date of this report, there does not exist: 
• any charge on the assets of the Group and of the Bank which has arisen since the end of the 

financial year which secures the liabilities of any other person; or
• any contingent liability of the Group and of the Bank which has arisen since the end of the finan-

cial year other than those arising in the normal course of the business of the Group and of the 
Bank.

(f)  In the opinion of the Directors: 
• no contingent liability or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable 

within the period of twelve (12) months after the end of the financial year which will or may affect 
the liability of the Group and of the Bank to meet their obligations as and when they fall due; and

• no item or transaction or event of a material and unusual nature has arisen in the interval be-
tween the end of the financial year and the date of this report which is likely to affect substan-
tially the results of the operations of the Group and of the Bank for the financial year in which 
this report is made.

Significant and Subsequent Events 
There are no significant adjusting events after the statements of financial position date up to the date 
when financial statements are authorised for issuance.



Auditor
The Audit Committee has re-appointed V Advisory Limited as auditor of the Group and of the Bank. V 
Advisory Limited has expressed its willingness to be re-appointed.

On behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors dated 27 December 
2019.

Than Win Swe
Director

Sein Win
Director

Christopher Loh
MD & Chief Executive Officer
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Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of uab bank Limited (The Group), which com-
prise the statement of financial position as at 30 September 2019, and the statements of comprehen-
sive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year ended 30 September 2019, and notes to the 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of uab bank Limited are properly 
drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 30 September 
2019, and its performance, its changes in equity and its cash flows for the year then ended, in accor-
dance with Myanmar Financial Reporting Standards (MFRSs).

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Myanmar Standards on Auditing (MSAs). Our responsibil-
ities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Myanmar, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basic for our opinion.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context 
of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Other information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors’ 
statement but does not include the financial statements and the auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion 
on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with Myanmar Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as Management

determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, Management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless Management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. Those charged with governance are responsible 



for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with MSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the ag-
gregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statement. As part of an audit in accordance with MSAs, we exercise profes-
sional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We communicate with those 
charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit. We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships 
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 
related safeguards.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
In accordance with Section 89(a) of the Financial Institutions Law 2016, we report that:

(i) whether in their opinion the balance sheet and profit and loss account are full and fair and properly
drawn up;
(ii) whether they exhibit a true and correct statement of affairs of the bank;
(iii) whether the information obtained from the officers or agents of such bank is satisfactory;
(iv) such other relevant matters as may be prescribed by the Central Bank.

In accordance with Section 280 of the Myanmar Companies Law 2017, we report that:
(i) We have obtained all the information and explanations we have required
(ii) The financial statements referred to in the report are drawn up in conformity with applicable law:
(iii) The financial statements exhibit a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s affair according to 
the best of our information and the explanations given to us, as shown by the books of the group and
(iv) The financial records have been kept by the group as required by section 257 (a) & 258 (a) of the 
Myanmar Companies Law 2017.

Win Htut Aung 
Certified Public Accountant 

PPA Registered No. 66 
V Advisory Limited

 Bldg 14, # 306, MICT Park 
University of Yangon – Hlaing Campus

27 December 2019
Yangon, Myanmar
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
as at 30 September 2019

The Group The Bank

Notes 2019 2018 2019 2018

MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000

Assets 

Cash & cash equivalents 8  173,216,911  158,352,118  173,209,957  158,337,352 

Loan and advances 9  746,133,055  663,064,873  734,133,055  651,064,873 

Investment securities 10  182,300,000  147,300,000  186,664,000  151,664,000 

Property, plant & equipment 11  48,906,673  51,771,067  48,898,005  51,759,493 

Investment properties 12  947,700  -  947,700  - 

Intangible assets 13  966,745  1,144,302  694,524  790,661 

Deferred tax assets 14  612,471  -  612,471  - 

Other assets 15  45,042,029  34,262,907  43,126,369  33,592,594 

Total Assets  1,198,125,585  1,055,895,267  1,188,286,081  1,047,208,972 

Liabilities 

Deposits and placements of banks 16  6,972,023  3,927,345  6,972,023  3,927,345 

Deposits from customers 17  1,008,371,946  909,565,056  1,009,485,773  910,747,125 

Borrowings 18  48,090,291  39,825,500  48,090,291  39,825,500 

Other liabilities 19  42,569,934  27,600,550  42,040,181  27,183,468 

Total Liabilities  1,106,004,194  980,918,451  1,106,588,267  981,683,438 

Equity 

Share capital 20  54,000,000  54,000,000  54,000,000  54,000,000 

Reserves 21  21,691,265  15,832,590  21,691,265  15,832,590 

Retained earnings  6,602,301  (4,124,970)  6,006,549  (4,307,056)

Equity Attributable to Shareholders of 
the Bank  82,293,566  65,707,620  81,697,814  65,525,534 

Non-controlling Interest 34  9,827,825  9,269,196  -  - 

Total Equity  92,121,392  74,976,816  81,697,814  65,525,534 

Total Equity and Liabilities  1,198,125,585  1,055,895,267  1,188,286,081  1,047,208,972 
 (0)  0  (0)  (0)

Off-Balance Sheet 22

Performance Guarantee  45,593,555  34,021,966  45,593,555  34,021,966 

Contingent Liabilities  35,583,640  56,096,631  35,583,640  56,096,631 

Commitment  52,543,300  64,186,284  52,543,300  64,186,284 

See accompanying notes to the finan-
cial statements

Authenticated by Directors:

Than Win Swe
Director

Sein Win
Director

Christopher Loh
MD & Chief Executive Officer

Htun Htun Oo
Finance Director



Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
for the Year Ended 30 September 2019

Than Win Swe
Director

Sein Win
Director

Christopher Loh
MD & Chief Executive Officer

Htun Htun Oo
Finance Director

The Group The Bank

Notes 2019 2018 2019 2018
MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000

Interest income 23  106,417,652  92,834,767  104,838,846  91,362,843 

Interest expense 24  (71,276,745)  (67,694,163)  (71,331,852)  (67,740,762)

Net Interest Income  35,140,907  25,140,604  33,506,994  23,622,081 
Fee and commission income 25  7,054,774  6,520,525  6,904,977  6,475,924 

Other income 26  6,543,743  4,632,745  6,542,468  4,635,685 

Operating Income  48,739,424  36,293,874  46,954,439  34,733,690 

General and administrative expenses 27  (3,406,037)  (3,751,820)  (3,124,034)  (3,420,329)

Personnel expenses 28  (16,776,824)  (16,479,707)  (16,694,403)  (16,281,213)

Operating lease expenses 29  (1,873,106)  (1,593,758)  (1,863,750)  (1,572,407)

Depreciation & amortisation  (2,387,163)  (2,707,875)  (2,302,838)  (2,507,432)

Other expenses 30  (181,692)  (724,400)  (181,692)  (724,400)

Operating Expenses  (24,624,822)  (25,257,561)  (24,166,716)  (24,505,783)

Operating Profit Before Allowance  24,114,602  11,036,312  22,787,723  10,227,907 
Less: Allowance for credit and other 
losses 31  (4,663,561)  (1,157,759)  (4,663,561)  (1,157,759)

Net Profit Before Tax  19,451,041  9,878,553  18,124,162  9,070,148 
Taxation 32  (4,820,723)  (2,471,442)  (4,489,004)  (2,269,341)

Net Profit After Tax  14,630,318  7,407,111  13,635,159  6,800,807 
Other comprehensive income  -  -  -  - 

Total Comprehensive Income for the 
Year  14,630,318  7,407,111  13,635,159  6,800,807 

Profit for the year attributable to:
   - Shareholders of the Bank  14,057,763  7,066,214  13,635,159  6,800,807 

   - Non-controlling Interest  572,554  340,898  -  - 

 14,630,318  7,407,111  13,635,159  6,800,807 

See accompanying notes to the financial 
statements

Authenticated by Directors:
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
for the Year Ended 30 September 2019

The Group

Share  
Capital

Statutory 
Reserve 

General 
Loan Loss 
Reserve

Retained 
Earnings Total

Non-con-
trolling 

Interests
Total  

Equity

MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000

Balance at 1 October 
2018  54,000,000  4,030,124  11,802,466  (4,124,970)  65,707,620 9,269,196 74,976,816

Issued shares  -  -  -  -  - - -

Total comprehensive 
income for the year  -  -  -  14,057,763  14,057,763 572,554 14,630,318

Transfer to Reserves  -  3,408,790  2,449,885  (3,408,790)  2,449,885 - 2,449,885

Prior year adjustment  -  -  -  78,298  78,298 (13,925) 64,373

Dividends  -  -  -  -  - - -

Balance at 30 Sep-
tember 2019 54,000,000  7,438,914  14,252,351  6,602,301  82,293,566 9,827825 92,121,392

Balance at 1 October 
2017  44,000,000  2,338,451  10,616,683  (7,698,241)  49,256,893 8,958,748 58,215,641

Issued shares  10,000,000  -  -                  - 10,000,000 - 10,000,000

Total comprehensive 
income for the year  -  -  -  7,066,214  7,066,214 340,898 7,407,111

Transfer to Reserves  -  1,691,672  1,185,783  (2,877,455)  - - -

Prior year adjustment  -  -  -  (615,487)  (615,487) (30,450) (645,937)

Dividends  -  -  -  -  - - -

Balance at 30 Sep-
tember 2018 54,000,000  4,030,124  11,802,466  (4,124,970)  65,707,620 9,269,196 74,976,816

Attributable to equity holders of the Bank



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
for the Year Ended 30 September 2019

Than Win Swe
Director

Sein Win
Director

Christopher Loh
MD & Chief Executive Officer

Htun Htun Oo
Finance Director

The Bank

Share Capital Statutory Re-
serve 

General Loan 
Loss Reserve

Retained 
Earnings Total

MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000

Balance at 1 October 2018  54,000,000  4,030,124  11,802,466  (4,307,056)  65,525,534 

Issued shares  -  -  -  -  - 

Total comprehensive income for 
the year  -  -  -  13,635,159  13,635,159 

Transfer to Reserves  -  3,408,790  2,449,885  (3,408,790)  2,449,885 

Prior year adjustment  -  -  -  87,236  87,236 

Dividends  -  -  -  -  - 

Balance at 30 September 2019  54,000,000  7,438,914  14,252,351  6,006,549  81,697,814 

Balance at 1 October 2017  44,000,000  2,338,451  10,616,683  (7,634,465)  49,320,669 

Issued shares  10,000,000  -  -  -  10,000,000 

Total comprehensive income for 
the year  -  -  -  6,800,807  6,800,807 

Transfer to Reserves  -  1,691,672  1,185,783  (2,877,455)  - 

Prior year adjustment  -  -  -  (595,943)  (595,943)

Dividends  -  -  -  -  - 

Balance at 30 September 2018  54,000,000  4,030,124  11,802,466  (4,307,056)  65,525,534 

Authenticated by Directors:

www.uab.com.mm  uab annual report 2019 | 120



121 | uab annual report 2019 www.uab.com.mm 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow
for the Year Ended 30 September 2019

The Group The Bank
2019 2018 2019 2018

MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000

Cashflows from Operating Activities 
Profit Before Tax  19,451,041  9,878,553  18,124,162  9,070,148 
Adjustment
-Prior year adjustment  64,373  (645,937)  87,236  (595,943)

-Depreciation & amortisation expense  2,387,163  2,707,875  2,302,838  2,507,432 

-Impairment on loan  3,708,185  257,902  3,708,185  257,902 

-Net gain on disposal of fixed assets  (279,760)  -  (279,760)  - 

Changes in 
-Loan and advances  (84,326,482)  (95,391,790)  (84,326,482)  (95,391,790)

-Other assets  (8,001,231)  (16,905,286)  (7,055,884)  (16,831,565)

-Deposit from customers  100,669,499  49,719,945  101,783,326  50,902,014 

-Other liabilities  10,148,661  8,789,362  10,367,709  8,612,096 

 43,821,450  (41,589,376)  44,711,331  (41,469,706)

Income tax paid  (3,390,363)  (115,500)  (3,090,363)  - 

Net cash from (used in) operating activities  40,431,087  (41,704,876)  41,620,968  (41,469,706)

Cashflows from investing activities 
Acquisition of property, plant & equipment  (630,386)  (11,380,847)  (630,386)  (11,219,639)

Disposal of fixed assets  617,233  -  617,233  - 

Purchase of Government Treasury Bonds  (35,000,000)  (45,670,000)  (35,000,000)  (44,170,000)

Net cash used in investing activities  (35,013,153)  (57,050,847)  (35,013,153)  (55,389,639)

Cashflows from financing activities 
Issue of Share Capital  -  10,000,000  -  10,000,000 

Borrowings/Repayment of loan  8,264,791  33,025,500  8,264,791  33,025,500 

Net cash from financing activities  8,264,791  43,025,500  8,264,791  43,025,500 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents  13,682,724  (55,730,222)  14,872,605  (53,833,845)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 
the year  159,534,187  214,082,340  158,337,352  212,171,197 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the 
year  173,216,911  158,352,118  173,209,957  158,337,352 

Authenticated by Directors:

Than Win Swe
Director

Sein Win
Director

Christopher Loh
MD & Chief Executive Officer

Htun Htun Oo
Finance Director



Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Year Ended 30 September 2019

1 General

uab bank Limited (the Bank) is a Private Bank Limited incorporated and domiciled in Myanmar 

and has its registered office at No(3), Bank  Development Zone, Corner of Kyaing Tone Road 

and Mawlamyine Road, OaktayaThiri Township, Nay Pyi Taw, Myanmar. The Directorate of In-

vestment and Company Administration (DICA) has issued incorporation certificate to uab bank 

Limited on 14 June 2010 as per Registration No.390/2010-2011 under The Myanmar Companies 

Act. The Bank has renewed its incorporation certificate on 25 May 2015 valid five years through 

13 June 2020. The Bank was permitted to carry out banking business under Licence No. MaVa-

Ba/PaBa(R) 14/8/2016  issued by the Central Bank of Myanmar (CBM) on 24 August 2016 under 

Section 10(a) of Financial Institutions Law, 2016. The principal activities of the Bank are to carry 

out the commercial banking business and other financial services subject to the approval of 

the CBM. On 25 November 2011, the Bank was granted an Authorised Dealer Licence No. CBM, 

FEMD (78/2011) to carry out banking business in foreign currencies. The Bank is currently oper-

ating with Seventy Eight (78) branches in total in wide spread locations in Myanmar.

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
2.1 Accounting Period

The accounting period is from 1 October 2018 to 30 September 2019. Balances as of 30 Sep-
tember 2018 and transactions occurred for the period from 1 October 2017 to 30 September 

2018 in this report are for purpose of comparison only.

2.2 Opening Balances
Opening Balances as at 1 October 2018 are carried forward from the financial statements for 

the financial period ended 30 September 2018, audited by V Advisory Limited (Certified Public 

Accountants).

2.3 Basis of Accounting
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Myanmar Fi-
nancial Reporting Standards (MFRS) and instructions and guidance provided by the Central 
Bank of Myanmar (CBM). They are prepared on the historical cost basis except for financial 
instruments that are measured at revalued amounts or fair values at the end of each reporting 
period, as explained in the accounting policies below. Historical cost is generally based on the 
fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in 
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of 
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In 
estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Bank takes into account the characteris-
tics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account 
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or 
disclosure purposes in these financial statements is determined on such a basis.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Year Ended 30 September 2019

In addition, for financial reporting purpose fair value measurements are categorised into Level 

1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observ-

able and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirely, which are 

described as follows: 

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabil-

ities that the entity can access at the measurement date;

• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within level 1, that are observ-

able for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

2.4 Financial Assets
Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets ‘at fair 

value through profit or loss’ (“FVTPL”), ‘held-to-maturity’ investment, ‘available-for-sale’ (“AFS”) 

financial assets and ‘loan and receivables’. The classification depends on the nature and pur-

pose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition. All financial 

assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis where the purchase or sale of 

an investment is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the 

timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value plus 

transaction cost, except for those financial assets classified as at fair value through profit or 

loss which are initially measured at fair value.

2.4.1 Effective Interest Method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instru-

ment and of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the 

rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid 

or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other 

premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, 

a shorter year, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those finan-

cial assets classified as at FVTPL.
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2.4.2 Loans and Receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 

that are not quoted in an active market. Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equiv-

alents and placement with other financial institutions) are measured at amortised cost using 

the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the effect of discounting is 

immaterial.

2.4.3 Impairment of Financial Assets
Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the 

end of each reporting year. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objec-

tive evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of 

the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been affected, and 

an impairment loss recognised.
For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:
• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or   

•  breach of contract such as default or delinquency in interest or principal payment; or 

•  it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or   

•  the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognised is 

the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future 

cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

For financial assets that are carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured 

as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated 

future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. 

Such impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent years.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all fi-

nancial assets with the exception of loans and advances, where the carrying amount is reduced 

through the use of an allowance account. When a loan and advance is considered uncollectible, 

it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously 

written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the 

allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

Credit Quality
The Bank categorises its loans and advances in accordance with CBM regulation. Based on the 

instructions and guidance issued by the CBM, the Bank generally classifies its loans and ad-

vances as “Sub-standard” when the counterparty has failed to make payments when contrac-

tually due, for more than 60 days but not more than 90 days. Loans and advances are generally 

further classified as “Doubtful” and “Loss” where the loans and advances are past due by more 

than  90 days to 180 days and over 180 days respectively.
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(i) Performing Loans
Pass grades indicate that the timely repayment of the outstanding credit facilities is not in 

doubt and the credit facility does not exhibit any potential weakness in repayment capability, 

business, cash flow or financial position of the borrower. As per the CBM’s instruction, all loans 

with repayments made within one month is considered as “Pass”.

(ii) Non-performing Loans
Non-performing means a loan or advance that is no longer generating income and which is 

classified doubtful or loss defined by CBM.

Doubtful grades indicate that the credit facilities exhibit severe weaknesses such that the pros-

pect of full recovery of the outstanding credit facilities is questionable and the prospect of a 

loss is high, but the exact amount remains undeterminable. As per the CBM’s instruction, all 

loans with repayments between 91 to 180 days past due are classified as “Doubtful”.

Loss grades indicate the amount of loan recovery is assessed to be insignificant. As per the 

CBM’s instruction, all loans with repayments over 180 days past due are classified as “Loss”. 

In determining if the loan is non-performing, Management also considers several factors such 

as expected future cash flows, the financial ability of the borrower to meet its obligations, and 

business and economic conditions.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the 

impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring 

after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed 

through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at the date the 

impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the im-

pairment not been recognised.

2.4.4 Derecognition of Financial Assets
The Bank derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 

asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards 

of ownership of the asset to another party. If the Bank neither transfers nor retains substantially 

all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Bank 

recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have 

to pay. If the Bank retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred 

financial asset, the Bank continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a col-

lateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.
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On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying 

amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or 

loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is 

recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its entirety (e.g. when the Bank retains an op-

tion to repurchase part of a transferred asset), the Bank allocates the previous carrying amount 

of the financial asset between the part it continues to recognise under continuing involvement, 

and the part it no longer recognises on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts on the 

date of the transfer. The difference between the carrying amount allocated to the part that is no 

longer recognised and the sum of the consideration received for the part no longer recognised 

and any cumulative gain or loss allocated to it that had been recognised in other comprehen-

sive income is recognised in profit or loss. A cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised 

in other comprehensive income is allocated between the part that continues to be recognised 

and the part that is no longer recognised on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts.
2.5 Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities ‘at FVTPL’ or ‘other financial liabil-

ities’.

2.5.1 Other Financial Liabilities
Other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are 

subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liabil-

ity and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the 

rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid 

or received that form and integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other 

premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) 

a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

2.5.2 Financial Guarantee Contracts
A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified pay-

ments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make pay-

ments when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Bank are initially measured at their fair values and, 

if not designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at the higher of:

•  the amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with MAS 37; 

and   
•  the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in   

   accordance with the revenue recognition policies.   
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2.5.3 Derecognition of Financial Liabilities
The Bank derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Bank’s obligations are dis-

charged, cancelled or they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial 

liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

2.6 Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Bank becomes a party to the 

contractual provision of instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs 

that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issuance of financial assets and financial lia-

bilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are 

added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or liabilities, as appropriate, on 

initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or 

financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

2.7 Property, Plant and Equipment
Properties in the course of construction are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment 

loss. Cost includes professional fees and for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in 

accordance with the Bank’s accounting policy. Such properties are classified and included in 

the respective categories of property, plant and equipment. Depreciation of these assets, on 

the same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their in-

tended use.
Freehold land is not depreciated.

Buildings, fixtures and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accu-

mulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off cost or valuation of assets (Other than freehold 

land and properties under construction) less their residual values over their useful life, using the 

straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual value and depreciation method are 

reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate ac-

counted for on a prospective basis.

• Buildings                                                                           40 years

• Leasehold improvements                                               Over period of lease
• Office machine and other equipment                           10 years
• Furniture, fixtures and fittings                                        20 years
• Electrical equipment and computer accessories           5 years
• Motor vehicles                                                                   8 years
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2.8 Intangible Assets
Intangible assets are identifiable non-monetary assets such as software licences and rights 

without physical substance. They are recognised only if it is probable that the asset will 

generate future benefit for the entity. Those asset with an indefinite useful life are tested for 

impairment annually. All intangible assets must be tested for impairment when there is an 

indication that its carrying amount may be greater than its recoverable amount. Intangible 

assets with finite useful life are amortised on straight line basis over their estimated useful 

life and charged to income statement. 

2.9 Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, cash at banks and deposits with finan-

cial institutions and Central Bank of Myanmar  which are subject to an insignificant risk of 

change in value. 

2.10 Impairment of Tangible and Intangible Assets other than Goodwill
At the end of each reporting period, the Bank reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible 

and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have 

suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the 

asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). When it is 

not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Bank estimates 

the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a 

reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also 

allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the small-

est group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis 

can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use 

are tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that the 

asset may be impaired.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future 

economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss 

arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined 

as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is rec-

ognised in profit or loss.
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Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In as-

sessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 

using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 

money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have 

not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than 

its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced 

to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in Profit or Loss.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a 

cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so 

that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 

been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for asset (or cash-generating 

unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or 

loss.

2.11 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Bank has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as 

a result of a past event, it is probable that the Bank will be required to settle the obligation, 

and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to 

settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks 

and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash 

flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of 

those cash flows (when the effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be 

recovered from a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain 

that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured 

reliably.

2.12 Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.
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2.12.1 Current Tax
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit equates to ‘prof-

it before tax’ as reported in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 

because there are minimal items of income on expense that are taxable or deductible in other 

years and items that are never taxable or deductible.

The Bank’s current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 

enacted by the end of the reporting period.

2.12.2 Deferred Tax
Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of as-

sets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the 

computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all tax-

able temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible 

temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available 

against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax 

assets and liabilities are not recoginised if the temporary difference arises from the initial 

recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction 

that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax 

liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition 

of goodwill.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period 

and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be 

available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply 

in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax 

laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that 

would follow from the manner in which the Bank expects, at the end of the reporting period, 

to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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2.12.3 Current and Deferred Tax for the Year
Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items 

that are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the 

current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in 

equity respectively.

The following are the critical judgments apart from those involving estimations that the  

directors have made in the process of applying the Bank’s accounting policies and that have 

the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial statements.

2.13 Capital and Equity Instruments

2.13.1 Classification as Debt or Equity
Debt and equity instruments issued by the Bank are classified as either financial liabilities 

or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the 

definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

2.13.2 Equity Instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an 

entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Bank are rec-

ognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. Repurchase of the Bank’s own 

equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is rec-

ognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Bank’s own equity 

instruments.

2.14 Revenue Recognition
Revenue comprises the fair value of consideration received or receivable for rendering of 

services in the ordinary course of the activities of the bank. The Bank recognises revenue 

when the amount of revenue and its related cost can be reliably measured, when it is rea-

sonably assured that the related receivables are collectable, and when the specific criteria 

for each of the Bank’s activities are met as follows:
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2.14.1 Interest Income and Expense
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial 

instrument and of allocating interest income or expense over the relevant period. The effec-

tive interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or pay-

ments (including all fees on points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective 

interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life 

of the financial instrument, or where appropriate, a shorter period. Income and expense is 

recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those financial 

instruments “at fair value through profit or loss”.

2.14.2 Fees and Commission Income
Fee income is earned from a diverse range of services provided by the Bank to its custom-

ers. Fee income is accounted for as follows:

•  income earned on the execution of a significant act is recognised as revenue when the 

act is completed (for example, commission arising from issuance of payment orders, 

telegraphic transfer and remittance and other services);
•  income earned from the provision of financial facilities to customers is recognised as 

revenue as the services are provided (for example, default fees on loans, service charges 

and commitment fee for loans overdrafts), usually on a time apportion basis.

2.15 Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substan-

tially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as 

operating leases.

2.15.1 The Bank as Lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the 

lease term, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pat-

tern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals 

arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which they 

are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incen-

tives are recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a 

reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except where another systematic ba-

sis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased 

asset are consumed.
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Initial direct costs incurred by the Bank in negotiating and arranging operating leases are 

recognised in profit or loss when incurred. Contingent rents are recognised as an expense 

in profit or loss in the financial year in which they are incurred.

When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment 

required to be made to the lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the 

financial year in which termination takes place.

2.16 Foreign Currency Translations
The financial statements of the Bank are measured and presented in the currency of the 

primary economic environment in which the Bank operates (its functional currency). The 

functional currency of the Bank is assessed to be the Myanmar Kyat (MMK) by the Man-

agement.

In preparing the financial statements for the Bank, transactions in currencies other than 

the Bank’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange 

prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary 

items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that 

date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies 

are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 

not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period.

3 Critical Accounting Judgments and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the Bank’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, the Di-

rectors of the Bank are required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the 

carrying amount of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other factors 

that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 

accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the 

revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the 

revision affects both current and future periods.
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3.1 Critical Judgments in Applying Accounting Policies
The following are the critical judgments apart from those involving estimations that the  

Directors have made in the process of applying the Bank’s accounting policies and that 

have the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial statements.

3.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of es-

timation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that may have a significant risk of 

causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 

next financial year.

3.2.1 Impairment Losses on Loans and Advances
A loan is impaired when there is objective evidence that events since the loan was granted, 

have affected expected cash flows from the loan. The impairment loss is the difference 

between the carrying value of the loan and the present value of estimated future cash 

flows at the loan’s original effective interest rate. The Bank reviews its loans and advances 

to assess impairment on a regular basis. In determining whether an impairment loss should 

be recorded in profit or loss, the Management exercises judgment on whether there is any 

observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future 

cash flows from the loan before the decrease can be identified within an individual loan.

3.2.2 Useful Life of Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their useful lives, using the straight-

line method. Management estimates the useful lives of property, plant and equipment, 

based on expected usage and industry norms. Changes in the expected level of mainte-

nance, usage and technological developments could impact the useful lives and residual 

values of these assets, therefore future depreciation charges could be revised.

4 Financial Instruments
4.1 Categories of Financial Instruments

The Group The Bank

2019 2018 2019 2018

MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000

Loans & receivables 928,433,055 810,364,873 920,797,055 802,728,873

Financial liabilities 1,063,434,260 953,317,901 1,064,548,086 954,499,970
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4.2 Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities
Financial instruments comprise financial assets and financial liabilities. The fair value of a 

financial instrument is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged or settled 

between knowledgeable and willing parties in an arm’s length transaction, other than in a 

forced or liquidation sale.

As at the end of each reporting period, the Bank did not hold any financial instruments 

which are measured at fair value on a recurring basis.

5. Financial Risk Management
The Bank’s activities are principally related to extending loans and advances, accepting 

deposits and carrying out transactions. These expose the Bank to a variety of financial 

risks, including foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

Managing these financial risks forms an integral part of the Bank’s business. The Bank 

adopts the risk management set out in accordance to the risk appetite of the Bank, which 

encompass a variety of controls and reporting processes. These not only include risk pa-

rameters for the various financial instruments that the Bank may undertake, but also direc-

tions on the types of business is conducted.

The Bank believes that it has effective processes in place to identify, measure, monitor and 

ultimately, mitigate these financial risks.

5.1 Credit Risk
Credit Risk is considered to be the risk of loss due to inability or unwillingness of the coun-

terparty to fulfill its payment obligations to the Bank. Management has a credit policy in 

place. The Bank generally holds, full collateral against the credit facilities granted and the 

right to be disposed off the collaterals when certain exposure thresholds are exceeded. 

The Bank generally only accepts lands and building as collaterals, with other types of col-

laterals such as gold and machineries making upon the minority of the population of collat-

eral held. Credit evaluations to derive the Bank’s risk exposures according to internal pol-

icies are performed on all clients at the inception of the loans and at loan roll over dates.

The Bank employ a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The most tradi-

tional of these is the taking of security for loans and advances, which is common practice. 

The Bank implements guidelines on the acceptability of specific classes of collateral or 

credit risk mitigation. The principal collateral types for loans and advances include charges 

over land and buildings, gold, equipment and contract financing, guarantees, project con-

tracting and residential properties are also acceptable for security of loan.
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All credit lending to non-bank customers are generally secured. In addition, in order to min-

imise credit loss, the Bank will seek additional collateral from the counterparty as soon as 

impairment indicators are noticed for the relevant individual loans and advances.

The fair value of collateral valued by an independent assessor is based on valuation tech-

niques commonly used for the corresponding assets, done before the inception of the 

loan. Loans are usually given between the margins of 30% to 70% of the Forced Sale Vale, 

which is also independently estimated. There is revaluation of the collaterals in subsequent 

periods, generally at the time of renewal/roll-over of a loan.

The credit risk management and control are centralised with the Credit Committee, which 

report to the Board of Directors on a monthly basis. Exposure to credit risk is also managed 

through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers, to meet interest and capital repayment 

obligations and changing these lending limits where appropriate.

5.1.1 Maximum Exposure to Credit Risk
The following table presents the Bank’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of re-

porting period in respect of on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet financial instruments, 

without taking into account the value of any collateral of or other security held, in the event 

the counterparties fail to perform their obligations The maximum exposure to credit risk 

to on-balance sheet is carrying amount of these instrument as reported in the statement 

of financial position. For contingent liabilities, the maximum exposure to credit risk is the 

maximum amount the Bank would have to pay if obligations of the instruments issued are 

called upon. For commitments, the maximum exposure to credit risk is the full amount of 

undrawn credit facilities granted to customer.
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The Group The Bank
Myanmar Kyats 2019 2018 2019 2018

MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000

Cash and cash equivalents  173,216,911  158,352,118  173,209,957  158,337,352 
Loan and advances  746,133,055  663,064,873  734,133,055  651,064,873 
Investment securities  182,300,000  147,300,000  186,664,000  151,664,000 
Other assets  45,042,029  34,262,907  43,126,369  33,592,594 

 1,146,691,995  1,002,979,898  1,137,133,381  994,658,818 
Off-Balance Sheet

Performance Guarantee  45,593,555  34,021,966  45,593,555  34,021,966 
Contingent liabilities  35,583,640  56,096,631  35,583,640  56,096,631 
Undrawn loan commitments  52,543,300  64,186,284  52,543,300  64,186,284 

 133,720,495  154,304,880  133,720,495  154,304,880 
Total maximum exposure to credit risk  1,280,412,490  1,157,284,778  1,270,853,876  1,148,963,699 

Collateral and Other Credit Enhancements

In respect of the Bank’s deposit with other banks, the Bank considers the exposure to 

credit risk to be low as these deposits are placed with credit-worthy financial institutions. 

The financial effect of collateral or credit enhancements obtained for Other Assets are not 

expected to be significant.

For the loans and advances granted by the Bank, the following types of collateral and 

credit enhancements are obtained;

- Charges over land and buildings

- Charges over plant & machinery

- Mortgages over residential properties

- Pledge

- Vehicles

- Bank Guarantees - Stand by Letter of Credits

- Fixed Deposits and balances earmarked in Savings accounts

5.1.2 Credit Risk by Industry
The following table sets out the Bank’s Loan and Advances based on exposure by industry as 

at the end of the reporting period:
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The Group The Bank
2019 2018 2019 2018

MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000

Agricultural  842,537  438,942  842,537  438,942 
Livestock  283,204  1,160,652  283,204  1,160,652 
Manufacturing  78,115,100  61,478,780  78,115,100  61,478,780 
Trading  290,036,542  265,500,964  290,036,542  265,500,964 
Transportation  2,509,593  2,785,819  2,509,593  2,785,819 
Construction  157,312,070  166,946,974  157,312,070  166,946,974 
Service  139,956,206  114,518,772  127,956,206  102,518,772 
Housing Loan  30,714,199  1,620,424  30,714,199  1,620,424 
Pledge  428,150  4,886,760  428,150  4,886,760 
Hire Purchase  3,739,169  3,324,048  3,739,169  3,324,048 
Staff Loan  1,458,673  978,005  1,458,673  978,005 
General  29,499,604  13,008,862  29,499,604  13,008,862 
Loans to Other banks  10,526,400  25,135,000  10,526,400  25,135,000 
Credit Cards  1,969,908  1,538,773  1,969,908  1,538,773 
Total  747,391,355  663,322,775  735,391,355  651,322,775 

5.1.3 Credit Quality of Loans and Advances
Loans and advances are graded by the Bank against an internally developed credit rating scale, 

which generally corresponds to the credit ratings set out in the instructions and guidance issued 

by the CBM. The following tables sets out the credit ratings of the Bank’s loans and advances.

The Group

CBM’s notification no. 17/2017
2019 2018

MMK’000 MMK’000

Classification 
of loans & 
advances 

Days 
past 
due 

Provision on 
shortfalls 
in security 

value 

NPL * loans & 
advances 

Interest in 
suspense 

Valuation of 
security 

NPL * loans & 
advances 

Interest in 
suspense 

Valuation of 
security 

Standard 30 0%  674,059,591  1,056,009,172  627,268,052  -  835,195,310 
Watch 31-60 5%  1,281,030  1,648,903  140,270  -  1,779,370 
Substandard 61-90 25%  28,681,951  44,402,344  1,916,976  -  3,111,060 
Doubtful 91-180 50%  2,335,634  266,851  4,327,828  3,724,966  128,929  5,785,550 

Loss
over 
180

100%  41,033,149  12,342,925  46,606,160  30,272,510  4,558,002  103,992,080 

 747,391,355  12,609,777  1,152,994,408  663,322,775  4,686,932  949,863,370 

Total NPL* % = 4.85% = 4.74%
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The Bank

CBM’s notification no. 17/2017
2019 2018

MMK’000 MMK’000

Classification 
of loans & 
advances 

Days 
past 
due 

Provision on 
shortfalls 
in security 

value 

NPL * loans & 
advances 

Interest in 
suspense 

Valuation of 
security 

NPL * loans & 
advances 

Interest in 
suspense 

Valuation of 
security 

Standard 30 0%  662,059,591  1,056,009,172  615,268,052  -  835,195,310 
Watch 31-60 5%  1,281,030  1,648,903  140,270  -  1,779,370 
Substandard 61-90 25%  28,681,951  44,402,344  1,916,976  -  3,111,060 
Doubtful 91-180 50%  2,335,634  266,851  4,327,828  3,724,966  128,929  5,785,550 

Loss
over 
180

100%  41,033,149  12,342,925  46,606,160  30,272,510  4,558,002  103,992,080 

 735,391,355  12,609,777  1,152,994,408  651,322,775  4,686,932  949,863,370 

Total NPL* % = 4.93% 4.83%

The Group
2019 2018

MMK’000 MMK’000

Loans & ad-
vances 

Investment secu-
rities Loans & advances Investment secu-

rities 

Neither past due nor impaired  674,059,591  182,300,000  627,268,052  147,300,000 
Past due but not impaired  29,962,981  -  2,057,246  - 
Individually past due and impaired  43,368,783  -  33,997,476  - 

 747,391,355  182,300,000  663,322,775  147,300,000 

The Bank
2019 2018

MMK’000 MMK’000

Loans & ad-
vances 

Investment secu-
rities Loans & advances Investment secu-

rities 

Neither past due nor impaired  662,059,591  186,664,000  615,268,052  151,664,000 
Past due but not impaired  29,962,981  -  2,057,246  - 
Individually past due and impaired  43,368,783  -  33,997,476  - 

 735,391,355  186,664,000  651,322,775  151,664,000 

* NPL=(Gross NPL Balance+Claim Account-IIS)/Gross Loan Balance 
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5.2 Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank is unstable to meet its cash flows obligations when 

they are due, such as upon the maturity of deposits or arising from loan draw-downs.

It is unusual for any bank to completely match the maturity profile of its assets and liabili-
ties since business transacted is often of different terms and of different types. Therefore, 
controlled mismatching of the maturities of assets and liabilities is fundamental to the 
management of liquidity of the Bank.

The objective of the liquidity risk management is to ensure that the Bank has the ability to 
generate sufficient cash or its equivalents, in a timely and cost effectively manner, to meet 

its commitments as they fall due.

The management of liquidity risk is centralised in the Treasury Department who reports 
to the Management and Assets-Liability Committee (“ALCO”). ALCO meeting is held on 
monthly basis to oversee liquidity risk management of the Bank and is supplemented by 
a “Liquidity Meeting” which is held weekly in addition to any meetings called by the Ex-
ecutive Management on need to basis. The Bank has in place Business Contingency Plan 
(“BCP”) which include disasters situation facing by the Bank. The BCP covers operation-
al steps and procedure of how to handle money transactions during disaster situation, 
meeting all contingencies arising not only from the ordinary course of business but also on 
liquidity crisis situation.
As part of its liquidity risk management framework set by the Management and the regu-

latory requirements stipulated by the local authority, the Bank is required to maintain ad-

equate liquid assets to manage its short-term liquidity. Such liquid assets include invest-

ments in Government securities, borrowings with Central Bank of Myanmar and holding 

cash reserves. This is to ensure full cash inflows are available to meet customer withdraw-

als upon maturity.

The Group The Bank
2019 2018 2019 2018

Liquidity ratio 26.14% 23.61% 24.18% 22.30%

Minimum requirement for bank’s liquidity ratio is 20% fixed by Central Bank of Myanmar as 

per Notification number 19/2017.
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5.2.1 Maturity Analysis
The table below analyses the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities on a contractual undis-

counted cash flow basis, grouped based on the remaining contractual maturities as at the 

end of the reporting period. The adjustment column includes items which are part of the 

contractual undiscounted cash flows, such as interest payable or receivable, but are not 

included in the carrying amount of the financial instruments in the statement of financial 

position.

On a behavioral basis, the expected cash flows of some of these financial liabilities could 

vary significantly from the disclosures below. While deposits from customers are contrac-

tually on demand, these deposits are expected to remain relatively stable, and has been 

a source of long term funding for the Bank, based on historical trends. Similarly, while un-

drawn loan commitments are contractually available on demand, these are not all expect-

ed to be drawn upon immediately.
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5.2.1  Maturity Analysis

The Group

(MMK’000) On demand 
or less than 3 

months 

3 to 
12 months Over one year No specific 

Maturity Total 

2019

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  173,216,911  -  -  -  173,216,911 

Loan and advances  173,212,166  261,103,736  311,817,153  -  746,133,055 

Investment securities  23,000,000  8,300,000  150,670,000  330,000  182,300,000 

Other assets  19,459,010  21,598,868  4,494,622  102,000  45,654,500 

 388,888,088  291,002,603  466,981,775  432,000  1,147,304,466 

Liabilities 

Deposit from banks  6,450,440  77,683  443,900  -  6,972,023 

Deposit from customers  341,176,039  269,362,379  397,833,529  -  1,008,371,946 

Other liabilities  71,682,884  5,567,464  13,409,777  100  90,660,224 

 419,309,362  275,007,525  411,687,207  100  1,106,004,194 

On-Balance Sheet 

Liquidity Gap  (30,421,274)  15,995,079  55,294,568  431,900  41,300,272 

Off-balance sheet 

Performance Guarantee  949,280  -  6,851,935  -  7,801,215 

Contingent liabilities  22,427,622  -  6,188,917  -  28,616,539 

Commitments  52,543,300  -  -  -  52,543,300 

Off-balance sheet 

Liquidity Gap  75,920,202  -  13,040,852  -  88,961,054 

Net Liquidity Gap  (106,341,476)  15,995,079  42,253,716  431,900  (47,660,782)
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(MMK’000) On demand 
or less than 3 

months 
3 to 12 months Over one year No specific Ma-

turity Total 

2018

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  158,352,118  -  -  -  158,352,118 

Loan and advances  195,407,844  302,553,006  165,104,023  -  663,064,873 

Investment securities  20,000,000  125,470,000  1,500,000  330,000  147,300,000 

Other assets  9,336,364  337,351  24,589,192  -  34,262,907 

 383,096,326  428,360,357  191,193,215  330,000  1,002,979,898 

Liabilities 

Deposit from banks  3,316,467  76,360  534,518  -  3,927,345 

Deposit from customers  403,212,788  147,430,066  358,922,203  -  909,565,056 

Other liabilities  67,308,174  117,776  -  100  67,426,050 

 473,837,429  147,624,202  359,456,720  100  980,918,451 

On-Balance Sheet 

Liquidity Gap  (90,741,103)  280,736,155  (168,263,505)  329,900  22,061,447 

Off-balance sheet 

Performance Guarantee  2,994,172  -  5,149,816  -  8,143,988 

Contingent liabilities  34,744,347  -  14,122,530  -  48,866,877 

Commitments  64,186,284  -  -  -  64,186,284 

Off-balance sheet 

Liquidity Gap  101,924,803  -  19,272,346  -  121,197,148 

Net Liquidity Gap  (192,665,906)  280,736,155  (187,535,851)  329,900  (99,135,702)
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The Bank

(MMK’000)
On demand 

or less than 3 
months 

3 to 12 months Over one year No specific Ma-
turity Total 

2019

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  173,209,957  -  -  -  173,209,957 

Loan and advances  173,212,166  249,103,736  311,817,153  -  734,133,055 

Investment securities  23,000,000  8,300,000  149,170,000  6,194,000  186,664,000 

Other assets  19,405,573  19,854,218  4,479,050  -  43,738,840 

 388,827,696  277,257,953  465,466,203  6,194,000  1,137,745,852 

Liabilities 

Deposit from banks  6,450,440  77,683  443,900  -  6,972,023 

Deposit from customers  341,578,508  269,477,880  398,429,384  -  1,009,485,773 

Other liabilities  71,619,220  5,101,475  13,409,777  -  90,130,472 

 419,648,168  274,657,037  412,283,062  -  1,106,588,267 

On-Balance Sheet 

Liquidity Gap  (30,820,472)  2,600,916  53,183,141  6,194,000  31,157,585 

Off-balance sheet 

Performance Guarantee  949,280  -  6,851,935  -  7,801,215 

Contingent liabilities  22,427,622  -  6,188,917  -  28,616,539 

Commitments  52,543,300  -  -  -  52,543,300 

Off-balance sheet 

Liquidity Gap  75,920,202  -  13,040,852  -  88,961,054 

Net Liquidity Gap  (106,740,674)  2,600,916  40,142,289  6,194,000  (57,803,469)
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(MMK’000) On demand 
or less than 3 

months 
3 to 12 months Over one year No specific Ma-

turity Total 

2018

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  158,337,352  -  -  -  158,337,352 

Loan and advances  195,407,844  290,553,006  165,104,023  -  651,064,873 

Investment securities  20,000,000  125,470,000  -  6,194,000  151,664,000 

Other assets  9,336,364  337,351  23,918,879  -  33,592,594 

 383,081,559  416,360,357  189,022,902  6,194,000  994,658,818 

Liabilities 

Deposit from banks  123,703  12,981  626,913  3,163,748  3,927,345 

Deposit from customers  403,686,976  147,542,751  359,517,398  -  910,747,125 

Other liabilities  62,322,037  -  4,686,932  -  67,008,968 

 466,132,715  147,555,732  364,831,243  3,163,748  981,683,438 

On-Balance Sheet 

Liquidity Gap  (83,051,156)  268,804,625  (175,808,341)  3,030,252  12,975,380 

Off-balance sheet 

Performance Guarantee  2,994,172  -  5,149,816  -  8,143,988 

Contingent liabilities  34,744,347  -  14,122,530  -  48,866,877 

Commitments  64,186,284  -  -  -  64,186,284 

Off-balance sheet 

Liquidity Gap  101,924,803  -  19,272,346  -  121,197,148 

Net Liquidity Gap  (184,975,959)  268,804,625  (195,080,686)  3,030,252  (108,221,768)
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5.3 Interest Rate Risk
Sensitivity to interest rates in banking activities arises from mismatches in the interest rate 

characteristics of the assets and their corresponding liabilities funding. One of the major 

causes of these mismatches is timing differences in the re-pricing of the assets and the 

liabilities.

Financial instruments which are issued at fixed rates expose the Bank to fair value interest 

rate risk. However, changes in market interest rates will not have an impact on the state-

ment of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as all financial instruments are 

accounted for on an amortised cost basis.

The interest rates charged or granted by the Bank are determined by a committee with 

oversight by Board of Directors. These interest rates are set within a band determined by 

the Central Bank of Myanmar. As at 30 September 2019, the interest rates on loans are 

subject to the following maximum caps:

Secured Unsecured

•   Loans and advances: 13% 16%

•   Overdraft: 13% 16%

•   Hire purchase 13% 16%

•   Staff loan 9.25% 9.25%

•   Credit Card* - 13%
*Credit usage charges of 13% applies

As at 30 September 2019, the interest rates on deposits are subject to the following minimums:

•   Saving Deposits: 8.25% - 8.6%
•   Fixed Deposits:
    -thirty days 8.50%
    -ninety days 8.75%
    -one hundred and eighty days 9%
    -two hundred and seventy days 9%
    -one year 9%
• Call Deposit 6%

The tables below summarises the Bank’s exposure to interest rate repricing risks. Included in 

the table are the Bank’s assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of 

contractual repricing or maturity dates.
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5.3 Interest Rate Risk

The Group

(MMK’000) Within 3 
months 

3 months to 12 
months 

Over 1 year Non-interest 
bearing 

Total

2019

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents  7,674,369  -  -  165,542,543  173,216,911 

Loans and advances  173,212,166  261,103,736  311,817,153  -  746,133,055 

Investment securities  23,000,000  8,300,000  150,670,000  330,000  182,300,000 

 203,886,535  269,403,736  462,487,153  165,872,543  1,101,649,966 

LIABILITIES

Deposit from banks  33,293  77,683  443,900  6,417,147  6,972,023 

Deposit from customers  257,599,291  269,362,379  397,833,529  83,576,748  1,008,371,946 

Borrowing  48,090,291  -  -  -  48,090,291 

 305,722,874  269,440,061  398,277,430  89,993,895  1,063,434,260 

NET INTEREST RATE GAP  (101,836,339)  (36,325)  64,209,723  75,878,647  38,215,706 

(MMK’000) Within 3 
months 

3 months to 12 
months 

Over 1 year Non-interest 
bearing 

Total

2018

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents  32,791,521  5,365,959  -  120,194,638  158,352,118 

Loans and advances  195,407,844  302,553,006  165,104,023  -  663,064,873 

Investment securities  20,000,000  125,470,000  1,500,000  330,000  147,300,000 

 248,199,365  433,388,965  166,604,023  120,524,638  968,716,991 

LIABILITIES

Deposit from banks  123,703  12,981  626,913  3,163,748  3,927,345 

Deposit from customers  346,771,475  147,430,066  358,922,203  56,441,313  909,565,056 

Borrowing  39,825,500  -  -  -  39,825,500 

 386,720,677  147,443,047  359,549,115  59,605,061  953,317,901 

NET INTEREST RATE GAP  (138,521,312)  285,945,918  (192,945,092)  60,919,577  15,399,090 
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The Bank

(MMK’000) Within 3 
months 

3 months to 12 
months 

Over 1 year Non-interest 
bearing 

Total

2019

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents  7,637,641  -  -  165,572,316  173,209,957 

Loans and advances  173,212,166  249,103,736  311,817,153  -  734,133,055 

Investment securities  23,000,000  8,300,000  149,170,000  6,194,000  186,664,000 

 203,849,807  257,403,736  460,987,153  171,766,316  1,094,007,012 

LIABILITIES

Deposit from banks  33,293  77,683  443,900  6,417,147  6,972,023 

Deposit from customers  257,969,550  269,477,880  398,429,384  83,608,958  1,009,485,773 

Borrowing  48,090,291  -  -  -  48,090,291 

 306,093,134  269,555,562  398,873,285  90,026,106  1,064,548,086 

NET INTEREST RATE GAP  (102,243,327)  (12,151,827)  62,113,868  81,740,211  29,458,926 

(MMK’000) Within 3 
months 

3 months to 12 
months 

Over 1 year Non-interest 
bearing 

Total

2018

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents  32,594,943  5,365,959  -  120,376,450  158,337,352 

Loans and advances  195,407,844  290,553,006  165,104,023  -  651,064,873 

Investment securities  20,000,000  125,470,000  -  6,194,000  151,664,000 

 248,002,787  421,388,965  165,104,023  126,570,450  961,066,225 

LIABILITIES

Deposit from banks  123,703  12,981  626,913  3,163,748  3,927,345 

Deposit from customers  347,063,357  147,542,751  359,517,398  56,623,619  910,747,125 

Borrowing  39,825,500  -  -  -  39,825,500 

 387,012,560  147,555,732  360,144,311  59,787,367  954,499,970 

NET INTEREST RATE GAP  (139,009,774)  273,833,233  (195,040,288)  66,783,083  6,566,255 
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6 Capital Management
The objectives of the Bank’s capital management are to maintain an optimal level of cap-

ital, which is adequate to support the business growth, commensurate with the Bank’s risk 

profile and meet the regulatory requirements. The management of capital funds is cen-

tralised in the Treasury department and monitored daily by the Finance department. During 

the financial year, the Bank has no issuance of paid-up capital in addition.

The Bank is subject to the maintenance of capital adequacy ratios as determined by the 

CBM. The capital adequacy ratios are based on the Bank’s core capital and risk weighted 

assets. The Bank considers its core capital to include issued and paid-up capital, reserves 

and retained profits. The Bank’s risk weighted assets include loans and advances, fixed 

assets and other assets. The Bank reported the following capital adequacy ratios to the 

CBM as the end of each reporting period as set out below:

The Group The Bank
2019 2018 2019 2018

MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000

Authorised Capital  75,000,000  75,000,000  75,000,000  75,000,000 
Paid-up capital (Share each @ 
MMK 500,000)  54,000,000  54,000,000  54,000,000  54,000,000 
Capital Adequacy Ratio (%) 9.58% 8.50% 8.99% 7.86%

The Bank met the minimum capital adequacy ratio requirement 8% set by Central Bank of 

Myanmar (CBM) as at 30 September 2019, the CAR calculation is based on CBM guide-

lines. 

7 Related Party Transactions
Related party transactions are conducted on an arm’s length basis and on normal com-

mercial terms, which are not favourable than those generally available to the public. De-

tailed list of the related party transactions are shown in Annexure II.

7.1 Compensation of Key Management Personnel
Key Management Personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for plan-

ning, directing and controlling the activities of the Bank, directly or indirectly, including any 

director (whether executive or otherwise) of the Bank.
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The following table sets out the compensation for Key Management Personnel of the Bank 

in exchange for services rendered to the Bank for the period they served:

The Group The Bank
2019 2018 2019 2018

MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000

Director expenses  12,000  17,000  12,000  17,000 
Short term employee benefits  16,737,494  16,376,979  16,655,690  16,178,908 

 16,749,494  16,393,979  16,667,690  16,195,908 

8 Cash & Cash Equivalents
The Group The Bank

2019 2018 2019 2018

MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000

Cash and balance with CBM  93,212,521  58,668,971  93,212,521  58,668,971 

Cash and balance with other 
banks

 20,213,818  60,135,533  20,209,300  60,121,260 

Cash in hand  59,790,572  39,547,614  59,788,136  39,547,121 

 173,216,911  158,352,118  173,209,957  158,337,352 

9 Loans and Advances 
The Group The Bank

2019 2018 2019 2018

MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000

Credit card  1,969,908  1,537,919  1,969,908  1,537,919 

Hire purchase  3,739,169  2,760,815  3,739,169  2,760,815 

Short-term loans  437,449,705  264,588,656  425,449,705  252,588,656 

Loans and advances to banks  10,526,400  25,135,000  10,526,400  25,135,000 

Overdraft  292,247,500  368,322,216  292,247,500  368,322,216 

Staff loan  1,458,673  978,168  1,458,673  978,168 

Total loans & advances  747,391,355  663,322,775  735,391,355  651,322,775 

(-) Provision for bad & doubtful 
debt (SP)

 1,258,300  257,902  1,258,300  257,902 

Net loans & advances  746,133,055  663,064,873  734,133,055  651,064,873 
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10 Investment Securities
The Group The Bank

2019 2018 2019 2018

MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000

Held to maturity 

- Investment in Government Secu-
rities (Treasury Bonds)

 181,970,000  146,970,000  180,470,000  145,470,000 

- Investment in Government Secu-
rities (Treasury Bills)

 -  -  -  - 

Available-for-sales securities

- Investment in Myanmar Credit 
Bureau

 130,000  130,000  130,000  130,000 

- Investment in Myanmar Payment 
Union

 200,000  200,000  200,000  200,000 

- Investment in uab securities  -  -  5,864,000  5,864,000 

 182,300,000  147,300,000  186,664,000  151,664,000 

Available-for-sale securities are unquoted equity investments carried at cost, less impair-

ment because the fair value cannot be reliably estimated using valuation techiques sup-

ported by observable market data. 

11 Property, Plant & Equipment
Details are shown in “Annexure (1)”, additions and disposals during the period had already 

been approved by the Board of Directors.

12 Investment Properties
The Group The Bank

2019 2018 2019 2018
MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000

Balance at 1 October  -  -  -  - 
Additions  952,251  -  952,251  - 
Disposals  -  -  -  - 
Depreciation charge  (4,550)  -  (4,550)  - 
Transfers  -  -  -  - 
Balance at 30 September  947,700  -  947,700  - 

Represented by:
Cost  1,029,123  -  1,029,123  - 
Accumulated depreciation  (81,423)  -  (81,423)  - 
Net carrying amount  947,700  -  947,700  - 

Freehold property  -  -  -  - 
Leasehold property  947,700  -  947,700  - 
Balance at 30 September  947,700  -  947,700  - 
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13 Intangible Assets
The Group The Bank

2019 2018 2019 2018

MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000

Opening Balance  1,144,302  1,516,676  790,661  1,157,476 

Acquisition  100,141  720,972  100,141  537,372 

Transfer/ adjustment  (9,898)  (665,785)  (9,898)  (665,785)

Amortised  (267,800)  (427,561)  (186,380)  (238,402)

Closing Balance  966,745  1,144,302  694,524  790,661 

14 Deferred Tax

Deferred tax comprises the following:
The Group The Bank

2019 2018 2019 2018
MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000

Deferred tax liabilities on:

   Unrealised gain on AFS financial 
assets
   Accelerated tax depreciation

   Unrealised gain on financial in-
struments FV through P&L
   Others

 -  -  -  - 

Deferred tax assets on:

   Unrealised loss on AFS financial 
assets

 -  -  -  - 

   Allowance for impairment  612,471  -  612,471  - 

   Tax losses  -  -  -  - 

   Unrealised loss on financial in-
struments FV through P&L

 -  -  -  - 

   Others  -  -  -  - 

 612,471  -  612,471  - 
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15 Other Assets
The Group The Bank

2019 2018 2019 2018

MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000

Interest receivable  9,943,479  7,381,526  8,445,446  6,971,004 

Prepaid and advances  28,141,235  23,561,368  27,723,609  23,301,577 

Cards receivable  292,288  95,894  292,288  95,894 

Inventories  195,399  325,360  195,399  325,360 

Others  6,469,627  2,898,760  6,469,627  2,898,760 

 45,042,029  34,262,907  43,126,369  33,592,594 

16 Deposit and Placements of Banks
The Group The Bank

2019 2018 2019 2018

MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000

Current deposit  6,417,147  3,163,748  6,417,147  3,163,748 

Saving deposit  554,875  763,597  554,875  763,597 

Fixed deposit  -  -  -  - 

 6,972,023  3,927,345  6,972,023  3,927,345 

17 Deposit from Customer
The Group The Bank

2019 2018 2019 2018

MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000

Current deposit  83,576,748  56,441,313  83,608,958  56,623,619 

Saving deposit  490,085,030  425,610,017  490,268,521  425,927,730 

Fixed deposit  423,179,158  408,881,962  423,179,158  408,881,962 

Call deposit  11,531,010  18,631,765  12,429,136  19,313,815 

 1,008,371,946  909,565,056  1,009,485,773  910,747,125 

18 Borrowings
The Group The Bank

2019 2018 2019 2018

MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000

Borrowing from CBM (SWAP)  -  4,690,500  -  4,690,500 

Borrowings from Foreign Banks in 
local (Foreign Currency) 

 3,830,000  15,635,000  3,830,000  15,635,000 

Borrowing from Local Private 
Banks (Local Currency)

 44,260,291  19,500,000  44,260,291  19,500,000 

 48,090,291  39,825,500  48,090,291  39,825,500 
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19 Other Liabilities 
The Group The Bank

2019 2018 2019 2018

MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000

Accrued interest payable  4,764,094  4,158,909  4,764,094  4,158,909 

Accrued operating expenses  744,344  506,576  676,925  503,563 

Provision for income taxes  5,551,983  2,170,938  5,101,475  1,935,624 

Provision for other  800,000  170,900  800,000  170,900 

Sundry creditors  14,793,963  14,354,422  14,793,963  14,354,422 

Deferred income  28,473  103,683  28,473  103,683 

Others  15,887,075  6,135,122  15,875,251  5,956,368 

 42,569,934  27,600,550  42,040,181  27,183,468 

20 Share Capital 
The Group The Bank

2019 2018 2019 2018

MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000

Ordinary shares, MMK 500,000 
per value
Issued and fully paid-up

Beginning of period

2019 - 108,000 shares; 2018 - 
88,000 shares

 54,000,000  44,000,000  54,000,000  44,000,000 

Shares issued during the period

2019 - Nil shares ; 2018 - 20,000 
shares 

 -  10,000,000  -  10,000,000 

Balance at end of period

2019 - 108,000 shares; 2018 - 
108,000 shares

 54,000,000  54,000,000  54,000,000  54,000,000 

The Bank has authorised capital of MMK 75 Billion and the total amount of issued and 

paid-up capital as of 30 September 2019 was MMK 54 Billion divided into 108,000 shares 

with MMK 500,000 each. The Bank has not issued additional shares during the period 

from 1 October 2018 to 30 September 2019.
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21 Reserves 
The Group The Bank

2019 2018 2019 2018

MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000

The details of reserve are as fol-
lows:
Statutory Reserve Fund 

Opening balance  4,030,124  2,338,451  4,030,124  2,338,451 

Addition for the period  3,408,790  1,691,672  3,408,790  1,691,672 

Closing balance  7,438,914  4,030,124  7,438,914  4,030,124 

Reserve for Contingencies 

Opening balance  -  -  -  - 

Addition for the period  -  -  -  - 

Closing balance  -  -  -  - 

General Loan Loss Provision (GP) 

Opening balance  11,802,466  10,616,683  11,802,466  10,616,683 

Addition for the period  2,449,885  1,185,783  2,449,885  1,185,783 

Closing balance  14,252,351  11,802,466  14,252,351  11,802,466 

Total  21,691,265  15,832,590  21,691,265  15,832,590 

Statutory Reserve

The Bank has reserved 25% of its net profit after tax for statutory reserve in compliance 

with Section 35(a) of the Financial Institutions Law.

General Loan Loss Provision

The Bank has reserved 2% of its total loans and receivables as reserve for bad and doubtful 

debts at the end of financial year in accordance with Central Bank Notification number 

17/2017.
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22 Off-balance sheet
The Group The Bank

2019 2018 2019 2018

MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000

Performance Guarantee  45,593,555  34,021,966  45,593,555  34,021,966 

Contigent liabilities  35,583,640  56,096,631  35,583,640  56,096,631 

Commitments  52,543,300  64,186,284  52,543,300  64,186,284 

 133,720,495  154,304,880  133,720,495  154,304,880 

Performance Guarantee
Performance related guarantees represents undertakings that oblige the Bank to pay third 

parties should a customer fail to fulfill a contractual non-monetary obligation. 

Contingent Liabilities
Contingent liabilities represents liabilities arising from letters of credit which are undertak-

ings by the Bank to pay or accept drafts drawn by a supplier of goods against presentation 

of documents in the event of payment default by a customer.

Commitment (Overdraft - Undrawn Balances)
Overdraft commitments are defined amounts (unutilized credit lines or undrawn portions of 

credit lines) against which clients can borrow money under defined terms and conditions. 

Upon the drawndown by the counterparty, amount of the overdraft is accounted for in ac-

cordance with the Bank’s accounting policies.

23 Interest Income 
The Group The Bank

2019 2018 2019 2018

MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000

Interest on loans to customers  87,486,240  76,085,548  86,046,240  74,645,548 

Interest on money market  3,237,283  6,000,521  3,237,281  5,999,996 

Interest on deposit auction and 
SWAP

 172,337  314,558  172,337  314,558 

Interest on Treasury Bonds  15,521,792  10,434,141  15,382,988  10,402,742 

 106,417,652  92,834,767  104,838,846  91,362,843 
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The Group The Bank

2019 2018 2019 2018

Interest rate on loans & advances 13.0% 13.0% 13.0% 13.0%

Interest rate on Government Secu-
rities 

9.5% 9.5% 9.5% 9.5%

(Five Years Treasury Bonds)

24 Interest Expenses 
The Group The Bank

2019 2018 2019 2018

MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000

Interest on saving deposit  31,074,468  25,188,638  31,096,403  25,212,811 

Interest on call deposit  784,203  1,320,056  817,375  1,342,483 

Interest on fixed deposit  33,895,558  39,748,746  33,895,558  39,748,746 

Interest on Inter-bank deposit  307,557  572,584  307,557  572,584 

Interest on borrowing   5,214,959  864,139  5,214,959  864,139 

 71,276,745  67,694,163  71,331,852  67,740,762 

25 Fees and Commission Income 
The Group The Bank

2019 2018 2019 2018

MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000

Commission on payment order  52,026  64,107  52,026  64,107 

Commission on remittance  339,621  375,797  339,621  375,797 

Commission on cards  603,258  317,457  603,258  317,457 

Service charges  2,578,109  2,280,567  2,578,109  2,280,567 

Commitment fees  488,890  547,036  488,890  547,036 

Commission on trade related  2,743,865  2,848,897  2,743,865  2,848,897 

Commission on brokerage and IB 
advisory fees 

 149,798  44,601  -  - 

Commission on others  99,207  42,062  99,207  42,062 

 7,054,774  6,520,525  6,904,977  6,475,924 
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26 Other Income 
The Group The Bank

2019 2018 2019 2018

MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000

Treasury (Forex) trading income  2,279,390  3,085,406  2,278,115  3,088,347 

Interest on other (Operating Lease)  2,965,202  595,607  2,965,202  595,607 

Extension fees on loans and ad-
vances

 709,994  690,290  709,994  690,290 

Exchange Gain/(Loss) on cards  135,510  134,911  135,510  134,911 

Disposal Gain/(Loss) on motor 
vehicles

 279,760  (41,333)  279,760  (41,333)

Miscellaneous  173,888  167,863  173,888  167,863 

 6,543,743  4,632,745  6,542,468  4,635,685 

27 General & Administrative Expenses
The Group The Bank

2019 2018 2019 2018

MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000

Maintainance & repair  620,233  871,614  619,659  849,190 

Miscellaneous expenses  364,908  564,030  364,908  564,030 

Supplies and services  1,162,804  1,072,421  1,111,017  1,005,433 

Rate & taxes  454,667  483,792  452,637  481,792 

Insurance expense  19,105  21,810  19,105  21,810 

Technology expense  784,319  738,153  556,706  498,073 

 3,406,037  3,751,820  3,124,034  3,420,329 

28 Personnel Expenses 
The Group The Bank

2019 2018 2019 2018

MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000

Salaries and allowances  13,339,127  14,049,943  13,269,469  13,872,516 

Staff welfare contribution  100,386  117,838  100,259  116,314 

Staff social security contribution  179,139  171,264  178,315  169,878 

Recruitment expense  210  78,080  210  78,080 

Staff bonus & rewards  3,118,842  2,037,934  3,107,647  2,020,199 

Training expense  27,120  7,648  26,502  7,226 

Director fees and expense  12,000  17,000  12,000  17,000 

 16,776,824  16,479,707  16,694,403  16,281,213 
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29 Operating Lease Expenses
The Group The Bank

2019 2018 2019 2018

MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000

Rent - Building  1,365,500  1,335,962  1,356,144  1,314,610 

Rent - Others  507,606  257,797  507,606  257,797 

 1,873,106  1,593,758  1,863,750  1,572,407 

30 Other Expenses
The Group The Bank

2019 2018 2019 2018

MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000

Auditor fees and expense  21,196  36,626  21,196  36,626 

Legal expense  10,161  903  10,161  903 

Travelling expense  146,243  162,884  146,243  162,884 

Consultant fees  4,092  523,977  4,092  523,977 

Others  -  10  -  10 

 181,692  724,400  181,692  724,400 

31 Allowance for Credit and Other Losses
The Group The Bank

2019 2018 2019 2018

MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000

Specific allowance on / (write-
back) of:
   Loans  1,000,398  257,902  1,000,398  257,902 

   Cash shortage  800,000  899,857  800,000  899,857 

   Inventory shortage/adjustments  335,816  -  335,816  - 

   Write-off fixed assets  77,462  -  77,462  - 

General allowance (2%)  2,449,885  -  2,449,885  - 

 4,663,561  1,157,759  4,663,561  1,157,759 
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32 Taxation
The Group The Bank

2019 2018 2019 2018
MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000

Tax expense/(credit) attributable 
to profit or (loss) is made up of:
- Current income tax  5,433,194  2,471,442  5,101,475  2,269,341 

      - Corporate income tax (25%)  5,405,292  2,471,442  5,073,572  2,269,341 

      - Capital gain tax (10%)  27,903  -  27,903  - 

- Deferred income tax  (612,471)  -  (612,471)  - 

 4,820,723  2,471,442  4,489,004  2,269,341 

Under/(over) provision in prior 
financial years
- Current income tax  -  -  -  - 

- Deferred income tax  -  -  -  - 

 4,820,723  2,471,442  4,489,004  2,269,341 

33 Investment in Subsidiary
The Group The Bank

2019 2018 2019 2018

MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000

Unlisted share, at cost  5,864,000  5,864,000  -  - 

(11,728 shares @ MMK 500,000 
each)

The following list contains only the particulars of principal subsidiary:

Name of company Norminal value of 
issued ordinary 

shares

Group’s effec-
tive interest

Percentage 
held by the 

Bank

Principal activ-
ities

uab securities Ltd.
 

15,000,000 100% 39%
 Brokerage, 

Underwriting & 
IB services 

uab securities Limited is registered on 20 November 2015 under the Myanmar Companies 

Act 1914, re-registered under new Myanmar Companies Law 2017 and obtained new regis-

tration number 113292180.

Place of 
incorporation
and operation

Yangon, 
Myanmar
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34 Non-controlling Interest
The Group The Bank

2019 2018 2019 2018

MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000

Investment shares, at costs  9,136,000  9,136,000  -  - 

Retained earning  133,196  (177,252)  -  - 

Prior year adjustment (13,925) (30,450) - -

Profit for the year  572,554  340,898  -  - 

     Profit for the periods  606,118  369,280  -  - 

     URP Adjustment  (33,564)  (28,382)  -  - 
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 9,827,825  9,269,196  -  - 

The Group
2019
Property, Plant & Equipment Annexure - I

Land & 
Building 

Office 
Machine & 
Other Ma-

chine Equip-
ment

Furniture, Fix-
ture & Fitting

Electrical 
Equipment 

&  Computer 
Accessories

Motor Cars 
&  Motor 

Cycle
Total

MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000

Cost

As at 1 October 2018  46,951,761  5,917,156  1,348,262  2,986,330  2,684,654  59,888,162 

Additions during the year  36,654  97,063  31,093  467,302  -  632,111 

Transfer during the year  (1,027,361)  6,754  (1,083)  (9,936)  -  (1,031,627)

Adjustment during the year  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Disposal  -  (1,931)  (2,399)  -  (1,357,477)  (1,361,807)

Allowance for impairment  -  (42,626)  (14,879)  (73,220)  -  (130,726)

Donation  -  -  (9,360)  -  -  (9,360)

As at 30 September 2019  45,961,054  5,976,415  1,351,633  3,370,476  1,327,177  57,986,754 

Accumulated Depreciation

As at 1 October 2018  2,842,069  1,786,648  265,002  1,787,154  1,436,222  8,117,095 

Charged for the year  812,506  583,711  68,076  441,051  209,468  2,114,813 

Transfer during the year  (76,762)  2,978  1,019  (4,337)  -  (77,102)

Adjustment during the year  -  3,861  -  -  -  3,861 

Disposal  -  (228)  (531)  -  (1,023,574)  (1,024,334)

Allowance for impairment  3,932  936  12,624  (69,717)  -  (52,225)

Donation  -  -  (2,028)  -  -  (2,028)

As at 30 September 2019  3,581,745  2,377,907  344,163  2,154,150  622,115  9,080,081 
Net Book Value as at 30 
September 2019  42,379,309  3,598,508  1,007,470  1,216,325  705,062  48,906,673 
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2018
Property, Plant & Equipment

Land & Build-
ing 

Office Ma-
chine & Other 

Machine 
Equipment

Furniture, Fix-
ture & Fitting

Electrical 
Equipment 

&  Computer 
Accessories

Motor Cars &  
Motor Cycle Total

MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000

Cost

As at 1 October 2017  36,078,000  5,673,669  1,301,312  2,767,099  2,814,799  48,634,879 

Additions during the year  10,990,162  249,408  51,521  210,211  29,250  11,530,551 

Transfer during the year  (116,400)  (5,922)  (4,571)  9,020  (30,500)  (148,372)

Adjustment during the year  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Disposal  -  -  -  -  (128,895)  (128,895)

Allowance for impairment  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Donation  -  -  -  -  -  - 

As at 30 September 2018  46,951,761  5,917,156  1,348,262  2,986,330  2,684,654  59,888,162 

Accumulated Depreciation

As at 1 October 2017  1,986,604  1,230,180  201,940  1,323,743  1,166,690  5,909,156 

Charged for the year  855,465  557,742  64,784  461,879  340,445  2,280,314 

Transfer during the year  -  (1,273)  (1,722)  1,532  (9,150)  (10,613)

Adjustment during the year  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Disposal  -  -  -  -  (61,762)  (61,762)

Allowance for impairment  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Donation  -  -  -  -  -  - 

As at 30 September 2018  2,842,069  1,786,648  265,002  1,787,154  1,436,222  8,117,095 
Net Book Value as at 30 
September 2018  44,109,692  4,130,507  1,083,260  1,199,177  1,248,431  51,771,067 
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The Bank

2019
Property, Plant & Equipment Annexure I

Land &  
Building 

Office Ma-
chine & Oth-
er Machine 
Equipment

Furniture, 
Fixture & 

Fitting

Electrical 
Equipment 

&  Computer 
Accessories

Motor Cars 
&  Motor 

Cycle
Total

MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000

Cost

At 1 October 2018  46,951,761  5,913,172  1,345,005  2,965,562  2,670,254  59,845,753 

Additions during the year  36,654  97,063  31,093  467,302  -  632,111 

Transfer during the year  (1,027,361)  6,754  (1,083)  (9,936)  -  (1,031,627)

Adjustment during the year  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Disposal  -  (1,931)  (2,399)  -  (1,357,477)  (1,361,807)

Allowance for impairment  -  (42,626)  (14,879)  (73,220)  -  (130,726)

Donation  -  -  (9,360)  -  -  (9,360)

As at 30 September 2019  45,961,054  5,972,431  1,348,376  3,349,707  1,312,777  57,944,344 

Accumulated Depreciation

At 1 October 2018  2,842,069  1,784,270  261,900  1,770,049  1,427,972  8,086,260 

Charged for the year  812,506  583,771  68,095  439,327  208,208  2,111,908 

Transfer during the year  (76,762)  2,978  1,019  (4,337)  -  (77,102)

Adjustment during the year  -  3,861  -  -  -  3,861 

Disposal  -  (228)  (531)  (1,023,574)  (1,024,334)

Allowance for impairment  3,932  936  12,624  (69,717)  -  (52,225)

Donation  -  -  (2,028)  -  -  (2,028)

As at 30 September 2019  3,581,745  2,375,589  341,080  2,135,321  612,605  9,046,340 
Net Book Value as at 30 
September 2019  42,379,309  3,596,842  1,007,296  1,214,385  700,172  48,898,005 
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2018
Property, Plant & Equipment

Land &  
Building 

Office Ma-
chine & Other 

Machine 
Equipment

Furniture, Fix-
ture & Fitting

Electrical 
Equipment 

&  Computer 
Accessories

Motor Cars 
&  Motor 

Cycle
Total

MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000

Cost

As at 1 October 2017  36,078,000  5,669,686  1,296,631  2,744,636  2,769,899  48,558,850 

Additions during the year  10,990,162  249,408  51,321  209,608  29,250  11,529,748 

Transfer during the year  (116,400)  (5,922)  (2,947)  11,318  -  (113,950)

Adjustment during the year  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Disposal  -  -  -  -  (128,895)  (128,895)

Allowance for impairment  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Donation  -  -  -  -  -  - 

As at 30 September 2018  46,951,761  5,913,172  1,345,005  2,965,562  2,670,254  59,845,753 

Accumulated Depreciation

As at 1 October 2017  1,986,604  1,229,008  197,259  1,311,843  1,153,664  5,878,379 

Charged for the year  855,465  556,535  64,739  456,221  336,070  2,269,030 

Transfer during the year  -  (1,273)  (98)  1,985  -  613 

Adjustment during the year  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Disposal  -  -  -  -  (61,762)  (61,762)

Allowance for impairment  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Donation  -  -  -  -  -  - 

As at 30 September 2018  2,842,069  1,784,270  261,900  1,770,049  1,427,972  8,086,260 
Net Book Value as at 30 
September 2018  44,109,692  4,128,902  1,083,104  1,195,513  1,242,282  51,759,493 
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Annexure II
Related Party Transactions
Related parties cover the Group’s subsidiary and Key Management Personnel and their related par-

ties. Key Management Personnel refers to the Bank’s Directors and members of its Management 

Committee. 

All related party transactions of the Bank were done in the ordinary course of business and at arm’s 

length in addition to the information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, other related 

party transactions that may be of interest are as follows: 

The Group The Bank

2019 2018 2019 2018

MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000 MMK’000

A. Salaries and benefits of key management personnel 16,749,494 16,393,979 16,667,690 16,195,908

B. uab securities-Subsidiary

    - Interest expense  55,107  46,599  55,107  46,599 

    - Rental income  1,500  4,500  1,500  4,500 

    - Deposit with us  1,118,344  1,196,342  1,118,344  1,196,342 

C. Off-balance sheet facilities (Other related parties) 
    1.  80% cash margin/ lien (Amara Communication    
         Company Ltd.)

        i.   Performance Guarantee  5,362,000  -  5,362,000  - 

        ii.  LCs  8,041,000  -  8,041,000  - 

    2.  100 % cash margin/ lien ( Performance  
         Guarantee)

        i.   Future Creator Group Construction Company Ltd.  2,167,305 - 2,167,305  -

        ii.  IGE Land Company Ltd.  9,000  - 9,000 -

        iii.  IGE Power Company Ltd. 540,863 - 540,863  -

        iv. IGE Service Company Ltd.  42,729 - 42,729  -
        v.   International Power Generation Public  
             Company Ltd.

 7,915,782  -  7,915,782  -

        vi. United National Oil and Gas Company Ltd. 7,940  -  7,940  -
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